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 1                 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled
  

 2   and numbered matter came on regularly to be heard before
  

 3   the Arizona Power Plant and Transmission Line Siting
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 5   Alvernon Way, Tucson, Arizona, commencing at 1:00 p.m.
  

 6   on January 12, 2026.
  

 7
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 9   BEFORE:  ADAM STAFFORD, Chairman
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18   APPEARANCES:
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go on the
  

 2   record.  Now is the time set for the hearing on remand of
  

 3   the application of Southline Transmission, LLC, Docket
  

 4   Number L-00000AAA-16-0370-00173, or Line Siting Case 173.
  

 5   Start with the appearances for the party first.
  

 6                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman,
  

 7   Committee Members.  Meghan Grabel from Osborne Maledon on
  

 8   behalf of Southline Transmission, LLC.  With me at
  

 9   counsel table is my partner, Tim Sabo, and who you do not
  

10   see this time is Mr. Eli Ancharski.  He wants to be
  

11   here -- he wanted me to say hi to everybody, but his wife
  

12   is expecting and we didn't want to bring him to Tucson.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And we also have TEP as a
  

14   party?
  

15                 MS. HILL:  Yes.
  

16                 Can you hear me, Robin?
  

17                 THE REPORTER:  No.
  

18                 MS. HILL:  There you go.  There you go.
  

19                 Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Members of
  

20   the Committee, Megan Hill on behalf of Tucson Electric
  

21   Power Company.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's take roll
  

23   call of the members here.
  

24                 Member Kryder?
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Here.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Mercer?
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Present.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

 4                 MEMBER HILL:  Present.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Drago?
  

 6                 MEMBER DRAGO:  Present.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And online we have Member
  

 8   French?
  

 9                 MEMBER FRENCH:  Here.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And Member Little?
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Here.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Ms. Grabel,
  

13   would you like to give an opening statement?
  

14                 MS. GRABEL:  Certainly, Mr.  Chairman,
  

15   thank you.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, wait, before we do
  

17   that.  We had -- there was one intervenor that was never
  

18   granted intervention, they requested it, Windmill Ridge
  

19   Development, LLC, but they have subsequently filed notice
  

20   in the docket, they withdraw their request to become an
  

21   intervenor in this matter.
  

22                 All right.  Please proceed.
  

23                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
  

24   Committee Members.
  

25                 So the application before you today is
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 1   different from most of those that are before this
  

 2   committee, because it does not seek to obtain a new CEC,
  

 3   but instead, seeks to amend the existing Southline
  

 4   Transmission Project CEC to include a portion of the
  

 5   Southline Project that was exempt from having to obtain a
  

 6   CEC for jurisdictional reasons, which I'll get into
  

 7   momentarily.
  

 8                 The portion of the Southline Project at
  

 9   issue in this proceeding is referred to as "the CEC
  

10   Apache to Vail upgrade route," or just generally "the
  

11   route."  We also seek to eliminate a condition in the CEC
  

12   that will be superfluous if this application is approved.
  

13                 So before getting into the details of the
  

14   CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route, I think it would be
  

15   helpful to understand the context of this application,
  

16   starting with what is the Southline Transmission Project?
  

17   The Southline Transmission Project is an approximately
  

18   280-mile, double-circuit, high-voltage transmission line
  

19   that will ultimately connect the transmission systems of
  

20   El Paso, New Mexico and Tucson, Arizona, in two phases,
  

21   running from Grant County, New Mexico to Pima County,
  

22   Arizona, and the second phase entirely within New Mexico.
  

23                 The line provides the capability to
  

24   transport power bidirectionally and will allow energy
  

25   generated in the desert southwest to reach key markets
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 1   while improving the region's grid reliability.  The
  

 2   Southline Transmission Project is being co-developed by
  

 3   Grid United and Black Forest Partners.  It consists of
  

 4   two main segments: First, a new double-circuit
  

 5   transmission line and then, second, upgrades to an
  

 6   existing line.  As you will see on this map, the new
  

 7   build is colored in green and the upgrade route is
  

 8   colored in blue.
  

 9                 In 2017, Southline received approval for a
  

10   Certificate of Environmental Compatibility for the
  

11   new-build route and certain parts of the upgrade route
  

12   that were not owned by the Western Area Power
  

13   Administration, or WAPA, as we'll refer to it in this
  

14   proceeding.
  

15                 Southline did not seek a CEC for the
  

16   upgrade section, as it was to be built, owned, and
  

17   operated by WAPA, which is a federal entity that is
  

18   outside the Commission's and the committee's
  

19   jurisdiction.  CEC-173 was approved by the Commission on
  

20   February 24th, 2017, in Decision Number 75978.
  

21                 As I noted, a CEC was not needed for the
  

22   upgrade route because it was going to be owned and
  

23   operated entirely by WAPA, the federal entity.  The 2017
  

24   committee wanted to ensure that the facts on which the
  

25   preemption finding associated with WAPA was made for the
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 1   upgrade route remained true for the term of the CEC, so
  

 2   they included Condition 31, depicted on this slide, thus
  

 3   ensuring that WAPA would own and operate the upgrade
  

 4   section for the term of the CEC.  Over time those facts
  

 5   changed.
  

 6                 In 2020, Southline conveyed a portion of
  

 7   the upgrade route to Tucson Electric Power Company.
  

 8   Because of Condition 31, Southline and TEP filed a joint
  

 9   application to amend CEC-173 so that TEP could own,
  

10   construct, and operate two of the -- one of the two
  

11   double-circuit 230-kV transmission lines along the
  

12   64-mile segment of the upgrade route called the Vail to
  

13   Tortolita segment.  This required both an extension of
  

14   the CEC to the Vail to Tortolita portion, and a
  

15   modification of Condition 31, which is depicted here.  On
  

16   January 22nd, 2021, the Commission approved that
  

17   amendment, and so there is now a CEC for the Vail to
  

18   Tortolita portion of the upgrade route.
  

19                 Over the next few years, as final
  

20   engineering and land acquisition was being completed, the
  

21   facts continued to evolve.  Among other things, the
  

22   ownership structure of the rest of the upgrade route was
  

23   changing, such that WAPA would own one circuit and
  

24   Southline, or a successor entity, would own the other.
  

25   And the construction of the part of the upgrade route not
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 1   yet conveyed to TEP would be Southline's responsibility.
  

 2                 As a result of those changes, Southline, in
  

 3   September of last year, filed a motion to amend the CEC
  

 4   yet again, asking the Commission to do five things:
  

 5   First, to approve an extension of time to complete the
  

 6   project, giving us until February 24th, 2037; second, to
  

 7   approve an increase in the conductor size and a change in
  

 8   the pole height for the new-build route; third, to modify
  

 9   Condition 14 in the CEC to clarify that the project could
  

10   deviate from certain portions if it had consent of the
  

11   landowner for both public and private lands; fourth, as
  

12   relevant here, to remand the committee -- I mean, remand
  

13   the matter back to the committee and to allow us to
  

14   present evidence to extend the CEC to this new portion of
  

15   the project called the Vail to Apache project -- portion;
  

16   and then, finally, recommend to the committee that if
  

17   the -- if CEC-173 is extended to include the upgrade
  

18   section, Condition 31 should be deleted.  That motion was
  

19   granted on November 21st, 2025, which is why we are here
  

20   today.
  

21                 This proceeding will thus focus only on the
  

22   part of the upgrade route and really the entirety of the
  

23   Southline project that does not yet have a CEC, the CEC
  

24   Apache to Vail route.  As you can see from this map,
  

25   which has been marked as Exhibit SL-2 and is also on the
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 1   placemats in front of you, this portion of the route runs
  

 2   from near the Arizona Electric Power Cooperative's Apache
  

 3   Substation on the right side of the map to TEP's Vail
  

 4   Substation, which is depicted on the left.  The line
  

 5   itself is colored in that hashed green mark.
  

 6                 Along this route, Southline proposes to
  

 7   replace WAPA's very old single-circuit 115-kV
  

 8   transmission line with a double-circuit 230/345-kV
  

 9   transmission line to run for approximately 57 miles.  In
  

10   doing so, Southline will increase the capacity of the
  

11   existing line by roughly 10 times today -- what it is
  

12   today using fewer, if taller, structures.  WAPA's
  

13   existing line is made of wood pole H-frame structures
  

14   that were built in 1951.  They're very old and outdated,
  

15   posing reliability challenges.
  

16                 The CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route will
  

17   upgrade this line with modern, more reliable structures,
  

18   while following the route of the existing line.  The
  

19   requested CEC corridor is, for the most part, the
  

20   existing WAPA right-of-way, which WAPA will continue to
  

21   own, although Southline is requesting some variability in
  

22   the corridor along parts of the route to accommodate
  

23   design flexibility, as our witnesses will discuss.
  

24                 So it has long been established that
  

25   Southline brings several benefits to Arizona's energy
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 1   grid.  It will improve its reliability and resiliency,
  

 2   mitigate existing transmission congestion, increase the
  

 3   Arizona utilities' ability to manage their increasing
  

 4   demand, and facilitate access to energy resources that
  

 5   are built in this area.
  

 6                 For these reasons, the Commission found
  

 7   that the Southline Project met the needs standard when
  

 8   CEC-173 was originally approved going on nine years ago.
  

 9   Among other things the Commission found that, "The
  

10   project aids the state and the southwestern region in
  

11   meeting the need for an adequate, economical, and
  

12   reliable supply of power," and that, "the project aids
  

13   the state in preserving a safe and reliable transmission
  

14   system."
  

15                 Those findings remain very true today,
  

16   given the heightened need for transmission capacity and
  

17   energy supply.  Thus, while we will certainly present
  

18   evidence regarding the continued need for the project,
  

19   the focus of this proceeding is whether that need is
  

20   balanced in the broad public interest with a desire to
  

21   minimize the effects on the environment and the ecology
  

22   of this state for that only part of the South- -- excuse
  

23   me -- Southline project not already covered by CEC-173.
  

24                 For this portion of the project we are not
  

25   building a new line where one does not exist before, we
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 1   are upgrading an existing line in an existing utility
  

 2   right-of-way.  For this reason, among others that you
  

 3   will hear, we believe that at the close of the
  

 4   proceedings you're going to find that this route should
  

 5   be extended to have a CEC.
  

 6                 So just to reiterate, the requested
  

 7   modifications that we seek is, first of all, to amend
  

 8   CEC-173 to cover the rest of the Southline project that
  

 9   does not yet have a CEC, which is the Apache to Vail
  

10   upgrade route.  And then, again, to delete Condition 31
  

11   which will be superfluous, if the first request is
  

12   approved.
  

13                 So as to evidence, we intend to present
  

14   witnesses in three panels this week.  Our first panel
  

15   will include several members of the project team.
  

16   Mr. Doug Patterson is the managing partner of Black
  

17   Forest Partners and co-founder of the Southline
  

18   Transmission Project.  Mr. Isaac Phillips is a vice
  

19   president of project development for Grid United.  Mr. Ed
  

20   Beck is a consultant working on behalf of Southline.
  

21   And, finally, Mr. Colin Agner is a lead project manager
  

22   at SWCA Environmental Consultants, which is the
  

23   consultant retained by Southline for this proceeding.
  

24   This panel will introduce the various parties to the
  

25   Southline project, describe Southline's purpose,
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 1   benefits, and need, and address the route's
  

 2   characteristics and infrastructure.  We will also present
  

 3   the virtual tour, hopefully by the close of today.
  

 4                 In our second panel, Ms. Cara Bellavia, the
  

 5   senior director of environmental affairs for Grid United,
  

 6   will join Mr. Phillips and Mr. Agner to describe the
  

 7   environmental, ecological, and cultural aspects of the
  

 8   route.  They'll discuss the route in the context of the
  

 9   factors required by statute to be considered.
  

10                 And, finally, in a third panel,
  

11   Mr. Phillips, Mr. Patterson, and Mr. Agner will provide a
  

12   detailed overview of the stakeholder engagement process
  

13   related to the Vail -- Apache to Vail upgrade route and
  

14   address the legal compliance items.
  

15                 So based on the evidence we will present,
  

16   we are confident that you will conclude that the
  

17   Southline CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route will help meet
  

18   Arizona's need for an adequate, economical, and reliable
  

19   supply of power with minimal impacts to the environment
  

20   and ecology of the state.  And with that we're ready to
  

21   begin, unless Ms. Hill would like to add to her 100-word
  

22   limit.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Ms. Hill, would you like to
  

24   make an opening statement?
  

25                 MS. HILL:  No, Mr. Chairman.  TEP waives
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 1   opening.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 3                 And just making sure that we have been
  

 4   joined by Member Fant online?
  

 5                 (No response.)
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And Member DiCiccio?
  

 7                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Here.
  

 8                 MEMBER FANT:  If you need to hear, I'm
  

 9   here.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Thank you.
  

11                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  I'm here too.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Ms. Grabel,
  

13   would you like to call your first panel?
  

14                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you.  Yes, Mr. Chairman.
  

15   I call my first panel, they're all seated there and ready
  

16   to be sworn in.
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Mr. Phillips,
  

18   do you prefer an oath or affirmation?
  

19                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Affirmation.
  

20                 (Isaac Phillips was duly affirmed by
  

21        the Chairman.)
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Patterson?
  

23                 MR. PATTERSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oath or affirmation?
  

25                 MR. PATTERSON:  Oath, please.
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 1                 (Doug Patterson was duly sworn by
  

 2        the Chairman.)
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Agner, oath or
  

 4   affirmation?
  

 5                 MR. AGNER:  Affirmation, please,
  

 6   Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 (Colin Agner was duly affirmed by
  

 8        the Chairman.)
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Mr. Beck, oath or
  

10   affirmation?
  

11                 MR. BECK:  Oath.
  

12                 (Ed Beck was duly sworn by
  

13        the Chairman.)
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

15                 Please proceed, Ms. Grabel.
  

16                 MS. GRABEL:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.
  

17   //
  

18   //
  

19   //
  

20   //
  

21   //
  

22   //
  

23   //
  

24   //
  

25   //
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 1         ISAAC PHILLIPS, DOUG PATTERSON, COLIN AGNER,
  

 2                          and ED BECK,
  

 3   called as witnesses as a panel on behalf of Applicant,
  

 4   having been previously affirmed or sworn by the Chairman
  

 5   to speak the truth and nothing but the truth, were
  

 6   examined and testified as follows:
  

 7
  

 8               D I R E C T  E X A M I N A T I O N
  

 9   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

10       Q.   I'm going to begin with you.  Mr. Patterson,
  

11   please state your name and business address for the
  

12   record.
  

13       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) My name is -- excuse me -- Doug
  

14   Patterson, my business address is 1550 Tiburon Boulevard,
  

15   Suite G-334, Tiburon, California 94920.
  

16       Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  

17       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Black Forest Partners, where I'm
  

18   the managing partner and the co-founder of the Southline
  

19   Transmission Project.
  

20       Q.   What is your role in this matter?
  

21       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I help oversee and manage all
  

22   aspects of the Southline project, and I'm here to support
  

23   the team with testimony on the overview, history, and
  

24   purpose and need of the project.
  

25       Q.   You should have before you a book of exhibits.
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 1            Do you see that?
  

 2       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I do.
  

 3       Q.   Great.  Will you please look at Exhibit SL-1,
  

 4   which is the CEC application that was submitted in this
  

 5   matter?
  

 6       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I -- I see it.
  

 7       Q.   Have you seen this document before?
  

 8       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I have.
  

 9       Q.   Was it prepared by you or under your direction
  

10   and control?
  

11       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, under my direction and
  

12   control.
  

13       Q.   And are the statements contained within SL-1
  

14   true and correct, to the best of your knowledge?
  

15       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, they are.
  

16       Q.   And please turn to SL-2, the map of the proposed
  

17   project.
  

18       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Okay.
  

19       Q.   Was SL-2 prepared by you or under your direction
  

20   and control?
  

21       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was.
  

22       Q.   Is SL-2 the same map that is on the placemat
  

23   that the committees have before them?
  

24       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it is.
  

25       Q.   So that's on one side, would you please describe
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 1   what is on the flip side of the placemat?
  

 2       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) On the other side of the
  

 3   placemat is a map of the requested CEC project corridor.
  

 4       Q.   Thank you.
  

 5            If you could please turn to Exhibit SL-5, which
  

 6   is the testimony summary of Doug Patterson.
  

 7       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I'm there.
  

 8       Q.   Was SL-5 prepared by you or under your direction
  

 9   and control?
  

10       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was prepared by me.
  

11       Q.   Are the contents true and correct, to the best
  

12   of your knowledge?
  

13       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, they are.
  

14       Q.   Do you have any changes you would make to SL-5?
  

15       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) No, I don't.
  

16       Q.   Mr. Patterson, please turn to Exhibit SL-8,
  

17   which is the PowerPoint presentation that we'll be using
  

18   during this hearing.
  

19       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Okay.
  

20       Q.   Was SL-8 prepared by you or under your direction
  

21   and control?
  

22       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, it was prepared under my
  

23   direction and control.
  

24       Q.   Are the contents of SL-8 correct, to the best of
  

25   your knowledge?
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 1       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yes, they are.
  

 2       Q.   Notwithstanding that, do you have any changes
  

 3   you would like to make to Exhibit SL-8?
  

 4       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I do.  We have some minor
  

 5   changes, all ministerial.  On slides 9 and 10 we have an
  

 6   update -- well, this one is not just ministerial --
  

 7   Mr. Phillips, since the submission of this presentation,
  

 8   has a new role as vice president versus it was in the
  

 9   presentation originally as senior director.
  

10            On slide 20, we have an updated minor spelling
  

11   error of the word "existing."  Slide 23, we've updated
  

12   the approval date for the New Mexico PRC approval to 2017
  

13   from an erroneous 2016 date.  Slide 79, we updated a
  

14   minor spelling error of the Davis Dam.  Slides 125, 129,
  

15   and 131, we've updated minor spelling error for "dull
  

16   galvanized."  Slide 158, we updated a minor spelling
  

17   error for "noise."  And slide 197 we updated a minor
  

18   spelling error of "Peggy."
  

19       Q.   Thank you.
  

20            And all of the ministerial changes, except for
  

21   Mr. Phillips's promotion, are reflected in the version of
  

22   the presentation that will be used this week?
  

23       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) They are.
  

24       Q.   Thank you.  So up next we have Mr. Isaac
  

25   Phillips.
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 1            Mr. Phillips, please state your name and
  

 2   business address for the record.
  

 3       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Isaac Phillips, business address,
  

 4   712 Main Street, Suite 2500, Houston, Texas 77002.
  

 5       Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  

 6       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I'm employed by Grid United.  I'm
  

 7   the vice president of project development, and I'm the
  

 8   lead project developer for Grid United on the Southline
  

 9   Transmission Project.
  

10       Q.   And what has your role been in this matter?
  

11       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I help oversee all development
  

12   aspects of the Southline Transmission Project.  Today I
  

13   will be supporting the team with testimony on the
  

14   applicant, the project information, a route overview,
  

15   purpose and need for the project, and community
  

16   engagement.
  

17       Q.   And do you have a book of exhibits as well?
  

18       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I do.
  

19       Q.   Will you please turn to Exhibit SL-3, which is
  

20   the testimony summary of Isaac Phillips?
  

21       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I have it.
  

22       Q.   Was SL-3 prepared by you or under your direction
  

23   and control?
  

24       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) It was.
  

25       Q.   Are the contents true and correct to the best of
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 1   your knowledge?
  

 2       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) They are.
  

 3       Q.   And do you have any changes you would make to
  

 4   SL-3?
  

 5       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) The only tweak, as discussed,
  

 6   would be my role has changed from senior director to vice
  

 7   president.
  

 8       Q.   Thank you.
  

 9            I'm turning to Mr. Ed Beck.
  

10            Mr. Beck, please state your name and business
  

11   address for the record.
  

12       A.   (MR. BECK) Ed Beck, 7641 North Camino de
  

13   Maximillian, Tucson, Arizona 85704.
  

14       Q.   And by whom are you employed and in what
  

15   capacity?
  

16       A.   (MR. BECK) I am a consultant to the Southline
  

17   project.  I'm self-employed.
  

18       Q.   What is your role in this matter?
  

19       A.   (MR. BECK) To support the project team in the
  

20   siting process, as well as design and other questions
  

21   that have come up.
  

22       Q.   Thank you.
  

23            And if you could turn to Exhibit SL-7, which is
  

24   the testimony summary of Ed Beck.  Was SL-7 prepared by
  

25   you or under your direction and control?
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 1       A.   (MR. BECK) Yes, it was.
  

 2       Q.   Are the contents true and correct, to the best
  

 3   of your knowledge?
  

 4       A.   (MR. BECK) Yes, they are.
  

 5       Q.   Do you have any changes to SL-7?
  

 6       A.   (MR. BECK) No, I do not.
  

 7       Q.   Okay.  And, finally, we have Mr. Colin Agner.
  

 8            Mr. Agner, please state your name and business
  

 9   address for the record.
  

10       A.   (MR. AGNER) My name is Colin Agner, and my
  

11   business address is 343 West Franklin Street, Tucson,
  

12   Arizona 85701.
  

13       Q.   By whom are you employed and in what capacity?
  

14       A.   (MR. AGNER) I am employed by SWCA Environmental
  

15   Consultants as a lead project manager.
  

16            MS. GRABEL:  Robin, do you want a break?
  

17            THE REPORTER:  I'm all right.
  

18   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

19       Q.   Okay.  Did I ask you your role in this matter?
  

20       A.   (MR. AGNER) No, you did not.
  

21       Q.   What is your role in this matter?
  

22       A.   (MR. AGNER) So, as I said, I am a lead project
  

23   manager for SWCA Environmental Consultants.  We were the
  

24   consultant to the applicant for this case, and we
  

25   assisted in the preparation of the CEC application, as
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 1   well as assisting in the public outreach activities.  For
  

 2   this first panel, I'll be going over the virtual tour,
  

 3   but I'll also be covering biological resources and visual
  

 4   resources.
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair?
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Hill.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  I just want to make sure
  

 8   Robin's okay.
  

 9                 And also, Robin, can I get you some hot tea
  

10   or something, because I know that you're busy.  Will that
  

11   of be helpful?
  

12                 THE REPORTER:  Let me catch up.  I should
  

13   be fine.
  

14                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

15                 THE REPORTER:  I don't know why it's
  

16   happening now, but I'll let you know if I need a break.
  

17                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  Let us know.
  

18                 THE REPORTER:  Okay.  Thanks.
  

19   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

20       Q.   Mr. Agner, you should have before you a book of
  

21   exhibits.
  

22       A.   (MR. AGNER) I do.
  

23       Q.   If you could turn to Exhibit SL-6, which is the
  

24   testimony summary of Colin Agner.
  

25       A.   (MR. AGNER) I'm there.
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 1       Q.   Was SL-6 prepared by you or under your direction
  

 2   and control?
  

 3       A.   (MR. AGNER) It was.
  

 4       Q.   Are the contents true and correct, to the best
  

 5   of your knowledge?
  

 6       A.   (MR. AGNER) They are.
  

 7       Q.   Do you have any changes you would make to SL-6?
  

 8       A.   (MR. AGNER) I do not.
  

 9       Q.   Okay.  So now that we have our panelists
  

10   introduced, I will turn things back over to Mr. Doug
  

11   Patterson.  I may interrupt you a few times to lay
  

12   foundation for additional exhibits, but please, take it
  

13   away.
  

14       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Great.  Thank you very much.
  

15            Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman, Members of the
  

16   Committee, thank you for your time.  Today we'd like to
  

17   start off, give a brief overview of the applicant, give
  

18   you some context around the project history and some
  

19   context around the application.  Give an overview of the
  

20   Apache to Vail CEC upgrade route, and then hopefully have
  

21   a virtual route tour.
  

22            So, again, my name is Doug Patterson.  I'm the
  

23   managing partner of Black Forest Partners and the
  

24   cofounder of the Southline Transmission Project, along
  

25   with my partner Bill Kipp, who is not of here today.  My
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 1   background, I have a bachelor's degree from Dartmouth
  

 2   College, and I'm a chartered financial analyst.  I've
  

 3   spent a little over 30 years in the energy investment and
  

 4   development area.
  

 5            Prior to Black Forest, I was working with
  

 6   Goldman Sachs, where I was a managing director of equity
  

 7   investments.  I've previously testified before the
  

 8   committee in the original Southline CEC application, as
  

 9   well as for the amendment for Vail to Tortolita.  And
  

10   I'll turn it over to Isaac Phillips.
  

11       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Thank you, Doug.
  

12            Good afternoon, everyone.  Thank you for the
  

13   time.
  

14            My name is Isaac Phillips, I'm the vice
  

15   president of project development for Grid United.  My
  

16   educational background, I have a bachelor's of science in
  

17   mechanical engineering from Rice University.  My
  

18   professional experience includes my work currently on
  

19   Grid United's Southwest transmission portfolio as vice
  

20   president.  I have eight years of energy development,
  

21   large-scale infrastructure project development, including
  

22   high-voltage, large-scale transmission lines and
  

23   generation projects, large-scale generation projects.  In
  

24   the last two and a half years I've spent working on the
  

25   development of the Southline project for Grid United.
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 1       A.   (MR. BECK) Good afternoon.  Again, my name is Ed
  

 2   Beck.  I am a consultant working for the Southline
  

 3   project.  As far as educational experience, I have a MBA,
  

 4   as well as a bachelor of science from the University of
  

 5   Arizona.  I'm a life member of the American Society of
  

 6   Civil Engineers.  I have 46 years of experience in the
  

 7   utility business, including approximately half of my
  

 8   career in transmission line design, the other half was
  

 9   spent in siting of transmission lines.
  

10            I have testified in 17 Arizona CEC siting cases
  

11   across 138-, 230-, 345- and 500-kV transmission lines
  

12   under four different chairs -- past chairs of the
  

13   committee.  I testified in the original case 173
  

14   hearings, and was the co-applicant for the 2020
  

15   application to amend case 173.
  

16       A.   (MR. AGNER) Good afternoon, Members of the
  

17   Committee.
  

18            My name is Colin Agner.  As I mentioned
  

19   previously, I am a lead project manager at SWCA
  

20   Environmental Consultants.  My education consists of
  

21   having a bachelor of science degree in environmental
  

22   science from Westminster College in New Wilmington,
  

23   Pennsylvania, and having a master's of science degree in
  

24   planning from the University of Arizona here in Tucson,
  

25   Arizona.
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 1            As I mentioned previously, I am a lead project
  

 2   manager for SWCA, the consultant that was retained by the
  

 3   applicant to assist with the CEC application and the
  

 4   outreach efforts for this case.  I have over 15 years of
  

 5   environmental consulting experience, and I've testified
  

 6   before this Line Siting Committee in numerous cases, the
  

 7   most recent one being Case Number 251.
  

 8       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Thank you.
  

 9            I'm going to provide a brief overview of the
  

10   applicant and Grid United, and then pass it over to Doug
  

11   Patterson for some more detail on the project.
  

12            As Doug and Meghan mentioned, Southline
  

13   Transmission, LLC, is a joint development partnership
  

14   between Grid United and Black Forest Partners.  We're
  

15   working to co-develop the Southline Transmission Project.
  

16   Grid United is an independent transmission developer,
  

17   which means we focus on grid-to-grid transmission
  

18   projects around the country, primarily focused on
  

19   reliability and resiliency fixes to the existing United
  

20   States electric grid.  Generally we prioritize projects
  

21   that are inter-regional, so across regional seams where
  

22   there's not local utility serving specific territories,
  

23   and create connections at points in the grid where we
  

24   identify the greatest transmission need.  So we focus
  

25   primarily on transmission, not on generation or other
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 1   aspects of the field.
  

 2            We partner often with local utilities to
  

 3   identify the best use for these projects and to create
  

 4   solutions that will long term be wrapped into existing
  

 5   transmission systems, not our own projects.  So we're not
  

 6   a utility but we are an independent developer.  We joined
  

 7   Southline in 2022 and partnered with Black Forest
  

 8   Partners on the development.  Southline fits very well
  

 9   into our portfolio around the country of inter-regional
  

10   projects, Southline creating a new connection between
  

11   Arizona and New Mexico.  And, you know, serving a really
  

12   intentional reliability and resiliency need across the
  

13   desert southwest fits very well with our greater strategy
  

14   around the country.  And I'll note on page -- on slide 18
  

15   we have a number of large-scale projects that we're
  

16   working on around the country and you can -- you can see
  

17   that typically we focus on the seams where there's value
  

18   in adding new transmission across regional divides.
  

19       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Great.  Thank you.
  

20            So for Black Forest Partners, as Isaac
  

21   mentioned, we originated the project and are
  

22   co-developing in partnership with Grid United who we're
  

23   very fortunate to team up with in 2022.  Black Forest is
  

24   an investment and development firm, focused on energy
  

25   infrastructure.  We initially were identifying a growing

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

31

  

 1   regional transmission infrastructure need and thought we
  

 2   could bring local knowledge and relationships to initiate
  

 3   development of what became the Southline Project starting
  

 4   in 2008.  Since that time, we've led the development,
  

 5   engagement, design, and aspects of the project through
  

 6   and including the permitting process, both the federal
  

 7   NEPA process, as well as the Arizona ACC CEC Line Siting
  

 8   process for the original project and the amendment of the
  

 9   Vail to Tortolita amendment, as well as in New Mexico, in
  

10   front of the New Mexico PRC.
  

11            Really at our core we have a philosophy that we
  

12   brought to this project of really trying to maximize
  

13   regional and local benefits while looking for the best
  

14   way to minimize new impacts, really primarily by
  

15   leveraging existing infrastructure where possible.
  

16            On slide 20, I just wanted to zoom out a little
  

17   bit, and really set the stage for the matters that we'll
  

18   be discussing here.  The Apache to Vail segment is part
  

19   of a WAPA line that was built in the 1950s, as Ms. Grabel
  

20   pointed out.  It's an existing wood pole H-frame line
  

21   that really was built to deliver the federal hydro power
  

22   from the Colorado River dams that had been built really
  

23   out to the rural communities in Arizona.  And it's really
  

24   been critical to making and sustaining and improving life
  

25   in Arizona throughout its history.
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 1            But it is old and it is in need of -- of
  

 2   upgrades.  And really what you see on the left that
  

 3   Mr. Phillips was, you know, had -- had highlighted with
  

 4   the cursor, you can see this is an example of the
  

 5   existing WAPA line.  This is near Vail station, really
  

 6   the part of the route that we'll be talking about,
  

 7   similar to much of our route.  It's -- it's in a
  

 8   relatively rural area, and -- and on the right side the
  

 9   picture is an example of recently upgraded portion of
  

10   this line on the Vail to Tortolita.  And while this is
  

11   not directly part of the application before you, it is
  

12   very illustrative of what we're looking to do.  This is
  

13   currently -- on the right-hand side the Vail to Tortolita
  

14   is currently under construction.  Those pictures are
  

15   poles that have recently been constructed and have
  

16   replaced, essentially, the type of poles on the left.
  

17            What you'll hear in ongoing discussions and
  

18   testimony is we'll give you a better description of this
  

19   route, this 57 miles between Apache and Vail.  What
  

20   you'll learn is that this is mostly rural open space,
  

21   more than half of it is state lands.  There are three
  

22   pockets along the line where we'll discuss where there
  

23   has been some development of homes that have been built
  

24   up along the existing line, which really the line had
  

25   really been there before any of these developments, but
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 1   we'll -- we'll be looking at those as we go.
  

 2            There are really a few key points I just wanted
  

 3   to make to help set the stage here.  First, this existing
  

 4   WAPA line, as mentioned, was built in the 1950s, and
  

 5   predates much of the development that has grown up around
  

 6   it.  Second, there's been a lot of public engagement over
  

 7   the last 15 years to help identify and inform and develop
  

 8   the project.  Third, the impacts of this project were
  

 9   comprehensively studied in a full Environmental Impact
  

10   Statement, and this project has been before the committee
  

11   twice before.  Four, the alternatives to upgrading the
  

12   WAPA line have been considered and really would
  

13   involve -- a reroute, for example, would involve either
  

14   increasing or shifting impacts to others, and it's one of
  

15   the reasons why we believe that upgrading the existing
  

16   line is really the best way to minimize impacts.
  

17            And, finally, as Ms. Grabel mentioned, really
  

18   the goal of all this is to produce benefits where we can
  

19   increase the capacity of this corridor by roughly ten
  

20   times by just rebuilding inside the existing
  

21   right-of-way.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Quick question,
  

25   Mr. Patterson.  As I read through the applicant and some
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 1   of the history and tried to dig through the multiple
  

 2   pages that y'all have presented, I was impressed by the
  

 3   detail that was there.  I was also looking for and maybe
  

 4   overlooked, what's the projected cost of this section,
  

 5   the section that we're dealing with today, back of the
  

 6   envelope?
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can -- I can take
  

 8   that.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Oh, thank you.
  

10                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, Isaac Phillips here.
  

11   So one challenge in breaking it down is we do think about
  

12   this project as the full scope of the 280 miles that
  

13   we're working on.  Generally what I can say is that that
  

14   scope is over a billion dollar project for, you know,
  

15   that number of miles, the 280-mile, double-circuit,
  

16   high-voltage line.  So this would be a much smaller but
  

17   still a multi-hundred-million-dollar segment of that, the
  

18   60 miles that we're discussing -- the 57 miles we're
  

19   discussing today, but really dependent on a really
  

20   quickly changing engineering procurement and construction
  

21   market that we're seeing have significant changes in the
  

22   last couple of years.  But that's the detail we have
  

23   prior to both commercialization and locking in a more
  

24   detailed engineering, procurement, construction contract.
  

25                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So you would say it would
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 1   be in the 150 to 200 million or --
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I would put it in the
  

 3   probably 200 to 350 --
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  -- range.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And this is to be paid -- I
  

 7   mean, you're increasing the capacity by, as I recall, 10
  

 8   percent -- 10 times; is that correct?
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So you have must have some
  

11   big customers that you're going to be planning for; is
  

12   that correct?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  So taking a big step
  

14   back, Grid United and Southline, the approach for these
  

15   sorts of projects, transmission-to-transmission projects
  

16   is that we can be flexible on commercial structure to
  

17   serve a range of needs.  Now, those can be targeted
  

18   towards specifically utilities, so either direct
  

19   ownership by the utilities, let's say they purchase a
  

20   portion of the physical infrastructure or the capacity on
  

21   the wires so they could serve transmission capacity needs
  

22   through direct purchases.  They can also do transmission
  

23   service agreements where they secure rights for capacity
  

24   on an ongoing annualized basis.  And then also we can
  

25   directly serve large-scale customers or generators as
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 1   well that can, similarly, typically those would be
  

 2   capacity contracts, transmission service agreement
  

 3   contracts.
  

 4                 But the goal being, I think, twofold: One,
  

 5   by partnering with WAPA and upgrading the line here,
  

 6   we're increasing the capacity on the existing WAPA line,
  

 7   that is outside of Southline's ownership, that's value
  

 8   created for the utility to utilize on WAPA's lines.  So
  

 9   that's value created to WAPA, Arizona Electric Power
  

10   Cooperative, which owns the Apache station at the end of
  

11   the WAPA line, Tucson Electric Power on the other end,
  

12   and APS actually serves some load off this WAPA line.
  

13                 So that will be owned and operated by WAPA
  

14   and outside of our commercial contract.  The remaining
  

15   portion the 345 circuit that stretches onto the new build
  

16   segment and into New Mexico, we are commercializing with
  

17   the target of, you know, frankly, we're kind of focused
  

18   on utility need, where do the utilities in Arizona and
  

19   New Mexico need this, but could be served by large
  

20   retail, you know, load or generated customers as well.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I appreciate that.  I
  

22   notice, and this is not our purview, but I did notice in
  

23   the reading that you're going through the Grants area and
  

24   the uranium mining area that are all hot property now.  I
  

25   suspect that that's part of the kind of big customer load
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 1   that you'll be looking at.  Are there similar ones on the
  

 2   Arizona side, that is, getting back to the portion that
  

 3   this CEC's about?  Are there big customers that you're
  

 4   looking at?
  

 5                 MR. PATTERSON:  Well, definitely.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Or your eventual owners
  

 7   would be looking at.  I know it's kind of a multifaceted
  

 8   question.  Okay.
  

 9                 MR. PATTERSON:  It is, Member Kryder.  I
  

10   would just add that we are hearing about a lot of that
  

11   type of growth, manufacturing, mining.  For example,
  

12   our -- we had two rounds of public meetings, and there
  

13   were many members of the public who came to our meetings,
  

14   some who worked in the mining industry and we actually
  

15   learned a lot about just the magnitude of the potential
  

16   demand and need, so that was very interesting to us.
  

17                 From the commercialization, I mean, we will
  

18   talk to anyone and, you know, consider anything, but as
  

19   Mr. Phillips mentioned, our primary focus has been to --
  

20   to work directly with the regional utilities, and so to
  

21   the extent that those end customers are showing interest,
  

22   you know, or needs in Arizona, we would see them likely
  

23   working directly with the utilities, and we're just
  

24   trying to, for the most part, facilitate the utility
  

25   interest.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  I appreciate that too.
  

 2   Yeah, the mining industry is really hot property right
  

 3   now.  Everybody's looking at copper and if you're smart
  

 4   you're buying copper futures and all that stuff.  And, of
  

 5   course, Arizona is a big play in the copper industry.
  

 6   And with the new mine that potentially is opening and so
  

 7   on and so on and so on.
  

 8                 Who's paying for the 250 to 3 million?  Is
  

 9   this the ratepayer?  Address that a little bit for me.
  

10                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can attempt to
  

11   address.  You know, at this point we do not yet have the
  

12   commercial contracts locked in, so we don't have
  

13   certainty on how it would be paid for by some end
  

14   customer.  If there's utility ownership's share, then
  

15   potentially, but that would have to be handled kind of
  

16   separately of us.  I think it's really dependent on the
  

17   final commercial arrangement that comes about, with the
  

18   coordination that we're doing with utilities and other
  

19   customers.  So that's a hard one to answer right now
  

20   because we don't have specifics on the kind of end state
  

21   that would inform that question.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Yes, I see.  You're
  

23   providing -- you're providing the line and TEP, et al.,
  

24   are going to be delivering this and buying the line back
  

25   from you, or however that all works, I get that.  I was
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 1   just looking, you know, there -- well, I should be
  

 2   addressing you.  I should be asking information from you,
  

 3   but it's such a hot question right now of people saying,
  

 4   well, gee, the data centers are all great stuff, and then
  

 5   they look at Alabama and they look at some of the places
  

 6   down south and they say, oh, yeah, but by the way, who
  

 7   pays -- who pays the bill for this?  And that was a
  

 8   question I was trying to get at.  I know you are, in a
  

 9   sense, caught in the middle of that, but how do I get a
  

10   handle around that?  Help me.
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can attempt to
  

12   answer here.  I mean, one thing that I'll cover in the
  

13   purpose and need section is that there has long been, pre
  

14   any discussion of data center, a very clear purpose and
  

15   need for this sort of transmission upgrade.  So the
  

16   continued load growth we're seeing makes that even more
  

17   necessary, but doesn't really strike at the fact that
  

18   reliability and resilience in the upgrades are necessary
  

19   for the grid and are necessary to serve just the
  

20   residential -- growing residential and, you know,
  

21   industrial load that we already have on the grid.
  

22                 So I think it's a challenging question to
  

23   answer because, you know, you're correct, we're kind of
  

24   in the middle of this and the world's changing very
  

25   rapidly.  But this project was proposed, you know, back
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 1   in 2008 and approved in 2017, like, well in advance of
  

 2   any of these discussions that are challenging a lot of
  

 3   people right now.  And the purpose and need was clear
  

 4   then and we think it's clear now.
  

 5                 And, you know, big projects will have to
  

 6   be, you know, invested in from a variety of sources.
  

 7   Typically what we've seen in the large-scale transmission
  

 8   industry is that these sorts of projects get divided up,
  

 9   you know, people take the shares that they can afford or
  

10   that they need at the time, multiple utilities or
  

11   multiple generators, divide up a project of this size.
  

12   So I think there's some flexibility for utilities to
  

13   right size to the need.  When it comes to coordination
  

14   with data centers and even rate cases it's really outside
  

15   of our sphere of, you know, we're providing transmission
  

16   and investing in these projects that we see 20-, 30-,
  

17   40-year value in, but what we can do is kind of educate
  

18   utilities on the reliability value, the access and the
  

19   resources value, et cetera, but we're outside the scope
  

20   of how that gets paid for by the utilities themselves.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yeah, and I truly
  

22   appreciate the portion of your answer that said something
  

23   that if it was necessary 15 years ago, it's probably even
  

24   more necessary today.  And so I appreciate the insights
  

25   that y'all have offered.  And I'll shut up and listen a

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

41

  

 1   while.  Thank you very much.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you for the question.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 4                 Member Little, you had a question?
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  I do.  Thank you,
  

 6   Mr. Chairman.
  

 7                 First of all, I object to referring to the
  

 8   existing line as antiquated, because it was built the
  

 9   same year I was born.  That said, I have a couple of
  

10   questions.
  

11                 First of all, I don't recall reading this
  

12   in the application, maybe it wasn't there, so I
  

13   apologize.  Was the plan for the line when it was going
  

14   to be updated by WAPA the same one 200 and -- what are we
  

15   here -- we're one 230-kV line and one 345-kV line on a
  

16   single pole?
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can take that.
  

18   Thank you for the question.
  

19                 So the original plan was for double-circuit
  

20   230, so 230-kilovolt circuit.
  

21                 MR. BECK:  Just -- Isaac, I think she was
  

22   asking what WAPA's original plan was before Southline
  

23   came along.
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Oh, go ahead.
  

25                 MR. BECK:  And from Western's standpoint,
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 1   they were looking to someday in the future convert the
  

 2   115 to 230, but they haven't been able to fund that,
  

 3   because, again, their funding comes from their customers.
  

 4   The customers vote on whether or not to spend the money.
  

 5   And they haven't been able to convince their customers
  

 6   that there's value to it.
  

 7                 As a result, they're not doing maintenance,
  

 8   they haven't upgraded, and the line's getting ready to
  

 9   fall down.  So that's the unique situation that Southline
  

10   brings to the table is Southline is proposing to rebuild
  

11   the WAPA circuit for them so they get the benefit of the
  

12   new poles and assimatic capacity, and Southline gets a
  

13   circuit out of it that doesn't exist today, and wouldn't
  

14   otherwise exist but for them stepping in.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's good information,
  

16   Ed, I appreciate it.  But I -- I think that the question
  

17   I asked was the one that was getting ready to be
  

18   answered.  And that was, when WAPA was going to do the
  

19   work, was it going to be the same?
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.  And Ed's response is
  

21   helpful backstop.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So under the original
  

24   proposed design it was upgrading to double-circuit
  

25   230-kilovolt, and so one of the purposes of the amendment
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 1   application here today was to categorize and summarize
  

 2   the additional potential impacts associated with upping
  

 3   one of those circuits to 345.  Of note, when we looked at
  

 4   kind of coordinating with WAPA and the other regional
  

 5   utilities, the feedback we've been receiving is we need
  

 6   more transmission capacity desperately.  So if we can use
  

 7   existing right-of-way and use existing projects and
  

 8   upgrade them and upsize them to what the need is going to
  

 9   be, then there's a huge amount of value in that.  So part
  

10   of the what we have been working on and part of this
  

11   application is running -- rerunning the kind of
  

12   environmental analysis and categorizing the potential
  

13   impacts of the switch, from double-circuit 230 to
  

14   double-circuit 230/345.  Of note, you know, I can maybe
  

15   talk through a few of the potential impacts and we'll get
  

16   way more into the detail of this as we get through this
  

17   applic- -- or of this presentation today and tomorrow,
  

18   but generally, the double-circuit poles are very close in
  

19   size, so the average height of the double-circuit 230 was
  

20   within 5 to 8 feet of the average height of the
  

21   double-circuit 230/345, so from a visual impact
  

22   perspective, which would be one of the material changes
  

23   in the design, you see a relatively minor visual impact
  

24   change between the two designs.
  

25                 From a siting perspective, the
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 1   double-circuit 3 -- or the double-circuit 230/345
  

 2   actually has a higher clearance tolerance, so they'll be
  

 3   a little bit further off the ground, the wires.  And then
  

 4   additionally a little further span length, so we probably
  

 5   will reduce the number of poles required, because we're
  

 6   spreading them out a little bit further.
  

 7                 Additionally, you know, other common
  

 8   questions relating to impact would be, you know, sound
  

 9   and EMF and we have some information about that, but all
  

10   within the envelope of analysis that was done for the
  

11   NEPA permit on the double-circuit 230, which is good that
  

12   we're not seeing, like, a material change between the two
  

13   designs.
  

14                 So it's a great question and part of the
  

15   purpose of the application for amendment here today is to
  

16   categorize those changes between the two designs.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Great.  Thank you.  That
  

18   answers my next question, which was it's not going to
  

19   affect the work that has been done for NEPA to make these
  

20   changes?  You won't have to redo that in any way?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So we'll -- kind of through
  

22   the NEPA process we have to do preconstruction filing and
  

23   provide updates on all, you know, impact analysis, final
  

24   design details, et cetera, as part of the normal NEPA
  

25   process.  So we're actually going through that right now
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 1   with both WAPA and BLM.  And generally they evaluate the
  

 2   final design in relation to the scope of environmental
  

 3   impact that was done before.  So it is a normal part of
  

 4   the NEPA process to take the initial design that was
  

 5   completed and then run through the detail design to
  

 6   confirm the adequacy.  So underway currently.
  

 7                 But in hand-in-hand coordination with BLM
  

 8   and WAPA, and they've all been engaged throughout the
  

 9   last couple of years on these changes and the requests
  

10   we've been getting from utilities to right-size this
  

11   corridor.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Great.  Thank you.
  

13                 I have one further question.  And that is,
  

14   in the executive summary for the application, it stated
  

15   that "the project is designed to provide up to a thousand
  

16   megawatts of initial bidirectional transmission
  

17   capacity."  Is there a plan to increase that?  That word
  

18   "initial" caught my -- my attention.
  

19                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I can answer that as
  

20   well.
  

21                 So a lot of the -- the line is rated for
  

22   actually a much higher capacity.  So the line that's
  

23   proposed, the design details that are proposed, both the
  

24   230 circuit and the 345 circuit are rated for much higher
  

25   capacity.  When you look at the actual operation of the
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 1   line, what the line can actually transmit is very
  

 2   dependent on its interconnections into substations, and
  

 3   the kind of voltage controls that are put into place as
  

 4   the line gets energized and gets used.
  

 5                 And so, from our perspective, what we tried
  

 6   to categorize is this is what we think the line can
  

 7   initially provide without a significant amount of
  

 8   additional substation work or work on behalf of the
  

 9   utilities, but we think that without making changes to
  

10   the actual transmission, just making changes within the
  

11   substations on either ends, you can push a lot of
  

12   additional power on the line without making any material
  

13   changes to the transmission line itself.  So
  

14   those -- those conductors will be in place and highly
  

15   rated, and it will be up to the underlying utilities and
  

16   the operators to extract the maximum amount of capacity
  

17   that they can from the line.
  

18                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Terrific.  Thank you very
  

19   much for your answers.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

21                 Ms. Grabel.
  

22   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

23       Q.   Please continue.  I believe, Mr. Phillips, you
  

24   were about to proceed on slide 21?
  

25       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yeah, I think that's me.
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 1       Q.   Mr. Patterson.
  

 2       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) Yeah.  So looking at these two
  

 3   slides, 21 and 22, which are a pair, just to zoom out a
  

 4   little bit and give the committee a little overview.  So
  

 5   the Southline project overall currently is 280 miles,
  

 6   proposed double-circuit line connecting New Mexico and
  

 7   Arizona.  We -- you can see on the map on the right-hand
  

 8   side connecting over in the Do a Ana County, New Mexico,
  

 9   near the Afton Substation and then the far west side
  

10   would be Vail.  That's the overall project.
  

11            We expect to construct the project in two
  

12   phases.  Phase 1 would -- would be from Pima County at
  

13   the Vail Substation, over to Grant County, New Mexico, on
  

14   that map on the right, that's really the combination of
  

15   that light blue and green to the area in Grant County.
  

16   And then the second phase, which we'd look to start
  

17   construction just after that first phase would complete
  

18   the project from -- from Grant County over to Do a Ana
  

19   County.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I have a quick question.
  

21   Where on this map is the section that TEP acquired?
  

22                 MR. PATTERSON:  So it would be just to the
  

23   west of -- west and north of Vail.  Let me see if I
  

24   can -- here we go.  So here's Vail.  And Vail to
  

25   Tortolita, roughly like that, Ed?
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 1                 MR. BECK:  Yeah.
  

 2                 MR. PATTERSON:  Is that about right?
  

 3                 MR. BECK:  Yeah.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And that's already been
  

 5   constructed?
  

 6                 MR. PATTERSON:  It's in the process of
  

 7   being constructed.  Part of it has been constructed and
  

 8   it's under construction right now.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

10                 MR. PATTERSON:  Okay.  Some additional
  

11   overview, really -- and we'll spend a lot more time on
  

12   community outreach later in the proceedings, but just to
  

13   kind of scope some of the approach.  Really as part of
  

14   the project, there's been 15 years, really, of
  

15   consultation, engagement, and communications really
  

16   starting from before the official permitting, some
  

17   pre-planning meetings leading into the federal process,
  

18   and taking that into the state siting process, and then
  

19   the -- culminating with the decisions in the -- the
  

20   Records of Decisions by WAPA and BLM, in the 2016 time
  

21   frame.  And then we brought the initial CEC application
  

22   to the ACC Line Siting Committee, and that was in 2016,
  

23   and approved in 2017.  And we did a similar process in
  

24   New Mexico where we obtained the approval in 2017.
  

25                 We've talked a little bit about some of the

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

49

  

 1   ongoing efforts after that, including amending the
  

 2   project for our collaboration with Tucson Electric Power,
  

 3   who acquired the rights to Vail-Tortolita, and are, as
  

 4   mentioned, in the process of constructing that line right
  

 5   now and they will jointly own the Vail to Tortolita
  

 6   project, each owning a circuit between WAPA and TEP.
  

 7                 On the right, it's really just some
  

 8   examples of some of the ongoing meetings that we've had
  

 9   and outreach that's been ongoing through the project.
  

10   And I'll turn it over now to Mr. Phillips.  He'll talk a
  

11   little bit about some of the current investment and
  

12   engagement.
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, and before I move on,
  

14   something to add to the previous slide is following the
  

15   2017 time frame, you know, the original CEC process
  

16   approved and then WAPA was managing and leading
  

17   this -- this circuit that we're talking about today, this
  

18   corridor, and so, you know, there was a lot of focus on
  

19   the Arizona CEC for 2021 for the Vail to Tortolita
  

20   segment.  WAPA was managing the communication with
  

21   landowners and stakeholders under its jurisdiction for
  

22   this -- this upgrade route that we're discussing here
  

23   today.  But when it became more clear that Southline was
  

24   going to play a bigger role in the construction and/or
  

25   potential ownership of portions of that line, you know,
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 1   this is kind of the purpose of this here today is to
  

 2   continue to ramp up on public engagement, you know, which
  

 3   WAPA had been managing before and we've been following
  

 4   their lead, we're now taking a leading role.  And so part
  

 5   of the meetings and the purpose of today's application is
  

 6   to formalize that and to make sure we've been providing
  

 7   the information about changes that we're discussing to
  

 8   the public, but then also something that we have been
  

 9   incorporating as we think about a well-rounded community
  

10   engagement, stakeholder engagement process, we have been
  

11   implementing a community investment program, which
  

12   increases the opportunity for local stakeholders and
  

13   local host landowners to engage in the project, get
  

14   information outside of normal meeting, coordination,
  

15   public open houses, et cetera, get our team members in
  

16   the community to get feedback on the need in the
  

17   community, and to ensure that host communities see direct
  

18   investment and donations outside of things like property
  

19   tax or construction jobs.  This is a direct focus on
  

20   investment in the community.
  

21                 So just wanted to highlight on the front
  

22   end of this presentation, you know, we kind of think
  

23   about the community engagement aspect as we take over in
  

24   2025 the potential leadership role in the construction
  

25   for WAPA, ensuring that we're kind of doing the public
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 1   meetings and investing in the community.
  

 2                 So just to highlight our community
  

 3   investment program, we've targeted approximately
  

 4   $3 million in direct donations and sponsorships to
  

 5   Arizona communities, so this is not associated with land
  

 6   agreements, not associated with tax, this is direct
  

 7   investment in communities associated with the project.
  

 8                 As of now we think about that in terms of
  

 9   the development time frame and the construction time
  

10   frame when people might experience the greatest impact
  

11   from the project, when there's construction vehicles
  

12   mobilizing, et cetera, and then before they would receive
  

13   benefits like increased tax, you know, property tax
  

14   revenue.  And so we've been targeting a $3 million
  

15   investment number in host communities in Arizona and been
  

16   executing on that.
  

17                 We've highlighted on the slide 26 -- excuse
  

18   me -- 25, a number of recipients of community investment
  

19   dollars in the last year.  It's a varied group.  It's
  

20   really when community members raise need and come to us
  

21   with need, we try to be -- and no strings attached, we
  

22   want to bring value to the community, and we want to give
  

23   it to what's in need.  So we often get lots of events.
  

24   Wings over Willcox is a bird watching event, Benson
  

25   Lantern Festival is an event for the City of Benson.
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 1   Things like infrastructure investments.  The Willcox
  

 2   Theater we did a long program with to help run their
  

 3   programming for a number of years, and then, you know,
  

 4   really critical to these communities is fire districts.
  

 5   So identified a lot of need through communications with
  

 6   fire districts and executing on investment in those areas
  

 7   as well.
  

 8                 In total, the number I have -- excuse me --
  

 9   our community investment to date in the develop- --
  

10   during the development of the project in Arizona is
  

11   $180,000, with an additional $500,000 already committed
  

12   to.  So a firm commitment for an additional 500,000.  So
  

13   that will continue to expand throughout construction --
  

14   development and construction.
  

15                 We also are working to maximize the dollars
  

16   that we can bring to communities through kind of
  

17   leveraging other grant programs, so two I will mention,
  

18   one is a grant program, one is a partnership.  The first,
  

19   Arizona Game & Fish Department, through the initial
  

20   permitting process, NEPA, and the initial CEC, identified
  

21   the need for an investment in a wildlife area on the
  

22   Willcox Playa, just a few miles from this route.  We are
  

23   working with them -- with them hand in hand to develop a
  

24   120-acre parcel that they own.  We are funding,
  

25   designing, and going to construct a new wildlife habitat
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 1   for migrating sandhill cranes, which will come with a
  

 2   pretty 120-acre comprehensive habitat revitalization,
  

 3   plus viewing infrastructure for the community.  So that
  

 4   was a part of our original CEC that we have executed on.
  

 5   We have signed and filed a licensing agreement with
  

 6   Arizona Game & Fish formalizing these commitments and we
  

 7   are working with them to implement it now.
  

 8                 Secondly, the City of Willcox, we -- we
  

 9   identified a really interesting opportunity, the
  

10   Department of Energy was running a grant program for host
  

11   communities impacted by large-scale transmission
  

12   development.  So we helped the City of Willcox apply.  We
  

13   provided seed funding requirements for the application of
  

14   $500,000, and they were actually awarded a $10.7 million
  

15   grant contingent on Southline's success and commencement
  

16   of construction.  But once we do construct, that
  

17   community would receive that from the Department of
  

18   Energy as part of an investment program that they're
  

19   running.  So a really good opportunity to leverage our
  

20   investment and do a 20 -- 20 times the size of our
  

21   investment -- investment in the community through
  

22   leveraging the existing grant program that not a lot of
  

23   people had heard about and we were lucky enough to get
  

24   successful with the City of Willcox.
  

25                 And they are utilizing that for a different
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 1   wildlife area on the Willcox Playa and some underground
  

 2   water system investment as well.
  

 3   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 4       Q.   Before you move on, Mr. Phillips, I just want to
  

 5   underscore something you said.  If I understood you
  

 6   correctly, you said that while the Western Area Power
  

 7   Administration was going to build and own and operate
  

 8   this route, they were responsible for public outreach; is
  

 9   that correct?
  

10       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) That is correct.
  

11       Q.   And when the facts changed slightly and
  

12   Southline, it turns out, was going to be owning at least
  

13   one of the circuits and potentially constructing it, then
  

14   Southline took over the public outreach efforts; is that
  

15   correct?
  

16       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yes, that is correct.  And we
  

17   continued to ramp up on that effort, but in 2025
  

18   especially, as we'll go through later with the CEC kind
  

19   of outreach and the public meetings that we have held we
  

20   have taken over a lot of that public outreach to local
  

21   landowners, local stakeholders, jurisdictions around the
  

22   project area.
  

23       Q.   Would you say there's a difference in the way
  

24   WAPA conducts public outreach versus the way that
  

25   Southline conducts public outreach?
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 1       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I think that WAPA has different
  

 2   requirements, given they have different jurisdictional
  

 3   requirements and are not under the CEC process.  And so
  

 4   at the very least they don't adhere to those requirements
  

 5   that we do for the new-build segment and now for the
  

 6   upgrade segment that we've been implementing this year.
  

 7            And then they also manage their own landowner
  

 8   because their landowners have existing rights-of-way --
  

 9   WAPA rights-of-way, they manage those communications
  

10   directly.  So I would say that we typically approach it a
  

11   little bit differently and, as we can discuss with the
  

12   community investment program, we typically go more
  

13   engagement rather than less, to ensure that we're
  

14   soliciting as much feedback as possible.
  

15       Q.   By engaging in open houses, et cetera, correct?
  

16       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yeah, multiple rounds of open
  

17   houses, multiple rounds of mailings and public filings,
  

18   an intense social media campaign, a really comprehensive
  

19   website, and then on the groundwork what I'm mentioning
  

20   here, the community investment work.
  

21       Q.   And we'll get to that on the third panel.  I
  

22   just wanted to underscore your prior point.
  

23            Please continue.
  

24       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) So I'll be providing an overview
  

25   on the purpose and need for the project, which, as we
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 1   mentioned, has only grown since the Commission originally
  

 2   found that Southline met the standard -- the need
  

 3   standard in CEC-173.  We're going to focus on four main
  

 4   areas.  So the first the project -- the goal of improving
  

 5   the reliability and resiliency of the electric grid in
  

 6   Arizona; the second, mitigating existing congestion in
  

 7   the existing transmission system; the third, increasing
  

 8   Arizona utilities' ability to support regional demand
  

 9   growth; and the fourth, facilitating access to reliable
  

10   resources needed to achieve current energy and public
  

11   policy goals, both of the State of Arizona and the United
  

12   States.
  

13            I'll mention that these are the same objectives
  

14   and needs that were initially identified as critical in
  

15   the whole process that this project has gone through, and
  

16   what we've seen in the intervening years is only a growth
  

17   of the needs here.  So significant growth, and it's not
  

18   just Arizona, it's the whole desert southwest has seen
  

19   significant demand growth related to both explosion of
  

20   residential development and a large movement of
  

21   population to the region, new manufacturing, new mining,
  

22   new industrial facilities, and we're seeing more of the
  

23   kind of load need for large load customers, like data
  

24   centers, et cetera.
  

25            Again, we are focused on transmission, but it's
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 1   just this regional need has really grown significantly.
  

 2   And these were all there pre, a lot of this growth, and
  

 3   so it's only getting more critical that we bring more
  

 4   transmission online in the region.
  

 5            Digging in a little bit, improving the
  

 6   reliability and resiliency of the electric grid in
  

 7   Arizona.  We've talked a little bit about the existing
  

 8   WAPA line.  I'll focus more on what we are doing to
  

 9   improve the reliability and resiliency.  So, first, we're
  

10   replacing aging infrastructure with new steel structures,
  

11   new conductor, new insulators, effectively creating a
  

12   much more reliable backbone in this region, the 60-mile
  

13   backbone between Vail and Apache.
  

14            So, firstly, upgrading the existing line,
  

15   creating new transmission capacity that can be utilized
  

16   by all the utilities we've mentioned that share service
  

17   on this line, Arizona Electric Power Cooperative, Tucson
  

18   Electric Power, Arizona Public Service, WAPA, you know, a
  

19   lot of people use this corridor, use this line, and
  

20   creating additional capacity with modern equipment is
  

21   going to be kind of instrumental for future growth.
  

22            Secondly, we bring -- so that's the intra
  

23   benefits, intra-regional benefits, which is within the
  

24   Arizona region.  We then bring inter-regional benefits by
  

25   connecting with our circuit, the TEP system at Vail with
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 1   the El Paso Electric System west of El Paso, creating a
  

 2   new inter-regional line that allows Arizona utilities to
  

 3   both, you know, balance across utility seams with New
  

 4   Mexico utilities, but also reach generation sources, et
  

 5   cetera, along the line.
  

 6            So the beauty of alternating current is, you
  

 7   know, anyone can plug in and we facilitate, you know, an
  

 8   open and competitive process to do so, and typically,
  

 9   we'll work with utilities to run those processes.  So
  

10   we're not picking winners and losers, but we are
  

11   providing a huge amount of access across hundreds of
  

12   miles.
  

13            So from a reliability and resiliency
  

14   perspective, there's the inter- and intra-regional
  

15   benefits that this provides and, you know, this upgrade
  

16   segment that we're talking about today is a critical
  

17   piece of that.
  

18                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

20                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Following up, Mr. Phillips,
  

21   on Member Little's earlier question about the 1,000
  

22   current projection and your statement that the
  

23   transmission lines are large enough that that could grow,
  

24   what's the kind of the -- the graph, how much growth
  

25   could it -- could it be with those current transmission

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

59

  

 1   lines?  What's the max end of that?
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, that's a great
  

 3   question.
  

 4                 So I think we can separate the circuits and
  

 5   look at them individually, but the 345 circuit is rated
  

 6   for 17- -- 15- to 1,700 MVA, so with specific voltage
  

 7   support, specific connections at different substations,
  

 8   you could increase, I mean, the initial capacity could be
  

 9   probably up to a thousand megawatts, 800 to a thousand.
  

10   You could definitely increase it to I think 12- to 1,400
  

11   megawatts, potentially, maybe more.  It's really
  

12   dependent on the substations, and kind of the conditions
  

13   of the existing grid.  So that's one circuit we think
  

14   could probably do a 20 to 40 percent increase, depending
  

15   on the upgrades that get added later.
  

16                 On the WAPA circuit, we are designing the
  

17   transmission to be 230 capable.  These are existing 115
  

18   substations, and so there are certain limitations along
  

19   those substations that will limit the total capacity of
  

20   the line until they are upgraded.  But as part of the
  

21   project that we're working on on the Vail to Tortolita
  

22   project, you know, the long-term plans are once the
  

23   transmission is built, those substation upgrades are more
  

24   likely to be quickly done, because utilities can do it in
  

25   small batches.
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 1                 So the upgrading there, I mean, I think
  

 2   it's probably 50 to 100 percent capacity on that line for
  

 3   the upgrades, I meant, or the upgrade line, from 115 to
  

 4   230.
  

 5                 MR. PATTERSON:  Yeah, maybe even more.
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, so I mean, I think the
  

 7   current line is --
  

 8                 MR. PATTERSON:  120 megawatts.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  -- 120 megawatts, and we
  

10   think that 230 line could definitely double or even more
  

11   than that when operating at full capability.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  That's fairly significant
  

13   and much appreciated.  The -- I recognize that you're
  

14   talking about substations, the plug-in, so to speak, to
  

15   the line is the current constraint or the constraint
  

16   about which you spoke, as I understand.  And the
  

17   upgrading of the substations, obviously not a part of
  

18   our -- our purview at this point or this CEC, but that's
  

19   relatively inexpensive compared to the line itself; is
  

20   that correct?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is correct.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So that, let's say, the
  

23   TEP, or whoever is an offtaker, would be able to upgrade
  

24   a series of the substations along the line, the capacity
  

25   might go even above what you just gave us; is that fair
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 1   to say?
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  When is the
  

 4   construction of this portion that we're talking about on
  

 5   this CEC, when is your start date if you get approvals
  

 6   and what's your actual activating of the line date
  

 7   projected?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, so we are intending to
  

 9   break ground -- the goal is to break ground toward the
  

10   end of 2026, so this year.  In late kind of winter
  

11   timeframe of this year.  The challenge with this segment
  

12   is it does have to be brought offline to construct
  

13   because it's an active line, and so we have to schedule
  

14   outages with the underlying utilities.  And so we're
  

15   working right now with utilities to schedule those
  

16   outages.  And at the end of the day, they're going to be
  

17   dependent on those utilities ensuring they can serve
  

18   their customers in times of need.
  

19                 So they won't take that line down unless
  

20   they know they can serve all the customers served by it.
  

21   So it's an ongoing process to determine the outage
  

22   windows we can construct in.  And so right now we've been
  

23   discussing trying to utilize an existing outage that's
  

24   planned at the end of this year through 2027.  So it's --
  

25   the goal is to start construction in that timeframe and
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 1   then schedule future outages as needed.  And then the
  

 2   goal to be online by the end of 2028.
  

 3                 MR. KRYDER:  Okay.  So ASAP is really
  

 4   critical if you look at the offtakers who are going to be
  

 5   using this and building the mine, building the data
  

 6   center, et cetera, et cetera, as I would understand from
  

 7   your explanation?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Transmission is usually the
  

 9   long pole in the tent on these sorts of things.  And the
  

10   quicker you can build a transmission, the easier it is
  

11   for utilities to start to make long-term decisions on
  

12   resourcing and load.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you very much.
  

14   That's very helpful.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you have a
  

16   question?
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

18                 I like that long pole in the tent.
  

19                 I'm wondering who will own, operate, and
  

20   dispatch which line?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, so the current CEC
  

22   proposes that WAPA would own and operate its circuit,
  

23   that would be the 230 circuit, and that Southline would
  

24   own and operate the 345 circuit, Southline or if we end
  

25   up selling a portion or the whole line to any underlying
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 1   utilities, be managed by those utilities.  So separate
  

 2   based on the circuit.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  And what about
  

 4   dispatch?
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think it's the same.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So you're going to be
  

 7   looking for contractual use of the line, correct?
  

 8                 MR. PATTERSON:  Either that or, as
  

 9   Mr. Phillips described, if we had utility participation,
  

10   if the utilities participated and then they participated
  

11   in the line, they would own or operate their portion.
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Does that mean they just
  

14   buy, they would -- say the line cost X and they're going
  

15   to take 25 percent of the capacity on that line, would
  

16   they just pay you 25 percent of X to have -- to own that
  

17   portion of the line?  How would that work?
  

18                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That's effectively how it
  

19   could work, you know, you could divide it up.  They could
  

20   take a portion of capacity and they could take a portion
  

21   of ownership.  So I think there's a difference between
  

22   they could own just the rights for capacity on the line
  

23   or they could actually own infrastructure on the line.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, which it could go
  

25   either way, you don't know which way it's going to go
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 1   yet?
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But if it's just capacity
  

 4   that means they're paying you for use of the line,
  

 5   correct?
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But if they pay for just
  

 8   the capacity to just have it available, right, and then
  

 9   there's -- when they actually wield power through it
  

10   there's an additional charge?
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think typically it was
  

12   priced a firm price for them to use or not use, and it's
  

13   paid -- like, your refund rate is for, let's say, they
  

14   buy 100 megawatts of capacity, they have the right to use
  

15   that at any time and we're paid for that 100 megawatts
  

16   and the price assumes that they are using it.  We
  

17   don't -- you wouldn't have price just to reserve and then
  

18   also price to use.  It would be -- typically to finance a
  

19   project you do a long-term contract, so, you know, 20- to
  

20   30-year contract where they're paying a certain price for
  

21   that capacity, whether they use it or not.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So then say I'm a
  

23   utility, an Arizona utility, and I bought X amount of
  

24   capacity, if I'm not using it, who else gets to use it?
  

25   They have to contract with me to get the capacity that I
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 1   own from me, but I have to allow them to use it, I can't
  

 2   block it, I can't own the capacity and sit on it and let
  

 3   it not go used, right?
  

 4                 MR. BECK:  That's correct, Mr. Chairman.
  

 5   By FERC rules it has to be made available to anybody else
  

 6   that might want it.  And therein it's the question of who
  

 7   has control of that to make it available to others.  It
  

 8   could either be the entity that purchased that portion
  

 9   and they post it as available or it reverts back to the
  

10   Southline group to do that on behalf of the line.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then so this -- the
  

12   WAPA line, it's currently a 115-kV line, it's going to
  

13   get upgraded 230-kV, are they going to operate it when
  

14   it's 115-kV initially until they do the improvements to
  

15   the substations, then?
  

16                 MR. BECK:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  It will be
  

17   operated at 115 until such time as they convert all of
  

18   the interconnecting stations to 230.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  Is that line maxed
  

20   out for their purposes?
  

21                 MR. BECK:  It's pretty close to being maxed
  

22   out, yes.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But they don't have any
  

24   capacity, so if they can't -- so no one else can wield
  

25   power on that current line because there's just not the
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 1   capacity to do it?
  

 2                 MR. BECK:  Correct.  There may be certain
  

 3   hours where there's some available, but for the most part
  

 4   it's already -- you know, it's fully utilized.  And there
  

 5   again, Western has their embedded customers.  They have
  

 6   just sufficient capacity to serve their customers as-is,
  

 7   but no capacity to really -- for increasing load and so
  

 8   on, so they have to find other ways to do that until they
  

 9   get transmission upgrades.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So now Southline's
  

11   going to build both circuits, correct?  But then WAPA is
  

12   going to own and operate the 230?
  

13                 MR. BECK:  They will own the structures, I
  

14   believe, or still to be determined.  But at least in the
  

15   case of the Tucson Electric project, WAPA owned the
  

16   structures, but -- and they own their own circuit, and
  

17   then TEP owned their own circuit.  But they haven't
  

18   finalized on an agreement yet with Western, so --
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So is WAPA getting
  

20   this upgrade at no cost to them, or their members?
  

21                 MR. BECK:  Basically, yes.  That's the big
  

22   benefit fit to both WAPA and their customers is they get
  

23   this new wire, new poles, additional capacity, in
  

24   exchange for the use of the right-of-way and being able
  

25   to hang another circuit on their poles.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But then WAPA will have to
  

 2   pony up the dough to upgrade the substations to operate
  

 3   at 230-kV and really unleash that additional potential,
  

 4   right?
  

 5                 MR. BECK:  Either them or other entities or
  

 6   utilities that might choose to do it for them.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Someone else
  

 8   could still do that to open up the capacity on those
  

 9   lines, then?
  

10                 MR. BECK:  Yes, correct.  For example, if
  

11   Arizona Electric Power wanted to get some more capacity,
  

12   they could negotiate with Western to say, okay, we want
  

13   to convert this one and this one and this one, but the
  

14   thing is it has to be done at all those interconnection
  

15   points because you can't --
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Because the whole
  

17   segment's got to be either on a 115 or a 230 system --
  

18                 MR. BECK:  Correct.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- you can't -- you can't
  

20   have -- you can't run a 230-kV into the 115-kV without
  

21   dropping down to 115-kV when it gets there, right?
  

22                 MR. BECK:  Only to the extent you could
  

23   have a portion of the line converted to 230, either
  

24   upstream or downstream.  But it would only be a segment
  

25   of the line.
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  Okay.  And that
  

 2   doesn't get you where you need to be and have additional
  

 3   capacity move throughout their system as a whole?
  

 4                 MR. BECK:  Yes.
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 6                 Ms. Grabel.
  

 7   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 8       Q.   Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

 9            Mr. Phillips, I believe you were continuing on
  

10   slide 31 or maybe 32 at point, 33.
  

11       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yeah, I will.  Yeah, I think we
  

12   covered that, so -- and we've talked a little bit about
  

13   this with the questions, but the second purpose and need
  

14   focus was mitigating existing congestion in the existing
  

15   transmission system of Southern Arizona.  Generally we've
  

16   discussed the WAPA circuit and the challenges it has to
  

17   deliver additional power, and the goal here with the
  

18   upgrade plus the inter-regional connection that we're
  

19   adding is that we're significantly opening up the
  

20   available transmission capacity across Southeastern
  

21   Arizona and Southwestern New Mexico, so increasing the
  

22   region's import capability, increasing operational
  

23   flexibility by allowing them to transfer power across the
  

24   line and balance with New Mexico utilities and generally
  

25   help the Arizona utilities access new resources with this
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 1   available transmission capacity that will become
  

 2   available because of the project.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so with the -- looking
  

 4   at the Southline project as a whole and not just the
  

 5   rebuild section, that's going to open up the capacity
  

 6   for, say, utilities in New Mexico, like PNM, to sell
  

 7   power into CAISO and buy power from CAISO?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So we -- for the New Mexico
  

 9   question, we connect to the El Paso Electric system, but
  

10   PNM does own the actual gas plant at that location so has
  

11   transmission rights in that area.  Additionally, we go
  

12   directly adjacent to two major substations in Arizona --
  

13   excuse me -- in New Mexico, the Hidalgo Substation and
  

14   the Luna Substation.  So additional connections could be
  

15   created there to serve additional utilities.
  

16                 On the question relating to CAISO, our
  

17   focus is the TEP connection point, and we do not have any
  

18   rights further down the line than that.  So, effectively,
  

19   we are focused on delivery into Arizona -- to serve
  

20   Arizona utility, deliver into New Mexico to serve those
  

21   utilities, and to create that connection.  But on the
  

22   other ends, CAISO, SVP, ERCOT, not really in the
  

23   project's purview.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  It's primarily from
  

25   where the line is, I guess, west of where -- of the
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 1   Tortolita, I guess that's the most western segment of the
  

 2   line, right?  They have to wield it some other way, but
  

 3   I'm just saying if they can get it to there, this allows
  

 4   it to move all the way to the El Paso system.
  

 5                 And does that feed into Texas or is that
  

 6   just -- because I know there's limited import/export
  

 7   capabilities into Texas?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, El Paso is not in
  

 9   ERCOT, it's actually in S -- or it's in the WECC market.
  

10   So El Paso has a New Mexico and Texas service territory,
  

11   but it is intertwined.  And they're not limited by the
  

12   rules relating to ERCOT, because they are outside of
  

13   ERCOT.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  But they can import
  

15   and export into ERCOT?
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I believe they have some
  

17   connections, but it's really limited connections.  Yeah,
  

18   those HVDC facilities are challenged right now on ERCOT's
  

19   grid.  And I'm out of Houston, so I live that life.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Thank you.
  

21   Appreciate that.
  

22                 So -- but this line would allow developers
  

23   to build new generation at any point along this route and
  

24   then inject it into the Western grid, and it's going to
  

25   flow to where this line is but there's other connections
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 1   that would now allow it to go other places, then, right?
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

 3                 MR. PATTERSON:  Correct.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And that ties really well
  

 5   with, you know, some of the goals here, but generally to
  

 6   your -- to your point, the available generation, new
  

 7   generation resources in Southeastern Arizona and New
  

 8   Mexico are significant.  It's not just solar, it's not
  

 9   just wind, it's not just gas, it's all of the above.  So
  

10   significant gas build-up happening, significant existing
  

11   gas layout happening, solar and wind under development,
  

12   batteries under development, geothermal is in
  

13   Southwestern New Mexico a big resource that's being
  

14   developed.
  

15                 So we are hearing from a lot of different
  

16   potential opportunities that Arizona utilities could find
  

17   the best most competitive resources from.  And so our
  

18   goal is just to open up the transmission capacity, but
  

19   let Arizona decide where it wants to get its power.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Thank you.
  

21   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

22       Q.   Please continue, Mr. Phillips.
  

23       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) We've covered all this.
  

24            I just, you know, the final two purpose and
  

25   needs, increasing Arizona utilities' ability to support
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 1   regional demand growth.  We've talked about the need for
  

 2   additional transmission capacity and creating new
  

 3   connections between load areas like El Paso and Tucson.
  

 4   This line does that.  And then again the upgrade to the
  

 5   WAPA segment would create a new connection that could be
  

 6   utilized by the existing utilities.
  

 7            And then, we just mentioned this, but getting
  

 8   access to new generation resources is the name of the
  

 9   game to keeping power prices low, and making sure you
  

10   have competitive solicitations.  And so the goal here is
  

11   there's a huge resource capability across the gambit of
  

12   generation sources, and this project helps allow
  

13   utilities the ability to make competitive solicitations,
  

14   competitive decisions, and pick resources that meet both
  

15   the goals of Arizona, the goals of the United States,
  

16   generally serve their need to the best of their ability.
  

17   And we are here to focus on the transmission.
  

18            And I'll just leave it with, I talked about this
  

19   at the beginning, but these were the same purpose and
  

20   needs that were identified in 2017.  From our
  

21   perspective, the need has only grown significantly, and
  

22   so we think that this project still provides a really
  

23   significant opportunity to expand transmission system in
  

24   Arizona.  This segment of line is a critical component of
  

25   that.  And we think that the purpose and need is really
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 1   even more critical than it was four or five years ago
  

 2   when it was originally reviewed.
  

 3            CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, thank you.  I think before
  

 4   we get to the NEPA portion, I think we're due for a
  

 5   break, and I'm sure the court reporter could use one.  So
  

 6   with that, let's take a 10- to 15-minute recess.
  

 7                 (Recessed from 2:28 p.m. until 2:48 p.m.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

 9   record.
  

10                 Ms. Grabel, I believe we were about to
  

11   enter the NEPA portion of the testimony.
  

12                 MS. GRABEL:  That is correct, Mr. Chairman.
  

13   And this is actually very brief because we're going to
  

14   spend most of our time on the environmental stuff and
  

15   what we've done in panel two.
  

16       Q.   But I believe, Mr. Patterson, you are kicking
  

17   off the NEPA overview?
  

18       A.   (MR. PATTERSON) I am.  Thank you.
  

19            So I will be brief because we touched on some of
  

20   this and we'll go into more in depth later on, but in
  

21   summary, there's been a very extensive process, both with
  

22   outreach, initiating, and really scoping the project
  

23   before formal permitting started and continued outreach
  

24   and engagement that happened over the last 15 years, that
  

25   helped feed into the formal permitting process that the
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 1   federal agencies took forward under NEPA.  That led to a
  

 2   comprehensive analysis and a full Environmental Impact
  

 3   Statement that was over 1,500 pages in four volumes.
  

 4   And, critically, for what we're talking about here, the
  

 5   portion of the line that we're evaluating, Apache to
  

 6   Vail, was evaluated under NEPA.
  

 7            Yeah, and similarly, I will just try to
  

 8   summarize a little bit of the CEC application context.
  

 9   Much of this has been covered already, but -- but
  

10   generally speaking, just to zoom out, there have been
  

11   kind of three stages of the Southline CEC process.  The
  

12   initial CEC that Ms. Gragel -- Ms. Grabel, apologies,
  

13   outlined.  And that -- the full scope of the project at
  

14   that time involved the construction of 370 miles of new
  

15   and upgraded transmission lines, you know, similarly
  

16   connecting New Mexico and Arizona.  At that time of the
  

17   original CEC, that included, in Arizona, 67 miles of a
  

18   new-build line from the state line of New Mexico over to
  

19   Apache.  And it included the new portions to connect to
  

20   the existing WAPA 121-mile line.
  

21            But, as mentioned before, the WAPA -- the full
  

22   WAPA line at that time from Apache to Saguaro and
  

23   Tortolita, 121 miles, the commercial construct was that
  

24   Southline was going to fund, and WAPA would construct and
  

25   own the line.  And Southline and WAPA would share
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 1   capacity rights.  That was the initial structure that we
  

 2   were taking forward.  And because of that, as Ms. Grabel
  

 3   outlined before, since WAPA would own and was looking
  

 4   at -- to be the constructor of the project as a federal
  

 5   entity, that portion of the upgrade did -- we did not
  

 6   pursue a CEC in the initial CEC process.
  

 7            But during that process, the full NEPA
  

 8   Environmental Impact Statement and RODs were all included
  

 9   and adopted into -- into the record and were part of the
  

10   overall deliberations and determinations and conditions
  

11   that applied to Southline.  Moving on to the amendment
  

12   for Vail-Tortolita, this was also touched on.  This was,
  

13   again, driven not by any change in permitting or those
  

14   types of circumstances, it was driven by the evolution of
  

15   the commercial construct, where in our discussions and
  

16   negotiations with Tucson Electric Power it, for a lot of
  

17   different reasons, made more sense for a commercial
  

18   construct for TEP to own and operate its own circuit, as
  

19   opposed to just having capacity rights.  And so we -- we
  

20   worked with TEP to sell them the rights for the Vail to
  

21   Tortolita portion.
  

22            And then under that changed structure, TEP,
  

23   Southline, and WAPA worked together to really rescope
  

24   that commercial construct.  And based on that, you know,
  

25   change, came back to the Line Siting Committee to amend
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 1   the Vail to Tortolita segment.  And Mr. Beck can jump in
  

 2   if I say anything wrong or if he wants to add anything,
  

 3   but --
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  One thing to add,
  

 5   Mr. Chairman, you asked about the Vail to Tortolita route
  

 6   previously.  So in dark green, starting at the Vail
  

 7   Substation, we've got the Vail to Tortolita route on
  

 8   there so that folks can visualize it.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so that's a
  

10   double-circuit 230-kV, with one operated by WAPA and one
  

11   operated by TEP?
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is correct.
  

13                 MR. PATTERSON:  Again, with the WAPA
  

14   circuit currently 230-capable, operated at 15, yes.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

16                 MR. PATTERSON:  Okay.  And did I skip a
  

17   slide?  So -- all right.  And so just to close out the
  

18   summary here, and Ms. Grabel already has gone over much
  

19   of this, but our request, you know, here today would
  

20   really allow Southline to construct and to own one of the
  

21   circuits on this WAPA upgraded line, as opposed to WAPA
  

22   owning and constructing the line, and that really -- that
  

23   fundamental change has brought us back to amend our CEC
  

24   here.
  

25                 And the other point to make is, as
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 1   Ms. Grabel mentioned, there is a condition in our prior
  

 2   CE- -- in our prior CEC, Condition 31 would really be
  

 3   superfluous if this motion is -- if our amendment is
  

 4   granted.
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I will be providing a bit
  

 6   more detail on the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route,
  

 7   providing an overview of some of the specifics related to
  

 8   the design and the routing for the CEC corridor that
  

 9   we're requesting.  So, to start, we've discussed this,
  

10   the 115-kilovolt line is planned to be replaced with a
  

11   57-mile double-circuit 230/345 above-ground transmission
  

12   line, which we are calling the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

13   route, as noted, operated at 115 initially, pending the
  

14   substation upgrades.  Begins at the existing AEPCO,
  

15   Arizona Electric Power Cooperative, Apache Substation and
  

16   terminates at the existing Tucson Electric Power Vail
  

17   Substation.
  

18                 As part of the route the existing WAPA
  

19   right-of-way crosses federal, state, county and privately
  

20   owned tracks.  Some of the specifics related to the
  

21   design upgrade -- the design of the upgrade, we have the
  

22   designation relating to the existing line in the center
  

23   column, on slide 54, and then the proposed changes to the
  

24   route on the right column, proposed specifically, I think
  

25   it's worth highlighting, the H-frame wooden structures
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 1   that are currently in place, with a height range up to 75
  

 2   feet, replacing them with tubular monopole steel
  

 3   structures with an average height range in the 130- to
  

 4   140-foot range with a few structures taller, specifically
  

 5   for crossing existing infrastructure.
  

 6                 So how these high-voltage lines are
  

 7   constructed, the higher voltage has to go on top of the
  

 8   lower voltage, so when we cross a 115 or 230, we have to
  

 9   go on top of that, which means we'll have a few
  

10   structures that are absurdly tall compared to the average
  

11   structure, but generally aiming to keep it under
  

12   200 feet.
  

13                 Worth mentioning, we are proposing two
  

14   potential types of finish on those structures, either a
  

15   dulled galvanized which, quote-unquote, would be gray or
  

16   steel-colored, or weathering steel, which is the
  

17   rust-colored.  As I mentioned, and I'll go into more with
  

18   public comment we've received, seems to be a preference
  

19   for rust weathering color.  So that's kind of our
  

20   priority.
  

21                 On the right-of-way, the existing WAPA line
  

22   has 100-foot-wide right-of-way on private lands and state
  

23   lands.  We are aiming to maintain that 100-foot
  

24   right-of-way on all private lands, BLM, Forest Service,
  

25   as to not create additional impacts.  We are working with
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 1   State Land to extend to 150-foot right-of-way.  And the
  

 2   goal there being the wider the right-of-way, the wider we
  

 3   can span the poles and reduce the number of poles.  So
  

 4   trying to minimize impact on affected landowners --
  

 5   private landowners by just keeping it within the existing
  

 6   right-of-way, which might be more poles, but we're more
  

 7   likely to be able to replace pole for pole, and not
  

 8   impact new folks or extend kind of into yards, et cetera.
  

 9   But on State Land that's typically undeveloped, doesn't
  

10   have additional infrastructure, it's an option to work
  

11   with the State to expand that right-of-way, so that's
  

12   what we're working on.
  

13                 And then just to mention the structure
  

14   count, the existing line 416 of the wooden H-frame poles,
  

15   right now the detail design is still underway, but we're
  

16   projecting an approximately 5 to 10 percent decrease,
  

17   right now targeting about 377 towers.  And that's really
  

18   simply due to the longer span length between towers.  The
  

19   75-foot towers just have to be a little closer together
  

20   than the taller towers.
  

21                 I might pass this just really quickly --
  

22   we're going to cover all of this exact information in the
  

23   virtual overview and I will go through these distances,
  

24   so this is a good reference point, but I will be
  

25   providing a really complex overview of the site that goes
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 1   through all of these existing routes, so I'll just
  

 2   mention --
  

 3                 MR. PATTERSON:  Comprehensive, not complex.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  Somewhat complex.
  

 5   Comprehensive overview where we'll follow the Google
  

 6   Earth along the ground for all these routes, so I'll
  

 7   cover that in detail in a few minutes.
  

 8                 But what I do want to mention is the
  

 9   57 miles, you know, we cross Pima and Cochise County.  We
  

10   are following the existing right-of-way.  There is one
  

11   segment worth mentioning, which is the final two miles
  

12   that connects the Vail Substation.  So the Vail
  

13   Substation is approximately two miles from the existing
  

14   WAPA corridor.  So there's a due north turn that has to
  

15   be done to connect to that substation.  That was approved
  

16   under the 2021 CEC amendment that TEP filed, and we're
  

17   going to be sharing structures with TEP on -- once they
  

18   complete that segment, there will be one arm open,
  

19   because it's a double-circuit tower and we'll be sharing
  

20   structures with TEP.  So it's already within the CEC, so
  

21   there will be a gap in the application today for that
  

22   two-mile segment, but that's because it's already been
  

23   approved under 2021.  And so our CEC runs the whole
  

24   remaining route that we need to be approved.
  

25                 And just a quick overview of the requested
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 1   CEC corridor, because we did request a variable corridor,
  

 2   but for good reason.  On the -- on all private lands and
  

 3   Pima County-owned lands, we're requesting 100-foot-wide
  

 4   CEC corridor, consistent with my comment of trying to
  

 5   minimize impact on these sensitive stakeholders, except
  

 6   at one location, the San Pedro River crossing, where
  

 7   we're requesting 150 feet, and the purpose there is
  

 8   actually to minimize impact.
  

 9                 As I mentioned earlier, the wider corridor
  

10   allows you to lengthen the span between poles, and the
  

11   goal at the San Pedro crossing, which I will run through
  

12   on the virtual tour, is to span the riparian corridors,
  

13   so we're not having to impact any areas that don't
  

14   already have poles.  And the goal there is request a
  

15   little additional width and be able to pull our poles out
  

16   of the riparian corridor.  So that's the goal there.  We
  

17   do not plan to install any structures outside of the
  

18   existing right-of-way on private land.
  

19                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Quick question,
  

22   Mr. Phillips.  Are there existing wooden structures in
  

23   the riparian area now?
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  There are -- there is a WAPA
  

25   crossing at the riparian area.  These structures are
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 1   right on the edge of the green space, so on the eastern
  

 2   side of the San Pedro River, it's in an agricultural
  

 3   area, so cleared.  On the western side it's at the edge
  

 4   of the City of Benson Golf Course, so there is some more
  

 5   green space, but it's right on the edge, and so the goal
  

 6   being with the additional span we can -- we can ensure
  

 7   that our towers are either at those locations that are
  

 8   already disturbed or further away.
  

 9                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And what's the current span
  

10   between those that you said are on the east side over to
  

11   the golf course?  Back of the envelope.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I don't have that number.
  

13   We will be able to get it before the next break, though.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yeah, and I know you're
  

15   still doing engineering, but -- so did I hear that your
  

16   intent would be to make that span even greater,
  

17   potentially, than it currently is?
  

18                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Equal to or greater, with
  

19   the goal of utilizing existing disturbed footprint.  So
  

20   if we can take the pole out and put a new pole in, you
  

21   know, we're not disturbing new riparian corridor.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you.
  

24   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

25       Q.   Mr. Phillips, just to refresh your recollection,
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 1   is it a 1,000-foot span currently?
  

 2       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Excuse me?
  

 3       Q.   Is it a 1,000-foot span currently, to refresh
  

 4   your recollection?
  

 5       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) I --
  

 6       A.   (MR. BECK) Yes.
  

 7       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Okay.  Yes.  Sorry.
  

 8       Q.   Group text chain.
  

 9       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yeah, I'm sorry.  I'm not looking
  

10   at it.  1,000-foot span currently.
  

11                 MEMBER KRYDER:  You guys are good.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  On U.S. Forest Service
  

13   administered lands, we're requesting 100-foot CEC
  

14   corridor, which is consistent with the existing
  

15   right-of-way, and we have no structures planned outside
  

16   of the existing WAPA right-of-way on U.S. Forest Service
  

17   administered lands.
  

18                 On BLM, we're requesting a 150-feet-wide
  

19   CEC corridor, which is consistent with the existing WAPA
  

20   right-of-way.  Again, we're not intending to put any
  

21   poles outside of the existing WAPA right-of-way on BLM
  

22   lands.  And then on Arizona State Land, we're requesting
  

23   a 300-foot-wide corridor, specifically the right-of-way
  

24   would be no more than 150 feet within the 300-foot CEC
  

25   corridor, but it will allow some design flexibility as we
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 1   get into detail design to have a little bit wider
  

 2   corridor than the intended right-of-way.
  

 3                 So still, for the most part, intending to
  

 4   be along the center line, but there could be reasons to
  

 5   shift, you know, a few feet on either side, so looking
  

 6   for a little bit wider CEC corridor to work with State
  

 7   Land for an optimized route.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And what's the final
  

 9   right-of-way going to be for this section of the line?
  

10                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So it will be variable as
  

11   well.  On private lands we're not intending to extend
  

12   beyond the existing 100 feet.  On state lands we are
  

13   trying to work with State Land to extend to 150 feet from
  

14   100 feet, pending their approval and their support for
  

15   that.  And then on BLM land, I believe WAPA extended
  

16   their right-of-way a few years back to 150 feet, so
  

17   maintaining that.
  

18                 So it varies between 100 and 150 feet, just
  

19   depending on the stakeholder and trying to utilize the
  

20   existing WAPA right-of-way, which is variable as well.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And the maximum width of
  

22   the corridor is 300 feet?
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  That seems like a pretty
  

25   small corridor compared to what we've dealt with in the
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 1   past.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.  WAPA has their line
  

 3   and we're trying to -- I mean, reroutes are expensive and
  

 4   then also just they've got a clear route that's connected
  

 5   and it's -- it's designed around a lot of the
  

 6   environmental constraints when it was originally
  

 7   installed, and so we're trying to just utilize that
  

 8   existing route to the maximum extent we can.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

10                 Member Little?
  

11                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

12                 In the executive summary, the application,
  

13   there's a paragraph that talks about the upgrade section
  

14   all the way between Apache and Tortolita.  It said, "The
  

15   routing study did not identify any viable alternatives to
  

16   the proposed upgrade of the existing Western line.
  

17   Alternative upgrade route segment H, however, could be
  

18   used as an option to rebuild the Western line in the
  

19   Benson area."
  

20                 As I read it, that segment H is within the
  

21   segment that we're considering here; is that correct?
  

22                 MR. PATTERSON:  I -- I need to look at the
  

23   map, Member Little, but I believe you're correct.  I
  

24   believe that was an alternative that followed the AEPCO
  

25   230 line around Benson, that was --

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

86

  

 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Correct.
  

 2                 MR. PATTERSON:  -- evaluated.  Yeah.
  

 3                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's what I understood.
  

 4                 Is that being -- still being considered or
  

 5   was that discussion relative to the study that was done
  

 6   prior to the original CEC?
  

 7                 MR. PATTERSON:  So I'll speak, and I may
  

 8   have to be corrected from Ms. Bellavia later, but my
  

 9   recollection is that was considered and evaluated in the
  

10   NEPA process.  And -- but it was determined to have more
  

11   overall impacts, and so the preferred alternative was to
  

12   upgrade the WAPA line in place.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  So we're looking at
  

14   the entire length of the segment between Apache and Vail
  

15   will upgrade the -- will use the existing 115-kV line
  

16   right-of-way?
  

17                 MR. PATTERSON:  Correct.  Except for at the
  

18   end connection to Vail, the two miles.
  

19                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Right.  Right.  That's
  

20   already in the existing CEC.
  

21                 MR. PATTERSON:  That's correct.
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So, finally, before -- oh,
  

24   no.  So a little bit additional detail on permit status
  

25   overview of coordination with non-CEC permit and
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 1   jurisdiction agencies.  I'm going to give a brief
  

 2   overview of a number of different entities that we are
  

 3   coordinating with to support the project.  So the first
  

 4   is the BLM under the NEPA process and through a BLM
  

 5   right-of-way grant.  So WAPA has an existing right-of-way
  

 6   grant for the current right-of-way.  We are coordinating
  

 7   with BLM and WAPA to determine if any amendments are
  

 8   needed, but we do not plan to expand the right-of-way
  

 9   beyond the existing grant.
  

10                 So ongoing coordination is happening and
  

11   will continue to happen throughout the project, because
  

12   they're both agencies that issued Records of Decision on
  

13   the project and so we'll be reviewing all of our
  

14   preconstruction filing, but we do not intend to extend
  

15   the right-of-way at all on BLM property.
  

16                 U.S. Forest Service is in a similar
  

17   situation.  The Coronado National Forest has land in
  

18   Arizona that is being crossed by the route.  WAPA holds a
  

19   Special Use Permit for the current right-of-way which
  

20   we're not intending to expand.
  

21                 Arizona State Land Department, as I
  

22   mentioned, we are intending to work with them and are
  

23   working with them on amendments to the State Land
  

24   right-of-way, so that is one that will be done in
  

25   coordination -- completed in coordination with Arizona
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 1   State Land.  The goal being to secure their support,
  

 2   similar to what they've been doing on Vail-Tortolita to
  

 3   expand the right-of-way 50 feet, depending on the
  

 4   existing infrastructure in the area and the availability
  

 5   of State Land.  So that's in process right now.
  

 6                 Arizona Department of Transportation, we
  

 7   have a number of I-10 crossings on this project.  It is
  

 8   where the WAPA line crosses the existing I-10 corridor,
  

 9   so we are coordinating with Arizona DOT.  Typically this
  

10   is a preconstruction application for wire crossing and
  

11   encroachment for construction activities, but we're not
  

12   securing additional right-of-way on DOT property.
  

13                 And then any applicable building and
  

14   commercial permits for the different jurisdictions in
  

15   which we cross, Cochise County, City of Benson, Pima
  

16   County, and the City of Tucson, again, these are
  

17   typically preconstruction permits.  This line is in place
  

18   currently.  So when you think about long-term planning
  

19   and zoning, there is a line already existing in these
  

20   locations.  And so typically what this looks like is road
  

21   use agreements, any encroachments necessary, any
  

22   preconstruction applications and building permits, but
  

23   handled within a few months or six to a few months prior
  

24   to construction.
  

25                 But we are -- through the CEC process, we
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 1   have been coordinating with all these entities and we
  

 2   will continue to do so throughout 2026 and leading up to
  

 3   construction.
  

 4                 MR. BECK:  Okay.  Just to review, again,
  

 5   key project specifications, as you've already heard, the
  

 6   project is planning to remove the existing WAPA H-frame
  

 7   structures, approximately 416 of them, and replace them
  

 8   with steel poles.  The existing WAPA structures have
  

 9   reached the end of their useful life.  The typical life
  

10   of a wood pool is 30 to 50 years, and under optimal
  

11   conditions 70 years.  And these poles are probably
  

12   75 years old.
  

13                 Again, to fund maintenance and replacement,
  

14   WAPA must get customer approval and they have not had the
  

15   ability to do that yet to convert the existing 115 to
  

16   230, so this project will give them an opportunity to get
  

17   new poles, new wire, and provide the additional capacity
  

18   that a 230 circuit -- circuit can provide, subject to
  

19   upgrades at the substations.
  

20                 The structures to replace the wood poles
  

21   are tubular steel monopoles, as shown on the screen on
  

22   the right on slide 64.  The poles will have a slightly
  

23   smaller footprint than the existing H-frame-type
  

24   structures since they're a single shaft.  Size, as
  

25   mentioned, average height for the project, 138 feet,
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 1   maximum height of up to 205 for a few locations.  But, in
  

 2   reality, Southline will endeavor to keep the poles at
  

 3   200 feet or below because of additional FAA requirements
  

 4   when you exceed 200 feet.  So they'll do whatever they
  

 5   can to not have to go exceeding 200 feet.
  

 6                 Project is requesting the option of either
  

 7   galvanized or weathering steel.  You've heard that
  

 8   there's been a preference from a lot of the community to
  

 9   use weathering steel, and from a project perspective, the
  

10   cost of weathering steel is better than galvanized
  

11   structures, so the plan is, for the most part, to use
  

12   weathering steel, unless other conditions require a
  

13   galvanized structure, such as a property owner request or
  

14   some governmental entity stepping in and making the case.
  

15                 Span lengths for the project, 300 to
  

16   1,400 feet.  And we show a minimum ground clearance of
  

17   28.6 feet for the 230 circuit and 29.1 feet for the 345
  

18   circuit.  While it's true there are different code
  

19   requirements by voltage, because of the symmetrical
  

20   nature of this line, both sides are going to be designed
  

21   to the 345 clearance.  So the 230 will actually have a
  

22   little bit additional clearance below the conductors.
  

23                 Again, the anticipated number of
  

24   structures, approximately 377, which would be 9 percent
  

25   fewer than what's out there today.  And this is because
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 1   the ability to use the longer spans, as previously
  

 2   mentioned.  The structure types are all provided in
  

 3   Exhibit G.  And just on the slide 64, you'll see that the
  

 4   left-hand side is the 345-kV circuit, and the right-hand
  

 5   side is 230-kV circuit.  Just to see that there's not a
  

 6   lot of difference, other than there's two conductors on
  

 7   the left and one on the right for each bundle.
  

 8                 So let's see.  We're good.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  The only thing I would add
  

10   is, you know, this is a typical design and we are in
  

11   detail kind of bringing the design from 60 percent to
  

12   preconstruction-level designs, so very minor changes
  

13   could happen between now and then, but this is the range
  

14   of potential heights and design that we expect from the
  

15   span length.  We don't expect major changes from height
  

16   or span differential here, because we have reached
  

17   60 percent design, which is really far advanced.
  

18                 MS. GRABEL:  I think that brings us to our
  

19   virtual tour.  We are prepared to do a full bus tour, but
  

20   it would be a full day's endeavor, and so to give you a
  

21   good comprehensive virtual tour, we actually prepared two
  

22   of them for you today.  One we filed as a supplemental
  

23   exhibit, and it is attempting -- excuse me -- to mimic
  

24   the bus tour and would be narrated by Mr. Phillips the
  

25   same way he would were we on a bus tour.

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

92

  

 1                 And, second, Mr. Agner will give kind of a
  

 2   higher level tour that zooms in on KOPs like the
  

 3   committee is used to seeing before.  So, collectively,
  

 4   these will probably take about 45 minutes, but I think
  

 5   you'll get a good comprehensive look at the route.
  

 6       Q.   So with that, I'm going to start with Mr. Agner,
  

 7   just because yours is numerically first.  So if you could
  

 8   turn to Exhibit SL-9.
  

 9       A.   (MR. AGNER) Okay.  I'm there.
  

10       Q.   SL-9 is the first virtual tour of this project
  

11   that was created, correct?
  

12       A.   (MR. AGNER) Correct.
  

13       Q.   And was SL-9 prepared by you or under your
  

14   direction and control?
  

15       A.   (MR. AGNER) It was.
  

16       Q.   And how did you prepare Exhibit SL-9?
  

17       A.   (MR. AGNER) So SL-9 was prepared by our visual
  

18   team at SWCA Environmental Consultants.  We took the
  

19   applicant's design that they provided for us and used the
  

20   appropriate software to superimpose that design into
  

21   aerial imagery, and then using our key observation points
  

22   we were able to fly into each KOP and provide you an
  

23   overview of the existing conditions and the simulated
  

24   conditions at each KOP.
  

25       Q.   All right.  Thank you.
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 1            And, Mr. Phillips, if you'll turn, you should
  

 2   have it loose on your desk because it was supplemental,
  

 3   late-filed this morning, Exhibit SL-17.  This is the
  

 4   supplement to the virtual tour, correct?
  

 5       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Yes.
  

 6       Q.   And we did provide this to each of the committee
  

 7   members present here on a thumb drive, to make sure you
  

 8   have it.
  

 9            Was SL-17 prepared by you or under your
  

10   direction and control?
  

11       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) It was.
  

12       Q.   And how did you prepare that tour?
  

13       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) So we, in addition to the work
  

14   that Colin's team did, we provided -- we created a Google
  

15   Earth overview of our route focused on the bus tour
  

16   locations and the WAPA center line to create a
  

17   landscape-level view for the committee to review the what
  

18   would be the bus tour.
  

19       Q.   Thank you.
  

20            And let's go ahead and start with Exhibit SL-17,
  

21   so Mr. Phillips, if you would like to do your bus tour
  

22   virtual presentation.
  

23       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Will do.
  

24            So just to set the stage, this is going to be a
  

25   walk-through.  We've videotaped going through the Google
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 1   Earth fly-through optionality.  We have overlaid a number
  

 2   of different important viewpoints, the WAPA center line,
  

 3   existing transmission infrastructure that I'll narrate as
  

 4   we go through it.  It is a fly-through.  I'll be pausing
  

 5   to discuss a few locations, but if you see anything that
  

 6   you have questions about, I have control here, so happy
  

 7   to pause and discuss if there's something that you have a
  

 8   question about or you see something interesting we're
  

 9   happy to stop and try to answer any questions along the
  

10   route.
  

11            Of note, this follows the bus tour route from
  

12   the east to the west.  You will be getting more detail
  

13   here, because there's a significant amount of the line
  

14   that's not accessible by public roads, especially on the
  

15   over 50 percent of State Land that we cross.  So this
  

16   will allow you to get a ground-level view along the full
  

17   100 percent of the route that will hopefully give you a
  

18   good picture of the landscape, and so we then move to
  

19   Colin's presentation about what the actual project will
  

20   look like.  But this just follows the route, it doesn't
  

21   actually model the proposed project at this time.
  

22            So in here on the yellow we have the proposed
  

23   57-mile route.  We are going to start on the eastern
  

24   side, as I mentioned, at the Apache station, which is
  

25   south of the Willcox Playa.  And I'll pause while we go
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 1   in that direction.
  

 2            Okay.  So the Apache station is owned and
  

 3   operated by Arizona Electric Power Cooperative, and it
  

 4   brings together a few different 115- and 230-kilovolt
  

 5   lines, in addition to existing on-site gas, coal, solar
  

 6   and battery energy storage -- energy generation and
  

 7   storage, all of which are served by AEPCO's existing
  

 8   lines and the WAPA 115 line.
  

 9            To set the stage, the bold yellow line here is
  

10   the kind of proposed center line.  It follows the WAPA
  

11   existing right-of-way, but it also is our proposed center
  

12   line for our corridor, and we have overlaid existing
  

13   high-voltage electric lines in the area with red lines,
  

14   so you'll see those and I'll talk through a few of those,
  

15   and we've also overlaid major land ownership sections for
  

16   our Arizona State Land, BLM, and the Forest Service.  And
  

17   I'll note those as well, as we progress.  Please feel
  

18   free to stop me if you do have any questions.
  

19            We're going to head west out of Apache.  We have
  

20   the first 11-mile segment, and I'll talk through and
  

21   we'll head due west a little bit south and then due west
  

22   out of Apache.  And this is in Cochise County, primarily
  

23   private lands with --
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Phillips?
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes, sir.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Could I pause you for a
  

 2   minute?
  

 3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Of course.
  

 4                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman.
  

 5                 In the reading, and I heard it somewhere in
  

 6   the presentation today, there was a discussion of service
  

 7   roads and the, I guess, need to upgrade some and access
  

 8   and build some more and so on.  And that seemed to be
  

 9   kind of a big deal.  And so as you go through, will you
  

10   be able to point some of that to us or is that something
  

11   we can see here or on Colin's presentation or one or the
  

12   other?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So, yes, we can see the
  

14   existing WAPA roads, and typically, and I'll voice just a
  

15   little bit, but typically we're trying to use the
  

16   existing center line route as much as possible.  So where
  

17   they have already developed the road, it may need
  

18   improvements, so some of these roads might be 12-foot
  

19   roads and we look for a 16-foot driving surface, so there
  

20   might need to be some improvements, but we try to utilize
  

21   existing road beds where we can.
  

22                 I will say, we do not have overlaid our
  

23   comprehensive road design.  It's one of the last things
  

24   that gets -- once we get the pole locations in and locked
  

25   down is when we then follow up with the road design.  So
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 1   I don't have a good file to show today with all of the
  

 2   roads.  But I think as we progress, especially on some of
  

 3   the more rural segments, it's very clear where the
  

 4   existing roads are.  And I can note it as we progress
  

 5   here.
  

 6                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And the roads in their
  

 7   final configuration, whatever that might be, will be dirt
  

 8   roads, they're not paved roads; is that correct?
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is correct.
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

11                 MR. PATTERSON:  Isaac, do you want to
  

12   describe the color shading?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  So private lands we've
  

14   applied no color shading to.  State lands we've overlaid
  

15   a slight blue color shading, and I'll note it as we
  

16   approach the state lands.  BLM a slight yellow overlay,
  

17   which I'll note as well.  And then Forest Service, a
  

18   slight green overlay.  So the majority of the route will
  

19   be state lands with a slight blue overlay, and I'll note
  

20   we have -- we have a segment here, as we approach it, I
  

21   will note it for the committee.
  

22                 So this is all private land underneath the
  

23   yellow line currently and you can see, as we approach,
  

24   and I will pull up -- oops, sorry -- so here is a slight
  

25   blue overlay where there's a State Land parcel.  And then
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 1   this -- this area here is all public -- or private land
  

 2   with no overlay.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Another question,
  

 6   Mr. Phillips, this private land, is this ranchland?  Is
  

 7   there grazing going on here?  Is there farming?  What's
  

 8   going on?
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  There's a mix.  We'll cross
  

10   very shortly some more defined agricultural center
  

11   pivots, obvious pecan orchards.  There's a few that are
  

12   very clearly being cultivated.  I would say it's mostly
  

13   unused, a lot of the segment we'll be crossing.  When we
  

14   get to some of the state and, you know, larger tracts
  

15   likely some grazing happening, this is a high cattle
  

16   area, but generally I would say that there is not, unless
  

17   it's very obvious, there's not a huge amount -- these
  

18   tracts are relatively small.  It's not large, big tracts
  

19   of private land, so -- especially on this side of Cochise
  

20   County, it's pretty clear where there's agricultural
  

21   production happening on the private parcels.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Okay.  And you include
  

23   ranching or grazing as that high productive agricultural?
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  To the best of our
  

25   knowledge.  I'd say it's a little harder to review based
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 1   on our aerials where that's happening, but given some of
  

 2   the sizing of the parcels, we know it's not like a large
  

 3   comprehensive block to support a large cattle
  

 4   infrastructure.  Now, there are some, we'll cross some
  

 5   where you can see processing facilities and covered areas
  

 6   that are very obviously for farm animals.
  

 7                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Right.  And some of those
  

 8   there isn't much grass, you kind of have to give a
  

 9   carry-out lunch to the cow to get from one tuft to the
  

10   next tuft of grass, but yeah, most of it has some ranch
  

11   capability, in my experience.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.
  

13                 MEMBER KRYDER:  And that's where I was
  

14   getting toward, but the fact that it is current WAPA
  

15   land, most of those have been resolved, I assume, by the
  

16   previous contracting and whatever.
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, the existing WAPA
  

18   right-of-way.  And, of note, I mean, the good thing about
  

19   transmission is you can utilize the property underneath
  

20   the wires, so especially for grazing it works really well
  

21   as a land use option with -- combined with transmission.
  

22   But we'll see, actually, I'm going to progress this just
  

23   a few, like, a half a mile further, you'll actually see
  

24   some combined land use with transmission and more
  

25   specific agricultural facilities.  Here we approach a
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 1   kind of a larger grove/center pivot.  So this is where
  

 2   we're seeing some of the bigger agricultural facilities.
  

 3   And we see a mix of pecan, pistachio production in this
  

 4   region and then some of the center pivots, not entirely
  

 5   sure exactly what they are, but less tree-based.
  

 6   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

 7       Q.   Mr. Phillips, before you continue, I don't know
  

 8   that I heard you say this, the yellow line that we're
  

 9   following, that's the center line of the existing WAPA
  

10   line, correct?
  

11       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Correct.
  

12       Q.   And then the red lines that we see, that's
  

13   existing transmission infrastructure, correct?
  

14       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Correct.  And we have a point
  

15   coming up where we're going to cross a few that I'll stop
  

16   a talk a little bit about what those are.
  

17       Q.   Thank you.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you Mr. Chair.
  

20                 The other presentation might do this, but
  

21   I'm having a hard time figuring out what 100 feet looks
  

22   like here if I only have this little line and the
  

23   relative impact of that.  If we go back there were some
  

24   what appeared to be kind of dirt roads or service roads,
  

25   maybe there on the right, and I'm wondering if that's
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 1   within the hundred feet and that's what you would use to
  

 2   access this or if that's the county -- I'm having trouble
  

 3   with scale, so I was just wondering if you could help me
  

 4   with that a little.
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, we don't -- we haven't
  

 6   overlaid 100 feet here, but generally that would be
  

 7   outside of 100 feet.
  

 8                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think that -- honestly, I
  

10   think since this aerial imagery has been taken, WAPA may
  

11   have run a center line access road through this segment,
  

12   because they're out there maintaining the line and
  

13   working on it currently.  So those, I think, are
  

14   antiquated, those older access routes.  Yeah, we don't
  

15   have -- does yours have 100-foot corridor on it?
  

16                 MR. AGNER:  Yes.  Member Hill, our virtual
  

17   tour will show the 300-feet wide and 100-feet wide
  

18   corridor, and I'll stop and point those out.
  

19                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  Thank you.
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And one just caveat is we're
  

21   not clearing 100 feet, so, like, we wouldn't wipe out a
  

22   hundred feet of trees here for this agricultural
  

23   facility.  We're only going to work where we absolutely
  

24   need to to remove the tower and put in new towers.
  

25                 MEMBER HILL:  Totally appreciate that.
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 1   Thanks.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And then -- and then a
  

 3   16-foot-wide service road?
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  Where -- where
  

 5   feasible.  And we don't necessarily need it down the
  

 6   right-of-way 100 percent of the time, you know, we're
  

 7   working with WAPA to determine what their needs are, but
  

 8   generally, especially for agricultural facilities,
  

 9   sometimes you see 16 just to the pole, and then you go
  

10   around the field to the next pole.  So you can do a lot
  

11   to avoid impacts on especially agricultural production.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  One other request, when we
  

14   get to the San Pedro crossing, will you stop a little bit
  

15   before that?  I just want to look a little bit more
  

16   closely at that --
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We've got a good stopping
  

18   point before that --
  

19                 (Cross-talk.)
  

20                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  -- definitely.
  

22                 So I'll progress.  This is continuing in a
  

23   westward direction.  As you can see, we mentioned the
  

24   existing agricultural facilities have kind of developed
  

25   up around this right-of-way, so you see a lot of planting
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 1   for pecan, pistachio in the region.  But those are
  

 2   already coordinated with the existing WAPA right-of-way,
  

 3   and you can see there are WAPA poles within the existing
  

 4   planting area.  So, you know, working carefully to site
  

 5   poles to minimize -- either take those poles out and put
  

 6   in new ones right where they are, or work with the
  

 7   landowner to try to determine the best way.
  

 8                 One thing, I'll stop real quick, just to
  

 9   the left here, which is south of the line, it looks like
  

10   this is an agricultural facility, as I mentioned, for
  

11   animals, probably -- probably cattle, given the region,
  

12   but there is some agricultural production in this area.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  In addition to just
  

14   replacing the existing poles with new ones, would it be
  

15   possible for you to span some landowners' property in its
  

16   entirety if that's feasible?
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Definitely.  And that's what
  

18   we have been spending a lot of time -- detail design is
  

19   taking a long time because we're trying to identify areas
  

20   where we can reduce impact by changing the span.  You'll
  

21   still have impact on the removal of that tower, because
  

22   you've got to go in and take it out, but much smaller if
  

23   you can span it.  There are some fields we can't, but
  

24   working with the landowners to determine if there's like
  

25   a lower impact way that the line can be sited, it's --
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 1   it's something we've got feedback on in our public
  

 2   meetings I'll talk a little bit about, but something we
  

 3   are doing currently.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  So it's, I have one pole on
  

 5   my property, as a result of this I won't have two, I'll
  

 6   have the one and maybe none, but I won't have an
  

 7   additional amount of poles on my property, then?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, we can't guarantee
  

 9   that.  It is dependent on the detail design, but
  

10   generally, we're reducing the number of poles.  I think
  

11   not everyone will see a being reduction because it is
  

12   reducing 30 poles across 400, but working to try to
  

13   identify if there's a lower -- because we have more
  

14   flexibility on the span, we can work a little bit -- we
  

15   have more flexibility than WAPA did when they designed
  

16   it, because their spans just were shorter, so they had to
  

17   put it where it went.  So we might be able to avoid stuff
  

18   they were not able to avoid not -- or wasn't there when
  

19   they built the line 70 years ago.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.
  

21                 Member Little?
  

22                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I
  

23   think Mr. Fant or Member Fant was before me, but I will
  

24   go ahead.
  

25                 It looks like there's a residence fairly
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 1   close to this line.  Is that -- do you know if that's
  

 2   true?
  

 3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, so there's a number of
  

 4   residences, and we're going to cross through three
  

 5   residential areas we'll pause on on the route.  So,
  

 6   generally, this area has continued to grow since the
  

 7   installation of the WAPA line, so we are seeing
  

 8   residences throughout.  I would say the WAPA right-of-way
  

 9   has been there for so long that no one is -- or no one
  

10   was, you know, I guess, in the right-of-way prior to WAPA
  

11   that's still there now.  So a lot of this got built up
  

12   after the fact.  But there are going to be residences
  

13   outside of the 100-foot right-of-way along the line, and
  

14   we will talk through a few of those as well.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And all of these landowners
  

17   were mailed -- so we mailed, for our public meetings,
  

18   everyone within a mile and then held public meetings
  

19   close to these areas.  So all of these landowners have
  

20   been notified along this route that you'll see in this
  

21   view.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wait one second.
  

24                 Member Fant, you had your hand raised?
  

25                 MEMBER FANT:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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 1                 This is a crazy question, but does electric
  

 2   current have an impact on pecan trees, on their output?
  

 3   Has anybody studied that?
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I do not know.  We would
  

 5   have to do some research and get back to you.  I know
  

 6   that these pecan trees have an existing power line over
  

 7   them that will be lower than ours, but I -- and is
  

 8   relatively noisy, given it's an older 115 and has older
  

 9   equipment, but I don't have a good answer for that.
  

10                 MEMBER FANT:  Yeah, I mean, your line may
  

11   improve the output.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Perhaps it would pre-roast
  

13   them.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Kryder, you had a
  

15   question?
  

16                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yes.
  

17                 The -- on the screen before us, what's the
  

18   terracotta building or edifice there, any idea?
  

19                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think it's a barn, but I
  

20   don't know for certain.  We can have the team look while
  

21   we progress.
  

22                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Yeah, I've never known of a
  

23   barn with a terracotta roof, but who knows.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Fant, do you have
  

25   another question or is your hand still raised from last
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 1   time?
  

 2                 I'm seeing no.
  

 3                 All right.  Please proceed.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I'll pause here.  Here's
  

 5   where we cross our first major road, Dragoon Road, West
  

 6   Dragoon Road.  And here we have two adjacent high-voltage
  

 7   transmission lines already in place.  And so on the
  

 8   right-hand side of the road, which is the north side of
  

 9   the road, and that crosses our yellow center line, is an
  

10   Arizona Electric Power Cooperative 230 line, connecting
  

11   the Apache and Butterfield substations.  This line will
  

12   continue parallel to our line for a good section of the
  

13   route.
  

14                 On the south side of the road to the left
  

15   of our line is an existing 69-kilovolt line.  So as we
  

16   kind of continue on, you'll see that this is a
  

17   three-transmission-line route and we actually fall in the
  

18   middle of those two lines.  And kind of I'll discuss as
  

19   those lines either deviate from ours or new lines come
  

20   in, we'll highlight what lines those are, but for the
  

21   time being on the north side, the right-hand side of our
  

22   route is a 230-kilovolt H-frame line.  And on the left
  

23   side is a 69-kV line that's lower voltage.
  

24                 And we cross major infrastructure, like
  

25   roads, railroads, pipelines, existing transmission lines,
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 1   we are trying to maintain the crossing angle of the
  

 2   current line to minimize the amount of coordination
  

 3   necessary with all those entities.  Because once one line
  

 4   is crossing at that angle, it's a lot easier for them to
  

 5   approve a line that crosses at the same angle, rather
  

 6   than changing the angle.
  

 7                 And I'll pause real quickly right after we
  

 8   cross this road.  Here what you see on the screen and
  

 9   it's moving a little bit as we progress, but this segment
  

10   that's kind of a yellowish is our BLM land crossing.  So
  

11   it's the only crossing of BLM land that we have on the
  

12   route.  As you can see we're kind of toward the edge of
  

13   the BLM portion of the property.  I'll note to the
  

14   committee members -- oh, not this one -- a question, we
  

15   have the access road right down the center very clearly
  

16   defined.  So for something like this, this is a great
  

17   option for us to utilize that existing access road.
  

18                 We've got adjacent transmission on either
  

19   side, and then this yellow-hued block here is BLM land.
  

20   We cross, one second here, .4 miles of BLM land, and this
  

21   is the only segment of BLM land that's crossed.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Hill?
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.
  

24                 I -- I am curious if there's any risks of
  

25   upgrading the voltage on this line and being adjacent to
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 1   these other lines, are there any risks that --
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I guess are they far enough
  

 3   apart already?
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, typically -- well, all
  

 5   of that to evaluate it as we do the detail design, so I
  

 6   would say, yes, it is under the evaluation of detail
  

 7   design and then ensuring that we follow the standards set
  

 8   out in the National Electric Code, so that will all be
  

 9   incorporated in our design.  And we are far enough along
  

10   that that has been incorporated.
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And we did a Lidar, we flew
  

13   a Lidar, so we captured all of the above-ground
  

14   infrastructure in this whole corridor already, and so
  

15   these lines were included in that.
  

16                 MEMBER HILL:  That -- that's great.  Thank
  

17   you.
  

18                 MR. PATTERSON:  One quick mention, just if
  

19   you want to orient yourself and look at your placemat, if
  

20   you start at Apache and move to the left, you'll see a
  

21   little yellow spot, that's right where we are right there
  

22   at that yellow.  So we've -- we've just completed going
  

23   through the first section of private land, which is the
  

24   white and now we're about to enter this good section of
  

25   State Land, just to orient you.
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That's just north of the
  

 2   Dragoon Mountains.
  

 3                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Patterson, is that just
  

 4   to point out that we've not gone very far yet, it will be
  

 5   a long afternoon?
  

 6                 MR. PATTERSON:  Not at all.
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So we're entering one of the
  

 8   larger State Land segments or a large State Land segment,
  

 9   which is in blue, blue overlay here.  We're approaching
  

10   it now.  It's part of a larger footprint of State Land
  

11   that will continue to progress as we move along the line,
  

12   but we continue with the three-transmission-line route.
  

13   And you can see the existing access road provides a lot
  

14   of access to the existing route.
  

15                 On the left-hand side, which is the south
  

16   side of the line, you can see a color change.  This is
  

17   Forest Service property, so the Coronado National Forest.
  

18   I think pretty clear from here, we are clipping a corner
  

19   of the big portion of line, and I'll pause it here just
  

20   so you can see, but generally, this is a .5-mile segment.
  

21   And this is the only crossing of Forest Service property
  

22   that we have on the route.
  

23                 As I mentioned previously, we are not
  

24   planning to extend our right-of-way on either Forest
  

25   Service or WAPA right-of-way, existing right-of-way.  We
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 1   have a 69-kV line coming across here in view and
  

 2   connecting with that existing line.
  

 3                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

 5                 MEMBER KRYDER:  If you would pause there,
  

 6   please.  Thank you, Mr. Phillips.  Is that the service
  

 7   road that I see the yellow line crossing over?  And is
  

 8   the other half of that, yes, the other half of that, is
  

 9   it -- is that an acceptable road or is this something
  

10   you're going to have to rebuild?  Do you know offhand?
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I can't speak specifically
  

12   to this area.  I do know that that looks to be a road
  

13   that we would try to utilize.  Typically, we would do
  

14   some sort of improvement on the road, might not
  

15   necessarily be a buildup, it might be a blading to get a
  

16   driving surface required to get all the equipment down
  

17   the right-of-way, because we'll have to be both bringing
  

18   in the new monopoles and the cranes to erect them, and
  

19   then taking out existing poles.
  

20                 So likely there will need to be some
  

21   expansion because over time these roads get smaller and
  

22   smaller, these two tracks out there.  If this is an 8- to
  

23   12-foot road, we would likely do some improvements on the
  

24   proceed.  Typically not trying to bring in a large amount
  

25   of fill or when we're not doing any gravel or paving.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Blacktop.  Okay.  What
  

 2   about the concrete that will be necessary to bring in,
  

 3   where will you be -- will you be setting batch plants
  

 4   around different places or how does that all work?
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  My understanding is that we
  

 6   are looking to source from existing batch plants and
  

 7   trucking it to site.  I'll need to confirm with the team
  

 8   if there's additional localized plants being set up, but
  

 9   for now we have been working with an engineering
  

10   procurement and construction team to source resources
  

11   along the line from existing locations.  So trying to
  

12   identify batching plants that have available capacity
  

13   along the route that we can work into our transportation
  

14   plan.
  

15                 MEMBER KRYDER:  So that would mean you just
  

16   use a local concrete transit mix company of some sort who
  

17   can bring it in.  That's a lot nicer than building a
  

18   batch plant online, yeah.  Thanks.
  

19                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.  And a lot easier for
  

20   us.  Or, I mean, transportation might be harder, but, you
  

21   know, permitting transmission is hard enough.
  

22                 MR. PATTERSON:  Isaac, before you move on.
  

23                 Member Kryder, our team looked up that red
  

24   roof structure that you had a question a few minutes ago.
  

25   They believe that was a barn constructed in the last few
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 1   years.
  

 2                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Wonderful.  I wonder whose
  

 3   Mercedes they store there.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I'll progress, if there's no
  

 5   further questions.
  

 6                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr Chairman?
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, Member Little, yes.
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  The green area that we just
  

 9   saw in the previous -- right before you started
  

10   progressing again, is that what is called a wash in this
  

11   state or --
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  -- or an arroyo.
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  Arroyo or wash.
  

15                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It's pretty green.
  

16                 MR. PHILLIPS:  There's a number of washes
  

17   throughout the route.  So we'll highlight a couple of the
  

18   more material ones.  Generally those are spanned, so
  

19   we're trying to reduce impact.  And then the crossing
  

20   points for the roads, utilize existing ones to minimize
  

21   existing impacts on those washes.
  

22                 MR. BECK:  And just to point out relative
  

23   to the acces road, you can see how it juts out beyond the
  

24   other red line there, that was because of that crossing
  

25   likely, and that's how Western had to route their line.
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 1   And they probably have some underlying rights to be able
  

 2   to get outside of their normal right-of-way.
  

 3                 And to Member Hill's question about lines
  

 4   being in proximity to each other, I would suggest go
  

 5   look at outside of Phoenix going to Palo Verde where they
  

 6   have four or five 500-kV lines right adjacent to each
  

 7   other.  They don't create an issue.  The issue is that if
  

 8   you have to take a line out of service to do maintenance,
  

 9   it's much more critical to ground it well, because you
  

10   can get induced currents on that line that's not
  

11   operating, but beyond that, there really isn't an impact
  

12   from interaction between the lines.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you for that.  Because
  

14   I feel like I've been in, like, 30 hearings now and we
  

15   always need more right-of-way.  We always need more
  

16   height.  And I'm always struggling with, like, but could
  

17   we do this in a more compact way?  And I think this
  

18   project demonstrates that we can work around those
  

19   things.  It's not ideal, but it does mean that we can
  

20   work around these things to actually have a smaller
  

21   footprint and get more out of a corridor, so thank you.
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I'll continue to progress
  

23   here.  As I mentioned, we're re -- we're recrossing the
  

24   Forest Service land that we had crossed previously.  I
  

25   might jump a few seconds ahead here.  So we're in State
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 1   Land here.  Of note, this is our first railroad crossing.
  

 2   Again, what I mentioned earlier, we plan to cross at the
  

 3   same angles.  We have a number of crossings with Union
  

 4   Pacific over the whole route, so we have been
  

 5   coordinating with them extensively through design and
  

 6   planning for construction, so it's something that
  

 7   continues to happen and will continue to happen through
  

 8   construction.  But we have a number of crossings of Union
  

 9   Pacific and other railroads on the new-build segment that
  

10   we're managing.  Generally, we get the line angle
  

11   approved relatively early and with the existing corridor
  

12   that's really helpful that we're following the existing
  

13   line angle.  This is all State Land, so it's got a blue
  

14   tinge.  Harder to see when there's not other tinges next
  

15   to it.  But this is all State Land here.
  

16                 On the right, which is the northern side of
  

17   the line, we are approaching the Butterfield 230-kilovolt
  

18   substation.  And I'll pause as we approach it.  Our line
  

19   runs adjacent to it, but does not connect into it.  So
  

20   this is where the AEPCO 230 line connects and then
  

21   continues on.  Our line will run adjacent and bypass it
  

22   completely, but it is a large -- a relatively -- it's a
  

23   substation next to our line.
  

24                 And then we come to the end of the first
  

25   11-mile segment here.  And this is our first I-10
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 1   crossing.  So we have a number of I-10 crossings.  We
  

 2   move from the south side of I-10 to the north side of
  

 3   I-10 here.  And in the description of our route this kind
  

 4   of kicks off the next segment of line, which is an
  

 5   eight-mile segment that we'll talk through now.
  

 6                 But, again, crossing at the same angle.  We
  

 7   have been in conversations with Arizona DOT relating to
  

 8   this crossing angle.  It's a relatively extensive
  

 9   coordination to take an interstate down and cross it.  So
  

10   I think they give you like 15-minute intervals, where you
  

11   can pause traffic and string a line, so it's an
  

12   interesting challenge for projects, but we are crossing
  

13   on the existing corridor.
  

14                 And we quickly reach another point that's
  

15   interesting, which is the Adams Tap Substation, which is
  

16   on the left, which is the south side of our route here.
  

17   I'm going to use the cursor.  So this is the Adams Tap
  

18   Switchyard, the tap of the existing WAPA line is actually
  

19   right underneath the line.  So what that does is the 115
  

20   gets tapped and connects to the switching yard.  This is
  

21   serving APS Douglas Arizona territory.  And so this is
  

22   one of the communities that is actually served by this
  

23   line.
  

24                 And so, as we talked about the upgrade, the
  

25   new circuit will drop into this substation.  The new WAPA
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 1   circuit will drop into this substation and continue to
  

 2   serve that community.  The 345 will bypass it, just
  

 3   connect to the next pole without dropping in.
  

 4                 MR. BECK:  Maybe just to be sure the
  

 5   committee members are aware, the AEPCO lines that are
  

 6   separate and apart from the Western lines, AEPCO runs its
  

 7   own utility, it depends on this line -- the 115 line is a
  

 8   backbone to Apache, but then they have their own 230
  

 9   system that goes out, and that's why the previous
  

10   substation didn't attach to this line at all.  But in
  

11   this case APS needed service to Douglas.
  

12                 Some of you may remember it was a big deal
  

13   for the Commission when the lights went out in Douglas a
  

14   number of times, and APS was ordered to do something to
  

15   fix it.  And so, you know, they're depending on Western
  

16   here for their support.
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And this is kind of the
  

18   midpoint, not midpoint but the only substation along the
  

19   route we connect to outside of Vail and Apache on either
  

20   end.  So I'll continue on.  We continue to -- through a
  

21   relatively uninhabited, undeveloped section of State
  

22   Land, except for the existing transmission and road
  

23   infrastructure that serves it, but the next stop will be
  

24   the approach to the San Pedro River crossing, which is
  

25   prior to the Benson -- City of Benson.
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 1                 So I'll let the map progress a little bit
  

 2   here, but generally, we have the existing route with the
  

 3   existing access road along this whole region on State
  

 4   Land, and we continue to utilize that same center line as
  

 5   we move through this segment of property.  And it's all
  

 6   State Land in the blue tinge.
  

 7                 We start to deviate the 230 line that was
  

 8   to the north, the right side of the line now pulls off
  

 9   and is no longer parallel to us here.  We pass through a
  

10   relatively large wash, and now we approach the end of the
  

11   State Land, the beginning of private agricultural land
  

12   and the San Pedro River you can start to see a green kind
  

13   of stripe coming up in the distance there that we'll
  

14   pause on here very shortly.
  

15                 So we're now entering private lands,
  

16   leaving state lands.  And as we approach, it's very
  

17   undeveloped, very rural, but as we approach the San Pedro
  

18   River crossing, we're going to see some intensive
  

19   agricultural and some sparse rural residential
  

20   properties.  We're about to hit the rural residential
  

21   properties here.  And then the agricultural production
  

22   you can see is coming up, center pivots that are being
  

23   actively managed now.
  

24                 And I will pause as we get to the San Pedro
  

25   River, if I can time this right.  Oh, a little further.
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 1   There we go.  All right.  And this is the San Pedro River
  

 2   crossing.
  

 3                 So I'm going to just highlight a couple
  

 4   things here.  So one existing WAPA H-frame structure here
  

 5   right on the edge of the agricultural field.  I know for
  

 6   a fact we actually had this landowner attend one of our
  

 7   public meetings and talk about some of the work WAPA's
  

 8   done to firm up the bank here, so looking to utilize this
  

 9   location or a little bit further for the location of our
  

10   pole, but generally, the green riparian corridor doesn't
  

11   extend onto the private agricultural parcel.
  

12                 On the western side of the river, you do
  

13   have a more unbroken green space, which is then followed
  

14   by, it's harder to see here, but this is a golf course,
  

15   Gray Water Golf Course, it's the Benson City Golf Course,
  

16   supported by, and it's up here toward the interstate is
  

17   their water treatment plant.  There is a WAPA pole, which
  

18   we will go across right at the edge, kind of dipping into
  

19   the green space at the edge of the golf course and the
  

20   riparian corridor.
  

21                 So the goal being that with a 50-foot wider
  

22   corridor here for us to extend the span, we can either,
  

23   you know, keep the pole here and right at the edge or
  

24   extend it even a little bit further, but generally not
  

25   have to encroach on this green space, especially on the
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 1   Western side.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Who owns that green space?
  

 3   I'm looking at the map and it shows that it's private,
  

 4   and it's not State.  Then you go further south and the
  

 5   San Pedro River is all in BLM land.  Who owns this
  

 6   section?
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I don't know.  Our team will
  

 8   work on getting that.  I think -- I know on this side of
  

 9   the line it's definitely private.  I think there's -- the
  

10   Benson City Golf Course is divided between Benson and a
  

11   private landowner and it might be that the private
  

12   landowner actually owns the segment that encroaches on
  

13   the golf course, like, they split some ownership.  Our
  

14   team will confirm.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  It would be nice to
  

16   know who owns that.
  

17                 Member Hill, you have a question?
  

18                 MEMBER HILL:  I just have a question about
  

19   road access here.  Will you be approaching construction
  

20   without building roads through the river?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Oh, yeah.  We'll approach
  

22   from either end, but yeah, no need to --
  

23                 MEMBER HILL:  There are interesting -- I
  

24   apologize, Robin.  There are interesting road crossings
  

25   that have been authorized to cross the San Pedro that
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 1   aren't ideal, and so I just wanted to make sure that your
  

 2   construction plan would not create a road in this -- in
  

 3   this area.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, we have not -- not
  

 5   included any road here.
  

 6                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I guess taking a brief pause
  

 8   from the route review.  So this is an important location
  

 9   for the environmental sensitivity, but as part of the
  

10   NEPA process this is one that we got a lot of commentary
  

11   on.  Now, not so much this crossing, but in the
  

12   alternatives analysis, tribal feedback, environmental
  

13   group feedback, San Pedro is one of the most critical
  

14   habitats.  And so a lot of feedback came about, like, how
  

15   can we minimize impacts.  And so the preferred
  

16   alternative was in line with a lot of feedback, which is
  

17   if you can utilize an existing crossing and not create a
  

18   new one, you need to do that.
  

19                 And so credit to Doug's team at the time,
  

20   but incorporated that feedback and worked with WAPA,
  

21   because we have seen a lot of support for that decision
  

22   that continues.  And I was at the Southern Four Tribe
  

23   Meeting in December, and Tohono O'odham tribal
  

24   representative specifically said he remembered providing
  

25   feedback about the routing at the time, and appreciated

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

122

  

 1   that we utilized the WAPA right-of-way for this crossing.
  

 2   And so it really did pay dividends.  And that's kind of
  

 3   why we're being so careful about the detailed design
  

 4   here, which is, like, being careful about this crossing
  

 5   continues to pay engagement dividends, and we continue to
  

 6   get feedback about concern about the impact here.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.
  

 8                 MR. BECK:  Mr. Chairman, you had asked
  

 9   about the ownership and it's -- on the west side, we
  

10   determined that it's something called San Pedro, LLC, so
  

11   it is a private holding.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  They're not the same as the
  

13   one that owns the golf course with the City?
  

14                 MR. BECK:  We'll do some further research.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Just curious, did they
  

16   purchase it and hold it, like, you know, as a preserve?
  

17   Is it something that they bought the land to keep it from
  

18   getting developed because it's the San Pedro?  I'm just
  

19   curious to see who owns it and what their function is.
  

20   And I guess another question I had is during the review
  

21   of this crossing, I know it's an existing crossing and
  

22   that line probably predates NEPA, in the latest NEPA
  

23   review, did they recommend the use of bird diverters for
  

24   the crossing across the San Pedro at this point?
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We will --
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 1                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You may cover that when you
  

 2   get to the biological --
  

 3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We will definitely cover
  

 4   that.  I know that our avian protection plan had a number
  

 5   of areas along the whole route that required bird
  

 6   diverters, and I'm getting word that, yes, this is one of
  

 7   those.
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  All right.
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, so this along with
  

10   other flight corridors in New Mexico, the playas have
  

11   specific consideration relating to what tower type we can
  

12   use, preferring monopole, working with Arizona Game &
  

13   Fish, I mentioned that Crane Lake Willcox wildlife area
  

14   that we're working on, but generally, a pretty
  

15   comprehensive bird mitigation across the project.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I have more
  

17   questions, but I'll wait until we get to that.  Another
  

18   thing I noticed as I'm looking at the placemat, and on
  

19   the side that doesn't show the route, I think the scale
  

20   is off it says 1,000 feet, that's got to be five miles, I
  

21   think.  The legend in the right.
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That -- that seems right to
  

23   me.  Your -- your correction seems right to me.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yeah, because on the other
  

25   side it says five miles, and given the length that we've
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 1   talked about for this line --
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I believe that you are
  

 3   correct that that scale needs --
  

 4                 MR. AGNER:  I believe that is correct,
  

 5   Chairman.
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  -- adjusting.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Thank you.
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I'll pause.  Any additional
  

 9   questions on the San Pedro crossing before I progress
  

10   with Benson?
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Any other questions will be
  

12   addressed later.
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  You reserve the right for
  

14   additional questions.
  

15                 So right outside the riparian area, we go
  

16   into the golf course and into the water treatment plant,
  

17   which we are working on siting kind of adjacent to the
  

18   existing poles to minimize new impacts.  We do hug the
  

19   interstate here as we approach kind of Benson proper.
  

20   Luckily, the majority of the residential areas on the
  

21   south side of the interstate, we are on the north side,
  

22   there are some residential and kind of commercial
  

23   properties that are crossed.
  

24                 One specific one is the Red Barn RV Park,
  

25   which I'll pause real quick.  Right here you can see on
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 1   the south side of our line.  But kind of one note is we
  

 2   actually held our public meeting at the Red Barn event
  

 3   space, which is located here, so the WAPA line was
  

 4   literally right next to the event space that we were
  

 5   holding.  And there's kind of a funny -- we had a
  

 6   reporter/newscaster come and they, like, took a video and
  

 7   the WAPA line was literally overhead of the interview.
  

 8   So this area, you know, we are coordinating very closely
  

 9   with the landowners and provided an opportunity for the
  

10   locals impacted by this to attend an event, literally in
  

11   their backyard.
  

12                 But as I mentioned, a lot of the
  

13   residential's actually on the south side of the
  

14   interstate, so we do walk through some pretty undeveloped
  

15   sections here.  The one thing to mention is there is kind
  

16   of a commercial residential space right off the
  

17   interstate.  We do hug the interstate and stay outside of
  

18   the residential area.  We do cross the edge of a, I
  

19   believe it's a soccer field, but at the same angle that
  

20   the current WAPA line does.  And ours are taller, so
  

21   they'll be higher off the field.
  

22                 And then we leave the city of Benson.
  

23   Pretty quickly it returns back to undeveloped,
  

24   uninhabited area.  And we continue north of I-10 for a
  

25   good ways here.  So Benson is the first of three kind of,
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 1   quote-unquote, semi-residential/residential areas that we
  

 2   cross.  I'll just note here we're crossing some State
  

 3   Land, so it's a mix of private and state.  We do have two
  

 4   more residential areas we will discuss, one in this
  

 5   segment and one in the following segment of line, and it
  

 6   will take a minute or so to get to the next residential
  

 7   area.
  

 8                 MR. PATTERSON:  And while -- while we're
  

 9   flying, the team did confirm, we do have bird diverters
  

10   at the San Pedro crossing.
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Thank you, Doug.
  

12                 As we get closer to the second of the
  

13   residential areas, you'll see a pickup in some of these
  

14   rural residential properties.  Still very dispersed and
  

15   sparse, but more than kind of the open area we had
  

16   previously.  And we'll progress toward the J-6
  

17   Ranch/Mescal area, which I will pause when we reach.  But
  

18   it will be the second of three residential areas.  But as
  

19   you can see here, the WAPA corridor does hug a few kind
  

20   of parceled with houses or barns and such on it.  And we
  

21   are -- continue through this kind of sparsely populated
  

22   rural area.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  This is the private land to
  

24   the east of -- to the west of Benson?
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  Relatively large
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 1   private land segment for the whole project.  This is
  

 2   where the majority of the private land is.  And I will
  

 3   pause.  We are now approaching the J-6 Ranch/Mescal area,
  

 4   and I'm going to pause where I see Mescal Road.  There we
  

 5   go.
  

 6                 So you can see Mescal Road is here, and
  

 7   this community was developed while, you know, after the
  

 8   WAPA line, of course, seven years ago the WAPA line was
  

 9   installed.  You can see some avoidance, especially as we
  

10   get deeper into the community, there is just an avoidance
  

11   of the hundred-foot right-of-way.
  

12                 As I mentioned, this is a prime example of
  

13   the location where we're staying within the hundred-foot
  

14   right-of-way to avoid additional impact on communities
  

15   that have built up around the line.  This community was
  

16   there at the time of the NEPA scoping review and route
  

17   selection process, so it was involved in the
  

18   notifications, public meetings, et cetera.
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And this is still in
  

20   Cochise County?
  

21                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I believe we are in Pima
  

22   County.
  

23                 MR. PATTERSON:  Oh, it's right on the edge,
  

24   isn't it?
  

25                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We're right on the edge
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 1   here.  Our team's going to confirm.  But we're right
  

 2   on -- we're getting right on the edge where we shift over
  

 3   to Pima.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Still Cochise.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  I'm trying to keep track of
  

 7   where we are.
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  It's a longer tour than
  

10   we're used to.
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  It's shorter than the bus
  

12   tour, though.
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, I would imagine so.
  

14                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And so we are approaching
  

15   the divide, and maybe one of our team can raise their
  

16   hand when we get to it, but we're in Cochise County
  

17   still.  And I'll progress.
  

18                 Again, this is two of the -- second of the
  

19   three kind of residential areas, but as you can see,
  

20   especially here, really clear avoidance of the existing
  

21   WAPA hundred-foot route and then we quickly get out of
  

22   the developed area into kind of less populated, less
  

23   developed.
  

24                 And then we approach our last I-10 crossing
  

25   and we start to head into State Land.  So this is our
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 1   last I-10 crossing.  We'll again use the existing line
  

 2   angle.  And the next segment of line is about 22 miles
  

 3   and is really the majority of the remaining segment.  It
  

 4   is majority State Land, so a lot of very remote, rural,
  

 5   and hard-to-reach locations.  So you wouldn't have seen
  

 6   much or you won't see much on the bus tour, but we kind
  

 7   of are going to go through a lot of State Land here, but
  

 8   we do, as we approach it, this 22-mile segment you will
  

 9   see additional transmission start to run parallel again.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And it looks like the
  

11   crossing of the I-10 here is where the County line is as
  

12   well?
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.  Right around this
  

14   area.
  

15                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Phillips, you don't have
  

16   to cover it now, but I just wanted to flag that Pima
  

17   County has an outstanding wildlife corridor management
  

18   plan, and I think my recollection is, the last time I
  

19   looked at it, between the Whetstone Mountains and the
  

20   Rincon Mountains there's pretty significant habitat
  

21   corridors that were identified, and so I have a lot of
  

22   confidence in the NEPA process, but when we get to the
  

23   environmental discussion, it would be nice to understand
  

24   how you guys have looked at that and any mitigation
  

25   related to that, okay?
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, I definitely know
  

 2   Cara, on the next panel, is planning to cover that.  And
  

 3   I have been present at multiple meetings with Pima
  

 4   County, and so we will definitely cover that.
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  Super.  Thanks.
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So we're entering into State
  

 7   Land again.  The AEPCO 230 line, now further down, has
  

 8   now rejoined and parallels our existing line.  Primarily
  

 9   State Land, you can see some private land to the left,
  

10   the south at that point.  But we are majority state lands
  

11   in this region.  And I will pause it in one second.  We
  

12   are approaching some BLM land.  And, of note, we are
  

13   hugging the boundary of the BLM land.  So we're staying
  

14   100 percent State Land, there will be no access, there
  

15   will be no right-of-way on BLM property, but we are
  

16   adjacent to the BLM property, but not looking to expand
  

17   onto new BLM property that's already undeveloped.
  

18                 So the boundary we think is right around
  

19   this fence line.  We've got some surveyors mapping it
  

20   out.  There's a -- I'll try to -- there's a fence line
  

21   about here.  But we've kind of confirming that the road
  

22   is still on State Land, which we believe it is, and so
  

23   we'll be staying to the north of the boundary there.
  

24                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
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 1                 MEMBER KRYDER:  If you can pause here,
  

 2   please, Mr. Phillips.
  

 3                 What's the geological figure that we're
  

 4   just passing over now?  Maybe you can back up just a
  

 5   quarter of a mile.  Yeah, so that we can see it coming
  

 6   on.  What am I looking at?
  

 7                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I do not have anything in my
  

 8   notes, specifically, so we'll need to gather some info on
  

 9   that.  I don't have anything --
  

10                 MEMBER KRYDER:  It looks extraordinary.
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I think it might be the edge
  

12   of the Cienega Creek area.
  

13                 MR. AGNER:  I think, Member Kryder, taking
  

14   a look at the overview map, it looks like we're kind of
  

15   near, starting to approach, like, the bajadas of the
  

16   Whetstone Mountains, and so we're not near, like, the
  

17   major topographic features of the Whetstone Mountains,
  

18   but we're kind of near the bottom, where there is still
  

19   some undulation in topography.  But it's not as
  

20   significant as, say, being near the top of the Whetstone
  

21   Mountains, so this looks like it's associated with a
  

22   bajada of the Whetstone Mountains.
  

23                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you.
  

24                 MR. PHILLIPS:  And I missed this in the
  

25   voiceover, but you can see here a Union Pacific loop here
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 1   that's already crossed by the existing WAPA corridor, but
  

 2   one that we're designing through as well.  So it's one of
  

 3   the last remaining railroad -- there may one more --
  

 4   railroad crossings here.
  

 5                 And on these areas with higher grade, you
  

 6   know, from a design perspective it's challenging.  The
  

 7   good news is WAPA has done a lot of the work for us by
  

 8   identifying locations where poles can work and so
  

 9   especially where you start to see higher grade, higher
  

10   elevation challenges, we're trying to utilize the
  

11   existing pole locations to the maximum extent the design
  

12   parameters allow, because they've already done a lot of
  

13   work thinking about where can access roads go, where can
  

14   cut-out go, where can you actually have a build site, and
  

15   so trying to follow that route as well as we can and not
  

16   create undue, you know, construction impact on high-grade
  

17   areas.
  

18                 And I'll note here, the AEPCO 230 line at
  

19   this point cuts underneath the planned WAPA right-of-way.
  

20   Right now it's above it and goes to the Pantano
  

21   Substation, which is on the left south side of it will be
  

22   right here, you can't see it, it's right outside of view.
  

23   The Pantano Substation is a 230 yard that we do not
  

24   connect to, but we do fly by relatively close, not
  

25   adjacent to, but relatively close to.  And then the AEPCO
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 1   line is kind of in and out, so it comes north or comes
  

 2   west, dips south and then comes back north and back to
  

 3   parallel our line.
  

 4                 And because we're now at higher voltage
  

 5   we'll need to go over that line instead of under, as
  

 6   WAPA's current right-of-way does.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that where your highest
  

 8   poles will be located?
  

 9                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We'll confirm.  They're
  

10   definitely going to be higher than average, but I don't
  

11   know that these are the two or a handful of highest
  

12   poles.  We'll confirm.  And also some of the height on a
  

13   couple poles may also be due to terrain, like where you
  

14   have these really steep drop-offs or something, sometimes
  

15   these higher poles help you span larger gaps.  So we'll
  

16   confirm where those are.
  

17                 Just to note, I mean, Ed mentioned this
  

18   earlier, but, you know, you can see this kind of existing
  

19   access road will sometimes deviate pretty far from the
  

20   right-of-way, because it's -- it's following the existing
  

21   topography and trying to minimize impacts.  So we have an
  

22   arc here and then down and up again.  So, generally, just
  

23   trying to minimize impact and work around the washes and
  

24   other topography.
  

25                 And then we have a couple of things of note

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

134

  

 1   coming up.  The first, you can see some kind of grade
  

 2   coming up here.  We have now been joined by a TEP 138
  

 3   line on the south side, the right side of our line.  And
  

 4   the existing AEPCO 230 still remains on the north side
  

 5   parallel to our line.  We are turning and crossing the
  

 6   Douglas Canyon, and you'll see here -- I'm going to pause
  

 7   it -- Douglas Canyon that's crossed by the three existing
  

 8   lines.
  

 9                 In case there's any questions, it looks
  

10   like the Google Earth has modeled the three wires of the
  

11   existing WAPA line, so if you see some kind of blurb
  

12   here, it's not anything odd on the ground, it's that the
  

13   aerial imagery is catching the three wires of the
  

14   existing line and creating a shape.  So you can discount
  

15   it.  But generally, looking to, you know, the access goes
  

16   up to the edge and then you've got a span, a large gap
  

17   there at that location.
  

18                 And then, very quickly, we come to the
  

19   Arizona Trail as well, which I will pause as we approach.
  

20   Which we do have a KOP that Colin will cover here.  So
  

21   you see it running north and south across our line.
  

22   Again, WAPA has a pole within a couple hundred feet of
  

23   the trail, and then the existing TE -- excuse me -- AEPCO
  

24   line, the 230 line, runs parallel as well at the crossing
  

25   point.  So that is the Arizona Trail.
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 1                 And now we have the AEPCO line is about to
  

 2   cross and head away.  And we'll continue on without a
  

 3   parallel right-of-way for the time being.  And this is
  

 4   where we approach the last residential pocket on the
  

 5   route.  And I'll pause and we have a little bit of
  

 6   discussion on it.  But you can see as we approach there's
  

 7   some development happening, new roads getting put in, new
  

 8   subdivisions being planned.
  

 9                 And I will pause here.  You actually can
  

10   see a work truck right now working on those roads.  A
  

11   couple of things of note.  So this residential pocket is
  

12   the Mountainview Ranch, Windmill Ridge, Sonoita Ranch
  

13   development.  And it's a combination of existing
  

14   development on the south and north side of the
  

15   interstate, plus the planned Windmill Ranch.  And there
  

16   was some mention earlier of the intervention and the
  

17   withdrawal.  That is this landowner here, with the roads
  

18   being developed.
  

19                 All of this, to set the kind of history
  

20   here, this development was planned and this development
  

21   was in existence during the original NEPA and ACC
  

22   processes, but was not here when the original WAPA line
  

23   was built.  And so was built around the existing WAPA
  

24   line.  We do run very close to I-10 here, so you are very
  

25   close proximity to I-10, which can be relatively noisy at
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 1   this location.  But as part of the original NEPA process,
  

 2   both Mountainview Ranch and Sonoita Ranch submitted
  

 3   comments into the scoping and draft EIS review process,
  

 4   requesting review of environmental impact, alternatives,
  

 5   proposing some specific alternatives, which were kind of
  

 6   collected by WAPA, BLM, Southline, reviewed and
  

 7   incorporated into the analysis that reached the final
  

 8   decision by WAPA and BLM that this was the least cost
  

 9   impact analysis.
  

10                 As part of the CEC process, the
  

11   Mountainview Ranch folks intervened, even though this was
  

12   not in the new-build segment that received a CEC, and a
  

13   condition was included in the CEC approval that we would
  

14   work with them to help identify ways to take their
  

15   feedback and identify ways to minimize impact in routing
  

16   on their property and on their development.  And so part
  

17   of the intervention and part of the resolution of that
  

18   was us providing and coordinating with them on pole
  

19   spotting, finish of towers, and incorporation of their
  

20   design details into our design.  And so working with that
  

21   landowner to identify the least impact way that we can
  

22   still utilize the route and WAPA can still access their
  

23   property and they can continue to develop their property.
  

24   So, again --
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Are you talking about the
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 1   prior development, the Mountainview Ranch development,
  

 2   correct?
  

 3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.  And the Windmill
  

 4   Ridge is --
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Their successor --
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And since they withdrew
  

 8   their request to intervene, I'm assuming that you've
  

 9   reached an agreement with them that addresses their
  

10   concerns fully?
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We have.  And we will
  

12   continue to coordinate with them regardless throughout,
  

13   as required by the original CEC.  I think it doesn't stop
  

14   here.  We continue to work with them.  But, generally,
  

15   coordinating on design of their infrastructure and ours,
  

16   they provided, again, feedback that they would like us to
  

17   use the weathering steel, consistent with all of the
  

18   local feedback we've received.
  

19                 And then WAPA, as the owner of this
  

20   right-of-way, they will have to coordinate with WAPA
  

21   directly and WAPA's not, you know, underneath the CEC, so
  

22   there is additional coordination required between other
  

23   parties outside of just Southline as well.  So it's kind
  

24   of a multi-party effort underway right now.  But we've
  

25   reached an agreement satisfactory that they didn't feel
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 1   the need to continue.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  So the pole
  

 3   finish -- pole placement is going to be their primary
  

 4   concern, where it's going to be, how it looks from their
  

 5   perspective --
  

 6                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- and then, I guess, WAPA
  

 8   doesn't -- they're deferring to you to put the poles
  

 9   where you need to put them, they're not weighing in on
  

10   that, correct?
  

11                 MR. PHILLIPS:  WAPA will have the final
  

12   say, but I think part of the agreement was acknowledgment
  

13   that they're not governed by this process, and will, at
  

14   the end of the day, require what they're going to require
  

15   but has been, I think, historically very willing to work
  

16   with landowners and come up with solutions.  And so
  

17   that's still underway, and that's the part we can't
  

18   control, but what we're doing is providing the design
  

19   work, providing the recommendations.  And I don't expect
  

20   there to be pushback.  And we have been looping them in
  

21   on all the design and the communications with
  

22   Mountainview Ranch and Windmill Ridge, and so they're
  

23   aware of everything.
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.  I'm looking to
  

25   Ms. Grabel, the would-be intervenor had a number of
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 1   suggested conditions.  I guess when we get to that we can
  

 2   discuss the appropriateness of them, but I think -- or if
  

 3   they're even necessary at this point, but I think -- the
  

 4   last one, I think number four, attempted to bind WAPA,
  

 5   which I think is beyond the authority of this committee
  

 6   or the Commission, that's -- I can't recall exactly what
  

 7   it was, but --
  

 8                 MS. GRABEL:  I would agree with that,
  

 9   Mr. Chairman.  We intended to push back on all the
  

10   proposed conditions, because we were working with them
  

11   and the agreement that we've reached with them actually
  

12   incorporates what they would have proposed, so I don't
  

13   think it's necessary at this point to burden the CEC with
  

14   any additional conditions.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

16                 Member Little, you have your hand raised.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

18                 There was a comment filed in the docket
  

19   from a person that lives in the Sonoita Ranch community.
  

20   Can -- is that one of these two communities or is it
  

21   further -- is it over closer to the substation?
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is one of these
  

23   communities, and we will just in a moment reach it and we
  

24   can discuss, so you can see the overlay, and we can
  

25   discuss that comment.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

 2                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So that is the -- what we've
  

 3   been discussing Windmill Ranch is the to-be-developed
  

 4   portion that we can see here with the roads being
  

 5   installed.  As we move further west, we start to reach
  

 6   the segment of property that was already developed and
  

 7   installed before the NEPA process.
  

 8                 And I'll pause here.  Just relative to the
  

 9   bus stop tour, the Lamar Cobb Memorial is right
  

10   underneath the -- the -- just adjacent to the line.
  

11   Lamar Cobb was actually the first Arizona state engineer,
  

12   a little interesting tidbit of the project area.  But we
  

13   do cross right adjacent to that and then head into the
  

14   Sonoita Ranch, which I will pause on as we get to it.
  

15   Okay.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And so this is a pocket of
  

17   private land, and then once we get through this, it's
  

18   back onto State Land until you get --
  

19                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  -- to the outskirts of
  

21   Tucson?
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Correct.
  

23                 Yeah, so this is all private.  A few notes
  

24   here, you can see that this housing development was
  

25   developed around the WAPA right-of-way, because you can
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 1   kind of see the avoidance of the hundred-foot strip.  I
  

 2   just want to reiterate, this is one of those communities
  

 3   in which we are maintaining the hundred-foot right-of-way
  

 4   in order to not encroach further on people's property.
  

 5                 On the south side of the line, to the left
  

 6   of the line, and I'm using my cursor so everyone on the
  

 7   screen can see, there is some subsurface infrastructure
  

 8   as well, so this is kind of a relatively busy crossing
  

 9   point of the community with infrastructure.  But we do
  

10   cross this community, and this is the last of the three
  

11   residential areas that we do cross.
  

12                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

13                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Kryder.
  

14                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
  

15                 Mr. Phillips, where are we approximately on
  

16   the placemat?
  

17                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We are just south of where
  

18   the Vail Substation, if you just go straight down from
  

19   station, that kind of Utah-shaped private land, the
  

20   white, is where we sit currently.
  

21                 MEMBER KRYDER:  Thank you.  That's very
  

22   helpful.
  

23                 MR. PHILLIPS:  So I'll pause in case there
  

24   are questions on the comment that was received.  I will
  

25   note a couple things relating to that comment.  So the
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 1   original NEPA process did have commentary both in the
  

 2   scoping and in the draft Environmental Impact Statement
  

 3   from Sonoita Ranch area and from Mountainview Ranch, both
  

 4   of which suggested alternatives that were raised in those
  

 5   comments into -- that were incorporated into the analysis
  

 6   that WAPA and BLM completed throughout the NEPA process.
  

 7   So we do have records of those comments being submitted,
  

 8   and the alternatives being included in the record.
  

 9                 Additionally, when we think about the
  

10   changes to the design double-circuit 230 to
  

11   double-circuit 230/345, part of the public engagement to
  

12   support that, I think we talked a little bit about the
  

13   handoff between WAPA and Southline and how the different
  

14   teams engaged in community, but part of the effort is
  

15   this process today of holding public meetings, providing
  

16   that detail to the community that we're proposing a
  

17   change, soliciting public comment at six open house
  

18   meetings, plus all the mailers, plus this hearing.  And
  

19   so that's really the purpose of this effort here, in
  

20   addition to the work that was done through the NEPA and
  

21   original process.  So just kind of a few general
  

22   responses there to lay the framework of -- of this area.
  

23                 So I'll pause in case there's additional
  

24   questions.  Or, Doug, do you have anything to add?
  

25                 MR. PATTERSON:  No, I'd just add in that
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 1   comment, Member Little, that you referenced and
  

 2   Mr. Phillips hit it, there was a suggestion of a
  

 3   potential route kind of coming south around, you know,
  

 4   rerouting around this community and that -- that
  

 5   potential option was -- was considered by WAPA, you know,
  

 6   and BLM, but really WAPA, for the most part.  And they
  

 7   evaluated it, but really, and it goes to Member Kryder's
  

 8   question, but if you look at that area, there's still
  

 9   quite a bit of private land below and you wind up -- it
  

10   is possible there is another utility corridor, there are
  

11   two other lines, you know, further south, so you could
  

12   possibly follow another corridor.  But then you wind up
  

13   shifting impacts from -- you take away the impacts in
  

14   this area, you wind up shifting it to other resident
  

15   areas down below and it turns out there're even larger
  

16   number of homes there.
  

17                 And unless you go even further south, in
  

18   which case you're adding a lot of mileage, a lot of costs
  

19   and other potential even, you know, environmental or
  

20   other constraints.  And so that -- that was why WAPA made
  

21   the determination that the least impact was to keep it in
  

22   the existing -- upgrade the existing location.
  

23                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Little.
  

25                 MEMBER LITTLE:  It's pretty clear that from
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 1   what we're looking at on the screen that that line goes
  

 2   through the front yard of several of those homes.  I'm
  

 3   wondering what plans the applicant has to work with those
  

 4   people on siting poles and just working with them as
  

 5   individuals.  I understand privacy issues and yada, yada,
  

 6   but, you know, it seems like it would be possible even to
  

 7   go through their backyards between the -- the -- in what
  

 8   would be an alley if that was the town.  But certainly at
  

 9   least to work with them on siting -- putting the poles
  

10   where they're sited and if you can just address -- answer
  

11   that question, please.
  

12                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, thank you for the
  

13   question.  So, generally, right now the goal would be to
  

14   not -- in this area we're looking to try to utilize
  

15   existing pole spots specifically, which is not within the
  

16   front yards of any of these parcels, because frankly, on
  

17   all private land that's directly adjacent and has homes
  

18   directly adjacent to the route, we're trying to not shift
  

19   impact to new landowners and focus it on where there's
  

20   existing pole footprint.
  

21                 And so on this area specifically, the goal
  

22   is to try to utilize the existing pole locations, and
  

23   then we're happy to take feedback from people on shifting
  

24   pole locations, but the challenge is, you know, we don't
  

25   want to shift it onto a new -- like if they say, well,
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 1   can you put it on my neighbor's property?  We don't want
  

 2   to just shift it to the neighbor's property, but when
  

 3   there's reasonable proposals, we've had a number of these
  

 4   at public meetings, like, "Hey, can you move this pole 50
  

 5   feet?  It would help a lot."  That's actually super
  

 6   helpful for our detail design, because we do lot of
  

 7   thought around making those sorts of tweaks.
  

 8                 So we're happy to take that input and all
  

 9   of these folks were requested, you know, sent mailers,
  

10   were invited to the meetings, some attended, provided
  

11   feedback.  So we'll continue to coordinate with people
  

12   and this is not the end of the process, you know, we have
  

13   started to continue to engage these folks and ramp up
  

14   pulling feedback, and these are just detail design is,
  

15   like, the next big step, but there is a challenge in
  

16   that.  We can't just be shifting impact onto the new
  

17   landowners.
  

18                 And so that's why for this one kind of just
  

19   committing to staying within the right-of-way, being
  

20   flexible with pole spotting along the center line where
  

21   engineering limits allow us to be, and where the impacts
  

22   are very clearly being offset and not just increasing or
  

23   shifting to someone new.  But really the least impact
  

24   we've kind of identified for this area is pole for pole
  

25   replacement at this time.  Happy to take more info from
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 1   the community if they disagree with us though.
  

 2                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.  And I
  

 3   understand what you're saying.  I'm wondering what
  

 4   opportunities -- I know that, you know, you have open
  

 5   houses and do all kinds of contact prior to the CEC
  

 6   hearing, but what opportunities will people have to
  

 7   continue to work with you in the future going forward?
  

 8                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah.  As a base case, we're
  

 9   not closing any of the public engagement mechanisms we've
  

10   been using.  The email inbox, the phone line, the
  

11   website, all of those continue to be engagable by the
  

12   public and to provide comments at these meetings.  We had
  

13   a number of people that host existing poles request that
  

14   when we got further along on detail design we have land
  

15   agents come out to discuss and show them what the final
  

16   design looks like on their property.  So we're happy to
  

17   do that and coordinate with WAPA, because these are WAPA
  

18   rights-of-way to do that.
  

19                 So, generally, I think the point is, like,
  

20   our ears are open.  We're continuing to solicit feedback.
  

21   People have to provide that feedback for us to
  

22   incorporate it.  And it has to be something we can
  

23   actually do.  But we're not in the business of pushing
  

24   off reasonable requests here.  Like, I think, generally,
  

25   we're trying to design the line to meet reasonable

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

147

  

 1   requests and minimize impact.
  

 2                 And so I would say that we just -- we
  

 3   continue to remain open to those feedback.  I -- we
  

 4   typically, this is a Grid United/Southline idea, is we
  

 5   typically do meetings prior to construction, like, open
  

 6   houses and such, just to continue to encourage the
  

 7   community, understand what the construction will look
  

 8   like and the timing, but, you know, we continue to have
  

 9   folks on the ground available for meetings for individual
  

10   specific requests.  And we do have three or four from the
  

11   public meetings that have requested, you know, later this
  

12   year as we get the final design, detail design kind of
  

13   put together for us to come back and have some more
  

14   detail discussion on where are roads on their property,
  

15   where are poles on their property, are they going to see
  

16   a reduction in poles, et cetera.
  

17                 MEMBER LITTLE:  That's all very good
  

18   information, and I appreciate you providing it for the
  

19   record.  Because that -- you know, we kind of end when
  

20   the application is filed with the information that we
  

21   have.  And to know what is -- has happened since that
  

22   point in time and to know what you're planning in the
  

23   future is good information.  I appreciate it.  Thank you.
  

24                 MR. BECK:  And just to make it clear, it's
  

25   not clear in this picture or this view, but the existing

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

148

  

 1   structures are outside of any of these four houses.  It's
  

 2   just a wire that goes across their front yard.  The pole
  

 3   is located to the west up near the corner of the road and
  

 4   one down just off the screen at the bottom.
  

 5                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Good to know.
  

 6                 MS. GRABEL:  So before we continue, we've
  

 7   been alerted by the people helping us with the food that
  

 8   we have 15 minutes to eat this or they're going to take
  

 9   it away because of temperature issues.  We had thought
  

10   this portion of the virtual tour would take 30 minutes,
  

11   but it's taken like an hour and 15 minutes.  So do you
  

12   guys want to grab food really quickly?  I hate to waste
  

13   it.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Right.  It's 4:30.  We've
  

15   been going for 90 minutes.  The court reporter needs a
  

16   break.  So let's take a 15-minute recess.
  

17                 MS. GRABEL:  Are we going to go until 5:30,
  

18   then, Mr. Chairman, because I --
  

19                 CHMN STAFFORD:  5:00-ish, we'll see,
  

20   because we have public comment starting at 5:30.
  

21                 MS. GRABEL:  I know, but 20 minutes is 20
  

22   minutes for Mr. Agner's virtual tour.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Well, I don't know if we'll
  

24   get to Mr. Agner's virtual tour this evening.  I think
  

25   we'll -- let's get through this one and then we can see
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 1   where we are.
  

 2                 MS. GRABEL:  Okay.  We just want to make
  

 3   sure you're comfortable to take the vote on the tour.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Oh, yes, we will
  

 5   100 percent do that this evening.  Thank you.
  

 6                 We stand in recess.
  

 7                 (Recessed from 4:31 p.m. until 4:48 p.m.)
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go back on the
  

 9   record.  I think we're about to wrap up this virtual
  

10   tour.
  

11   BY MS. GRABEL:
  

12       Q.   Mr. Phillips, would you like to proceed?
  

13       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) Sure.
  

14            So, quickly, we're going to progress here and
  

15   we're in the final stretch here, as we mentioned, passing
  

16   through Sonoita Ranch and the last residential
  

17   development, crossing some underground infrastructure
  

18   here and then progressing across some high-voltage lines
  

19   and with the AEPCO 230 line parallel to the south.
  

20            We're on State Land now, and we'll continue to
  

21   be on State Land for the majority of the remaining
  

22   segment of line.  The only thing left to see, two -- two
  

23   points of interest, one, the Pima County Fairgrounds will
  

24   be approaching on the north side of the route, which is
  

25   on the right of the path here.  And I'll point it out and
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 1   pause when we get there.  But we do not cross the Pima
  

 2   County Fairgrounds, but we do run adjacent to the south
  

 3   of it.  And that's in line with the existing WAPA
  

 4   right-of-way.
  

 5            You can start to see infrastructure on the north
  

 6   side -- on the right side of the County fairgrounds, a
  

 7   relatively large facility that has a few different
  

 8   things, the edge in which we -- the edge that we cross
  

 9   closest to, and we're about to approach it here, is a
  

10   racetrack and it looks like a cycling dome as well.
  

11   We're going to pause right here.
  

12            So the Pima County Fairgrounds is to the right
  

13   to the north of the line here.  We cross very close to
  

14   the racetrack on the south edge of it.
  

15       A.   (MR. BECK) And just, Isaac, between this
  

16   alignment and the fairgrounds, there's two other
  

17   racetracks that are buffering the line from the
  

18   fairgrounds or vice versa.  The Tucson Dragway and then a
  

19   race -- racing track, in addition to this particular
  

20   racetrack here.
  

21       A.   (MR. PHILLIPS) And then we reach the end of the
  

22   WAPA right-of-way, and we will take a hard right turn to
  

23   the north to approach the Vail Substation.  And so, of
  

24   note, if you continue in the westward direction here, you
  

25   continue on the Vail-Tortolita project.  So Vail to
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 1   Tortolita, where we are turning north right here,
  

 2   Vail-Tortolita would continue straight all the way up to
  

 3   Tortolita.
  

 4            We then take a due north route, and this is the
  

 5   final two miles that I overviewed earlier that are in the
  

 6   existing CEC that were amended in 2021, and approach the
  

 7   Vail Substation, which as you can see, and I'm sure, as
  

 8   you know, is a very significant grid point with 138-,
  

 9   230-, and 345-kV lines approaching it, multiple of each.
  

10   We parallel two of them, and then we approach and land
  

11   into the 345 yard at the Vail Substation.
  

12            And that culminates the route review, the
  

13   57-mile route review, landscape-level review bus tour
  

14   alternative potentially.
  

15       Q.   Thank you.
  

16            Are there any further questions from the members
  

17   on the first virtual tour?
  

18            You look so cold.
  

19            Mr. Chairman, would you like us to proceed with
  

20   the second virtual tour, which is, theoretically,
  

21   20 minutes?
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, I think we can do
  

23   that.  And I don't know, I think -- I don't think we need
  

24   to do an actual physical tour.  Looking at the members.
  

25   I don't see an appetite for a physical tour, so --
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 1                 MS. GRABEL:  Excellent.  Thank you.
  

 2                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's start with our second
  

 3   virtual tour.  And then if we make it through before we
  

 4   recess before the public comment, then great.  If not, we
  

 5   can pick it up in the morning instead of getting on a
  

 6   bus.
  

 7                 MS. GRABEL:  Sounds good.
  

 8                 MR. AGNER:  Okay.  If Peaks Audio could
  

 9   pull up my screen, I'm connected into the HDMI port.  And
  

10   I'll go over the virtual tour that SWCA prepared.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And this tour is Exhibit
  

12   SL-9, right?
  

13                 MS. GRABEL:  Let me just confirm.  I
  

14   believe that is correct.
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Okay.
  

16                 MR. SABO:  Yes.
  

17                 MS. GRABEL:  Yes, it is.
  

18                 MR. AGNER:  Okay.  Go ahead and proceed
  

19   with the SWCA virtual tour.
  

20                 This one will proceed in the opposite
  

21   direction from the other virtual tour.  This one will
  

22   move from west to east.  And as we load in here, again,
  

23   I'll just point out to the committee, we'll be going
  

24   through the entire 57-mile line like the other virtual
  

25   tour, starting at the Vail Substation, kind of located
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 1   here in the southeast portion of Tucson, and then making
  

 2   our way east towards the Apache Substation, kind of near
  

 3   the Willcox Playa.
  

 4                 As we zoom in, I'll point out some things
  

 5   to the committee as we go along the tour, but just for
  

 6   the committee's benefit, to preview what's ahead, at each
  

 7   KOP, we will go into the existing condition, and I'll
  

 8   describe that.  We'll then go into the proposed
  

 9   weathering steel condition, and then the proposed dull
  

10   galvanized steel condition.  So you'll see both of those
  

11   finishes at each KOP, as we get into each KOP.
  

12                 As we load in here, I'm just going to
  

13   quickly pause and, again, orient some things for the
  

14   committee.  So in the top right there, you'll see a
  

15   legend.  The blue outline is always going to be the CEC
  

16   corridor that we're proposing for the CEC Apache to Vail
  

17   upgrade route.  And then the green line will be the
  

18   center line that's for the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade
  

19   route.  You'll also see, in the top right, there is that
  

20   black dot, that will actually move along with us as we're
  

21   going along the tour, so you'll get to see where we are
  

22   on the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

23                 So with that, I'll go into the first KOP.
  

24   And that is KOP Number 1.  KOP Number 1 is representative
  

25   of residential viewers and, like I said, is located kind
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 1   of in the southeast portion of Tucson within the Santa
  

 2   Rita development and is located near the Vail Substation,
  

 3   which is the far west portion of the CEC Apache to Vail
  

 4   upgrade route.
  

 5                 And here, again, you can see within the
  

 6   existing condition photograph there are numerous
  

 7   high-voltage transmission line structures already present
  

 8   within the landscape.  As Isaac testified to previously
  

 9   in the other virtual tour, this is a significant
  

10   connection point for multiple transmission lines, which
  

11   is why you see the structures highly visible in the
  

12   landscape already.
  

13                 And then, as we move into the proposed
  

14   condition for weathering steel, it will be a little bit
  

15   hard to make out, but the simulated structure is actually
  

16   there in the background, kind of on the right-hand
  

17   portion of the screen.  And then we'll move into the dull
  

18   galvanized steel finish, which I will cover this a little
  

19   bit when we get into my visual analysis for this
  

20   particular KOP, but the finish at this particular KOP
  

21   does not have a significant factor in the overall
  

22   impacts, given the distance that the structure is from
  

23   the key observation point.
  

24                 So we just passed it a little bit, but as
  

25   Isaac mentioned previously, you can see a portion of it
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 1   here when the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route is moving
  

 2   north to south there is no CEC corridor associated with
  

 3   it.  You see there is no blue line in this area, and that
  

 4   is on purpose.  That is because this area has already
  

 5   been certificated as part of the Vail to Tortolita
  

 6   amendment for the CEC, and so we do not need to seek a
  

 7   CEC corridor for this particular portion of the Southline
  

 8   project.
  

 9                 And we'll continue to move east a little
  

10   bit.  And as we move east, we'll now step into KOP Number
  

11   2, which is located near the Pima County Fairgrounds that
  

12   just got called out and is into view.  KOP 2 is
  

13   representative of travel route viewers along local
  

14   roadways.  And in this particular instance would be
  

15   travel route viewers along Houghton Road.  Again, here,
  

16   you can see in the existing conditions photograph, there
  

17   is already distribution line infrastructure present, as
  

18   well as the AEPCO transmission line structures and the
  

19   existing WAPA transmission line structures that we will
  

20   replace.
  

21                 And you'll see that in the proposed
  

22   conditions and you'll see that throughout all the KOPs,
  

23   is that we were able to actually remove the WAPA
  

24   structures in the landscape and then superimpose the new
  

25   proposed structures in the landscape as well.  So you can
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 1   get an idea of the structures being removed and then the
  

 2   new structures being superimposed in the photographs.
  

 3                 So as we step out of KOP Number 2, we're
  

 4   going to actually hop ahead a little bit and go into KOP
  

 5   Number 4, but before we do that, we're starting to come
  

 6   up onto the first clustered residential area, the
  

 7   Mountainview Ranch, Sonoita Ranch area.  And I think,
  

 8   Member Hill, to your point, you had discussed not being
  

 9   able to see the CEC corridor distances, you can see here
  

10   as we approach Mountainview Ranch, it is 300 feet wide
  

11   because it is on State Land, but once we enter in the
  

12   Mountainview Ranch area, it does narrow to that 100 feet
  

13   which, as we described previously, minimizes the impacts
  

14   to those residential areas, and you can see that
  

15   reflected in the CEC corridor that's being shown
  

16   currently, as it moves through the Mountainview Ranch
  

17   area.
  

18                 And as we get to KOP Number 4, that is
  

19   going to be representative of recreational viewers.  And,
  

20   specifically, it's going to be recreational viewers along
  

21   the Arizona National Scenic Trail.  As Isaac testified to
  

22   previously, we do cross the Arizona National Scenic
  

23   Trail, and recognizing that that is a recreational area,
  

24   we did go ahead and simulate what the proposed structures
  

25   would look like at this particular recreational area.
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 1                 So we're just waiting for the camera to
  

 2   position itself to get into the proper viewpoint of the
  

 3   key observation point.  And as you'll see in the existing
  

 4   conditions photograph, you can see, again, the
  

 5   structures, both the WAPA transmission structures, as
  

 6   well as the AEPCO transmission line structures that we
  

 7   parallel are both already highly visible in the landscape
  

 8   already at this particular KOP.
  

 9                 So we'll go ahead and show you what the
  

10   simulated condition looks like with those structures
  

11   being replaced, first with the proposed weathering steel
  

12   structures, and then we'll move on to the proposed dull
  

13   galvanized steel.  And again, these are previews of some
  

14   of the existing and proposed conditions at some of the
  

15   KOPs, but I'll cover the visual analysis in greater
  

16   detail when we get to Exhibit E as part of the CEC
  

17   application.
  

18                 We'll now jump back to KOP Number 3, which,
  

19   as you can see, is a little bit closer to Vail and is
  

20   along Sonoita Highway.  And this is associated with
  

21   recreational viewers at the Lamar Cobb Memorial.  And
  

22   here you can see in the existing conditions photograph,
  

23   again, the WAPA structures are already highly visible in
  

24   the landscape already around the Lamar Cobb Memorial.
  

25   And we'll go ahead and switch to the proposed conditions
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 1   for weathering steel, and then we will show you the dull
  

 2   galvanized steel structures.
  

 3                 As we get out of this KOP, we're going to
  

 4   make our way east and, as was described previously, there
  

 5   is not a lot of residential development between the
  

 6   Mountainview Ranch and the Mescal area.  You can see
  

 7   we're crossing Davidson Canyon, however, there is really
  

 8   no sensitive viewers that we were able to identify within
  

 9   this area, no residential development or clustered
  

10   residential development within this area.  It remains a
  

11   relatively rural part of Arizona for a significant
  

12   portion of the CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route until we
  

13   approach the Mescal area.  You can see here that is the
  

14   Cienega Creek crossing.
  

15                 The next KOP we're going to get into is KOP
  

16   Number 6.  KOP Number 6 is representative of residential
  

17   viewers and would be representative of those residences
  

18   that are in the general Mescal area.  And here, again,
  

19   you can see in the existing condition photograph the
  

20   existing WAPA structures, as well as the existing AEPCO
  

21   structures that we parallel.  This KOP is actually
  

22   towards the further western end of the Mescal area as the
  

23   CEC Apache to Vail upgrade route is approaching it from
  

24   the east.
  

25                 And as we show the proposed dull galvanized
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 1   and weathered steel finishes, I just want to let the
  

 2   committee know that we were able to verify that the
  

 3   landowner associated with the structure that's visible in
  

 4   this landscape has been contacted about the project.  And
  

 5   we have not received comment from this individual and
  

 6   they have not attended the open house, but we just did
  

 7   want to let you know that this individual has been
  

 8   contacted.
  

 9                 The next KOP we're going to go to is KOP
  

10   Number 5.  And, again, as you can see here as we continue
  

11   to move east, we quickly get out of the Mescal area and
  

12   again enter a more rural part of Arizona.  But this
  

13   particular KOP is going to be representative of travel
  

14   route viewers.  This particular KOP is located at the
  

15   intersection of Interstate 10 and East Marsh Station
  

16   Road.  And here, it's a little bit harder to make out,
  

17   because they're a little bit further in the background,
  

18   but the existing WAPA structures are there in the
  

19   background and would be the structures that we would
  

20   replace as we move into the proposed weathering steel and
  

21   dull galvanized steel finishes.
  

22                 After we exit this particular KOP, we're
  

23   going to again move east.  And the next major residential
  

24   cluster that we're going to reach is kind of more Benson
  

25   proper.  Again, there's really not much here in terms of
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 1   sensitive viewers or, you know, sparse residential
  

 2   development.  It really does continue to remain a pretty
  

 3   rural part of Arizona until we get to those clustered
  

 4   residences.
  

 5                 And here is the first interstate crossing,
  

 6   or Isaac called it the second interstate crossing,
  

 7   because he was moving in the opposite direction.  This is
  

 8   the first interstate crossing on our tour.  As was
  

 9   mentioned previously, the goal being to stay within the
  

10   existing angle and crossing that the existing WAPA
  

11   transmission line crosses Interstate 10.  The applicant
  

12   will do everything they can to keep that existing angle
  

13   in crossing.
  

14                 So as we get into the next KOP, this will
  

15   be KOP Number 7, and this will be associated with the
  

16   Benson area and is representative of residential viewers
  

17   around this area.  And here, again, in the existing
  

18   conditions photograph, you can see the distribution
  

19   infrastructure associated with the resi- -- you know, the
  

20   electricity that servers the nearby residences is visible
  

21   in the landscape, as well as the existing WAPA
  

22   transmission line structures.
  

23                 And we'll go ahead and move into the
  

24   proposed conditions at KOP Number 7, showing the
  

25   weathering steel structures, and then moving on to the
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 1   dull galvanized finish.  And as we get out of this KOP,
  

 2   we'll again continue to move east, making our way closer
  

 3   to the San Pedro River.
  

 4                 And once we get closer to the San Pedro
  

 5   River, I'll go ahead and pause the tour there because,
  

 6   again, I do think it's worth pointing out some things
  

 7   once we get closer to that crossing.  But for now, as you
  

 8   can see, we are in private land, so the corridor
  

 9   continues to remain 100 feet wide.  And as we're, again,
  

10   approaching more Benson proper, as Isaac testified to
  

11   earlier, most of the residential development for Benson
  

12   is south of Interstate 10, whereas the CEC Apache to Vail
  

13   upgrade route remains north of Interstate 10.
  

14                 And as we reach the San Pedro River here,
  

15   again, Isaac testified to this previously, but I, again,
  

16   just want to point it out.  This is the one section of
  

17   private land where we are requesting a 150-foot wide
  

18   corridor instead of 100 feet.  That will allow the span
  

19   to be greater along the San Pedro River and would allow
  

20   us to span the river and its riparian area, thereby
  

21   avoiding the most critical impacts to this particular
  

22   area of environmental sensitivity.  And as you can see in
  

23   the simulated condition of the project, by doing this you
  

24   can see that we're proposing to place a structure outside
  

25   of the riparian area and then on the other side of the
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 1   San Pedro River as well.
  

 2                 So the next KOP we're going to is KOP
  

 3   Number 8.  KOP 8 is also representative of residential
  

 4   viewers around the -- again, around the Benson area.
  

 5   And, again, you can make out the existing distribution
  

 6   infrastructure is already visible in the landscape, as
  

 7   well as the existing WAPA transmission structures are
  

 8   right there that we will replace in the proposed
  

 9   conditions.
  

10                 We're showing the weathering steel finish
  

11   and then showing the dull galvanized steel finish.  As we
  

12   exit this KOP, again, it will reach more of a rural part
  

13   of Arizona.  We're not really going to reach another
  

14   residential area until we get closer to the Apache
  

15   Substation.  So as you can see, we quickly exited that
  

16   KOP and moved east.  And you can see, other than the
  

17   AEPCO transmission line infrastructure that you can kind
  

18   of make out is that kind of linear disturbance that's
  

19   near us, there really is not much else nearby in this
  

20   particular portion of the Apache to Vail upgrade route.
  

21                 This is the second I-10 crossing and is
  

22   also where KOP Number 9 is located.  KOP 9 is
  

23   representative of travel route viewers as they move along
  

24   Interstate 10.  And, again, you can make out the AEPCO
  

25   transmission line structures are already visible in the
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 1   landscape, as well as the existing WAPA transmission
  

 2   structures are already visible in the landscape.  And you
  

 3   will see that we replace those structures in the proposed
  

 4   conditions starting with the weathering steel.  And then
  

 5   moving on to the dull galvanized steel finish.
  

 6                 So we only have one KOP left, KOP Number
  

 7   10.  That will be a little bit closer to the Apache
  

 8   Substation, but again, as we continue to move east, you
  

 9   can see that it remains a rural part of Arizona, no real
  

10   sensitive viewers, no real residential development for
  

11   this area until we start to get a little bit closer to
  

12   the Apache Substation itself.
  

13                 You can see Dragoon is called out there.
  

14   That is approximately north of Interstate 10, however, we
  

15   are south of Interstate 10, which is why we did not
  

16   identify any key observation points to take within that
  

17   area is because we do not anticipate any significant
  

18   visual impacts to that community for the CEC Apache to
  

19   Vail upgrade route.
  

20                 The last KOP we're going to go into, KOP
  

21   Number 10, is going to be representative of residential
  

22   viewers that are near the Apache Substation.  So, as you
  

23   can see in the existing condition photograph, there's
  

24   distribution line infrastructure present within the
  

25   landscape, as well as the Apache structures that we

      GLENNIE REPORTING SERVICES, LLC      602.266.6535
      www.glennie-reporting.com             Phoenix, AZ



LS CASE NO. 173    VOLUME I      01/12/2026
Volume I

164

  

 1   parallel, as well as the existing WAPA transmission line
  

 2   infrastructure that we will replace in the proposed
  

 3   conditions.
  

 4                 And then, as we get out of this KOP, we're
  

 5   actually just going to make our way further east, closer
  

 6   to the Apache Substation.  Once we reach the Apache
  

 7   Substation, the virtual tour itself is going to zoom back
  

 8   out to the initial view.  And that's where the virtual
  

 9   tour for the SWCA virtual tour will end.
  

10                 I'm happy to go back to any portion or
  

11   review anything that the committee would like, however, I
  

12   hope you found the overview of the KOPs and the simulated
  

13   structures within the landscape helpful.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Any questions?
  

15                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman?
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Mercer.
  

17                 MEMBER MERCER:  I just have a question
  

18   about the cost difference between the weathering steel
  

19   and the dull galvanized.  Is that a big difference?
  

20                 MR. PHILLIPS:  I can take that.
  

21                 I think it's material when looked at a full
  

22   project of a couple hundred poles, yes.  Probably in the
  

23   seven- to eight-figure range, yes.
  

24                 MEMBER MERCER:  Is that the difference
  

25   between which one?
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  The -- the weathering is --
  

 2                 MEMBER MERCER:  Cheaper?
  

 3                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Well, when you look at the
  

 4   final price, the -- you know, versus construction and
  

 5   cost of the steel, the weathering are a little bit
  

 6   heavier as they have more steel, so they're a little bit
  

 7   more expensive.  But I think long term they end of being
  

 8   cheaper from a labor perspective.  So the weathering
  

 9   being a little bit cheaper.  But when applied over a long
  

10   project, it builds up.
  

11                 MEMBER MERCER:  The dull galvanized seems
  

12   to look better.  It kind of hides better.
  

13                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yeah, it's interesting, you
  

14   know, the feedback we've received from the community is
  

15   opposite.  And I don't know if it's a visualization
  

16   versus what people's experience has been with them, but
  

17   when asked I don't know that I've had anyone say dull
  

18   galvanized is preferred.  The majority of landowners have
  

19   said the weathering is preferred.
  

20                 MEMBER MERCER:  Interesting.  Well, I guess
  

21   it goes with the terrain.
  

22                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Yes.
  

23                 MR. BECK:  And just to tack onto that, when
  

24   I was at TEP we had a condition to create a community
  

25   group to choose colors for poles, and they chose the
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 1   weathering steel, because it blends in better with the
  

 2   backgrounds where it's either green or mountainous
  

 3   terrain in the background.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  I was just looking at the
  

 5   pictures and the galvanized seems to fade better.
  

 6                 MR. BECK:  Against a blue skyline it fades
  

 7   a little better, if the sun is on the other side of the
  

 8   pole.  But if the sun's behind you, a galvanized pole
  

 9   will tend to almost glow, and yes, they are dulled so
  

10   it's not as bad as a true galvanized thing, but it still
  

11   reflects more than the weathering steel does, so --
  

12                 MEMBER MERCER:  Well, let's go with the
  

13   cheaper one.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Any other
  

15   questions from members?
  

16                 (No response.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, I think
  

18   that will --
  

19                 MEMBER MERCER:  Mr. Chairman, I do have one
  

20   more question.
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Mercer.
  

22                 MEMBER MERCER:  Let me see where is my
  

23   question that has not been answered.  How does the
  

24   addition of these lines affect the EMF levels compared to
  

25   those evaluated in the original CEC?
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 1                 MR. PHILLIPS:  We have some data in the
  

 2   testimony for tomorrow relating to that, so I don't have
  

 3   that number offhand.
  

 4                 MEMBER MERCER:  Then I'll wait.
  

 5                 MR. PHILLIPS:  Okay.
  

 6                 MEMBER MERCER:  Thank you.
  

 7                 MEMBER HILL:  Mr. Chair?
  

 8                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member Hill.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  I try not to ask curiosity
  

10   questions, but I'm going to ask a curiosity question.
  

11   Why not just do two 345-kV, like, do a double-circuit
  

12   345-kV?  Because I just -- I just keep thinking it will
  

13   be used, so -- and WAPA isn't exactly paying for this, so
  

14   I'm just curious.
  

15                 MR. BECK:  Well, there will be additional
  

16   cost if you increase the second circuit to 345.  And at
  

17   least the way I look at it, to the extent Southline is
  

18   providing this to Western free of charge, to some degree,
  

19   why would you give them an even bigger stick to use when
  

20   they're going to be in competition also with you,
  

21   potentially, as far as utilizing that transmission.
  

22                 So while you could go double-circuit 345,
  

23   it's also not Western's standard, they don't have it.
  

24   They have some, but not a lot, in their system and
  

25   especially -- especially in Southern Arizona, their
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 1   long-term plan was all for 230, not going to 345.
  

 2                 MEMBER HILL:  Okay.  That's helpful.  I
  

 3   just keep thinking that it's going to be needed, so --
  

 4                 MR. BECK:  Eventually it will be, but yeah.
  

 5                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.
  

 6                 CHMN STAFFORD:  But by that time hopefully
  

 7   WAPA will want to pay for it.
  

 8                 MR. BECK:  Yes.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Well, I mean, in that vein --
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Mr. Chairman?
  

11                 MEMBER HILL:  Let me just finish.
  

12                 CHMN STAFFORD:  One second.
  

13                 MEMBER HILL:  In that vein, though, I just
  

14   keep thinking are we going to have another who co-located
  

15   transmission line of something else?  Like, I'm just
  

16   generally concerned about the cumulative impacts of some
  

17   of this stuff over San Pedro.  Over Cienega, you know,
  

18   like, those cumulative impacts we don't have strong
  

19   accounting for.  And I would push to advocate for higher
  

20   voltage and propose, like, near-term proposed lines and
  

21   existing lines than adding more lines.  That's my
  

22   concern.  From a -- from a broadly -- broader, like,
  

23   public responsibility, that's my role on this body, is to
  

24   advocate for those kinds of things.  So that's why I
  

25   asked the question and made the observation.
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 1                 MR. BECK:  Makes sense.  And just so you're
  

 2   aware, there is a WestConnect planning group that is
  

 3   supposed to be looking at the region as a whole and
  

 4   trying to come up with the right solutions from a
  

 5   transmission perspective.  This project has been part of
  

 6   their process all along, but they should also be looking
  

 7   at bigger picture, to your point of what other corridors
  

 8   or what other places to build.
  

 9                 MEMBER HILL:  Thank you.
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Member Little, you had a
  

11   question?
  

12                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Yes, thank you,
  

13   Mr. Chairman.
  

14                 Along those lines, I'm wondering why the
  

15   230-kV line is twin conductor and the 345 is a single
  

16   conductor?  Can you perhaps address that, Mr. Beck?
  

17                 MR. BECK:  You'll hear a little bit of that
  

18   in some testimony tomorrow as far as corona and EMF
  

19   issues.  Corona becomes an issue above 230, typically.
  

20   It's not much of an issue at 230, but at 345 it is.  And
  

21   one way you minimize corona is by putting in two
  

22   conductors, and it changes the surface gradient of the
  

23   electrons flowing through the wires to help reduce
  

24   corona.  Which corona is an issue with noise and
  

25   television radio interference, so on.
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 1                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So if I'm hearing you
  

 2   correctly, it sounds like the 345 should be twin
  

 3   conductor and the 230 should be single.
  

 4                 MR. PHILLIPS:  That is how --
  

 5                 MR. BECK:  That is the case.  I missed the
  

 6   first part of your question that you said the 230 was
  

 7   two-wire, it's --
  

 8                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Oh, okay.  So I --
  

 9                 MR. BECK:  -- it's single wire.
  

10                 MEMBER LITTLE:  So I have it backwards,
  

11   then.
  

12                 MR. BECK:  Yes.
  

13                 MEMBER LITTLE:  Thank you.
  

14                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Anything further from
  

15   members?
  

16                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Do we -- oh, sorry,
  

17   Mr. Chair, this is Sal DiCiccio.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, Member DiCiccio.
  

19                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Do we -- are we coming
  

20   back at 5:30?
  

21                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, for public comment.
  

22                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Okay.  I'll be there.
  

23                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.
  

24                 MEMBER DiCICCIO:  Thank you.
  

25                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, we shall
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 1   recess until 5:30, at which time we shall reconvene and
  

 2   take public comment.
  

 3                 We stand in recess.
  

 4                 (Recessed from 5:21 p.m. until 5:31 p.m.)
  

 5                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Let's go on the record.
  

 6   Now is the time for public comment.  And we have Lindsay
  

 7   Bryner with us.  Please come to the podium.
  

 8                 Can you please spell your last name for the
  

 9   court reporter.
  

10                 MS. BRYNER:  Bryner, B-r-y-n-e-r.
  

11                 Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee,
  

12   my name is Lindsay Bryner.  I've filed written comments,
  

13   but appreciate the opportunity to speak with you this
  

14   evening and verbalize -- and verbally emphasize the
  

15   concerns I have with Southline's process.  I live in the
  

16   Sonoita Ranch neighborhood in the Vail area, which is its
  

17   own neighborhood.  It has nothing to do with the
  

18   Mountainview Ranch neighborhood.
  

19                 The existing WAPA transmission line crosses
  

20   right in front of my property.  Southlane -- Southline
  

21   claims to have done an extraordinary amount of public
  

22   outreach as part of this project, but I disagree.  Until
  

23   November of 2025, I received one notice about the
  

24   project, and that came in 2014, after they had finalized
  

25   the NEPA review.  Maybe Southline didn't feel the need to
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 1   involve us since, until recently, they didn't see the
  

 2   need to request a CEC for this piece of their project,
  

 3   but that is no excuse.
  

 4                 Southline never asked for our input on
  

 5   siting nor did they attempt to learn about our community
  

 6   concerns.  They merely informed us what they were going
  

 7   to do after they had already decided what the project
  

 8   would look like.  Any effort Southline did make to engage
  

 9   with the public were on the new-build section of their
  

10   project, which isn't even under consideration here.
  

11                 Siting without performing any meaningful
  

12   public engagement should be rejected as insufficient.  If
  

13   you let this project slide, it sets a terrible precedent
  

14   for the level of public engagement that is deemed
  

15   acceptable.  Also, until very recently, the portion of
  

16   this project you are considering in this hearing known as
  

17   the upgrade section was communicated as a rebuild of the
  

18   115-kV line to a double-circuit 230-kV line.  That scope
  

19   changed at the eleventh hour when in November 2025, they
  

20   shared it would now be a 345-kV line.
  

21                 Southline brushed this off as an
  

22   insignificant change to the scope of their project, but
  

23   the basis for any previous environmental analysis and
  

24   public input was based on that 230-kV line -- kV plan.  A
  

25   345-kV line is not the same as a 230-kV line, and it's
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 1   certainly not the same as a 115-kV line.
  

 2                 Southline seems to think that since we and
  

 3   our neighbors moved into homes next to a transmission
  

 4   line, making it into a larger pole -- into a larger line
  

 5   is no big deal, but it is.  This is like moving in next
  

 6   to a two-lane highway and then replacing that two-lane
  

 7   highway with a major interstate freeway and brushing it
  

 8   off as insignificant, because there was already a road
  

 9   there.
  

10                 Southline can't just make a significant
  

11   change to their project following all of the
  

12   environmental and public review and say it's the same
  

13   thing.  You need to hold them accountable.  An example of
  

14   this is noise, which is one of the factors considered in
  

15   your decision.  A 115-kV line barely makes any noise.  A
  

16   345-kV line buzzes constantly.  This is not acknowledged
  

17   in Southline's application which states, "There are a few
  

18   single-family residential properties in the area situated
  

19   on large rural lots."  And concludes "there will be no
  

20   impacts due to operational noise of the line."
  

21                 I invite you to stand under a 345-kV line
  

22   and tell me if there's no noise impacts.  While there may
  

23   be only a few homes affected, the noise from these lines
  

24   is a real impact to us.  If this line is built, we will
  

25   never be able to step out in front of our doors to that
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 1   peace and quiet that we really enjoy now.  Southline has
  

 2   not proposed anything to mitigate this.
  

 3                 Sure, it makes sense for this project to
  

 4   consider the existing transmission line as an option, but
  

 5   Southline should have also considered other options,
  

 6   especially when obvious alternative routing options exist
  

 7   in the area.  For the previously approved portion of the
  

 8   upgrade section in the Tucson area where the existing
  

 9   line passes through residential areas, the Southline
  

10   project was rerouted.  Why, then, was no alternative
  

11   route considered for the residents in the Vail area?
  

12                 In the end, the best route may be directly
  

13   in front of my house, but Southline cannot say that
  

14   definitively because they didn't consider any other
  

15   routes, and you can't know if it's the best route because
  

16   Southline hasn't given you any other options to consider.
  

17   I don't know what your options are as a result of the
  

18   this hearing, but I would request that you defer
  

19   approving this project until Southline can demonstrate
  

20   that they have clearly articulated the new 345-kV project
  

21   scope to the public, conducted thorough environmental
  

22   review on the impacts of the 345 project versus the
  

23   former 230-kV project, and that they have seriously
  

24   considered other routing options for comparison to
  

25   demonstrate which route will result in the least impacts
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 1   to the environment and the residents of the communities
  

 2   affected.
  

 3                 Thank you for your time.
  

 4                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 5                 I believe we have another public commenter
  

 6   on the Zoom.
  

 7                 AV TECHNICIAN:  Yes, Mr. Chairman, we have
  

 8   just the one.
  

 9                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Is that Wendy P.?
  

10                 AV TECHNICIAN:  Yes.
  

11                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Wendy P., could you
  

12   please --
  

13                 MS. PALMER:  Hi, hi, hi, I'm here.  I'm
  

14   here.  Can you hear me?
  

15                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Yes, could you please spell
  

16   your last name for the court reporter?
  

17                 MS. PALMER:  P-a-l-m-e-r.
  

18                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Please proceed.
  

19                 MS. PALMER:  Palmer.
  

20                 I agree with the lady that just spoke
  

21   regarding these transmission lines.  I have lived in this
  

22   community since 2016, I live in JD Ranch, which is off of
  

23   I-10 and the lines go right along our neighborhood.  And
  

24   we have another neighborhood being built up right
  

25   next -- right across Highway 83 and these lines go right
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 1   through new-build homes.  And we have enough government
  

 2   land, BLM land, and some other areas that these lines do
  

 3   not have to impact our neighborhoods.  It's not like
  

 4   there are no other alternatives or options.
  

 5                 There has been -- hasn't even been an
  

 6   impact study for nearly a decade and a lot of our -- the
  

 7   people -- the reason why the responses are so low is
  

 8   because they don't know about it.  I just found out about
  

 9   it in November when I attended an informational meeting
  

10   after getting my first mailing notification about this.
  

11   I've been on the HOA board of 110 homes here.  People do
  

12   not know about it.  They're not aware about it.  They
  

13   didn't even realize that this was going to be happening.
  

14                 The wires are literally next door, two
  

15   houses over from me, there's a pregnant lady right next
  

16   to it.  I mean, I haven't even talked to her about this
  

17   yet.  I -- I just do not think that it is appropriate
  

18   where they're wanting to put these lines and upgrade
  

19   them, as they say.  It does have impact on our health.
  

20   It does have impact on the noise.  It does have visual
  

21   impact to our homes.  And there is definitely a better
  

22   location for these to cross into El Paso where they want
  

23   to connect.
  

24                 It's way too close to businesses and homes
  

25   right around this area.  I know they don't want to spend
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 1   the money and they want to use the existing lines that
  

 2   are here, but these are lower-voltage single-pole lines
  

 3   and it is not the same as what they're trying to do with
  

 4   these 345s.
  

 5                 So I really think that this needs to be
  

 6   looked into further before just blanket approvals are put
  

 7   on this.  I mean, why -- is there any kind of timeline
  

 8   that says, hey, wait a minute, you know, the last impact
  

 9   study was nearly a decade ago and we've had hundreds of
  

10   homes built up right around this?  Is that just, you
  

11   know, this gets built out ten years later when we've had
  

12   hundreds, if not, you know, a thousand new homes coming
  

13   in around this area?  I just don't think it's
  

14   appropriate.  I don't think it's fair.  And, you know, I
  

15   don't think it's right to the community.
  

16                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

17                 Do we have anyone else on the line to make
  

18   public comment?
  

19                 AV TECHNICIAN:  No, Mr. Chairman.
  

20                 CHMN STAFFORD:  And there's no one else in
  

21   the room.
  

22                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Who me?  Yeah, oh,
  

23   I'm not for it.  Do I have to go up there?
  

24                 CHMN STAFFORD:  You need to sign in and
  

25   then we'll call you up to the podium so the court
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 1   reporter can get your statement.
  

 2                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Oh, there.
  

 3                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Next up we have
  

 4   Jeannine Blot.  Please come to the podium.
  

 5                 Can you state your name and spell your last
  

 6   name for the court reporter, please.
  

 7                 MR. BLOT:  My name is Jeannine Blot, and I
  

 8   spell my last name B-l-o-t.  I live also in JD Ranch, and
  

 9   was unaware that the power lines were going to be changed
  

10   out to, you know, the monopoles that they're discussing.
  

11   It's not that I'm opposed to that, but I am opposed, like
  

12   the other ladies have suggested, to the location.  And I
  

13   do know that, yeah, the government has lots of land.
  

14                 And a similar situation happened where I --
  

15   somebody was going to have, what do you call it, a line
  

16   for all the Wifis, and I call them monsters, but this
  

17   big old line, and I didn't want that, and this is a
  

18   different -- different time, but I didn't want that
  

19   either in the neighborhood, and it didn't matter,
  

20   everybody said no, but the government said, well, we
  

21   think it's a good idea, it's going to happen.  And it
  

22   happened.
  

23                 And I just find it rather distressing,
  

24   that, okay, so why get people's input if you're not going
  

25   to consider it.  And also the lack of information that
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 1   was presented, not to me, but to the people, my neighbors
  

 2   that have been there a lot longer than I have, and they
  

 3   didn't -- they weren't aware of it.
  

 4                 Some of the stuff like having a new impact
  

 5   study, I would just say just reroute it, just forget the
  

 6   impact study, just reroute it.  And then I was
  

 7   considering that Project Blue, I believe it's called,
  

 8   just south of the Pima County Fairgrounds and Beale
  

 9   infrastructure and all of that, so I was wondering is the
  

10   reason why they're doing this is because they're going to
  

11   have massive amounts of power that they need to be moving
  

12   around.
  

13                 And, of course, I'm not an electrical
  

14   engineer, I don't understand any of this, but I do
  

15   understand that these data centers are going to require
  

16   massive amounts of electricity, massive amounts of water.
  

17   I don't think Arizona or Southern Arizona is a good
  

18   location for -- for that.  I don't know why they were
  

19   considering it or I don't know that.  But I was thinking
  

20   perhaps that's why they're trying to upgrade these
  

21   electric lines.
  

22                 But anyway, I prefer to not have it run
  

23   through so closely to my neighborhood and/or even in
  

24   Benson.  I was looking at the route it was taking through
  

25   Benson, it was similar, going through the neighborhoods.
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 1   Okay, you know, I don't know why.  There's lands that you
  

 2   can use on other locations that aren't going to affect,
  

 3   that the government has that you can't build on, unless
  

 4   you're Project Blue.  But anyway, that's it.  That's all
  

 5   I have to say.
  

 6                 Thank you very much for your time.
  

 7                 CHMN STAFFORD:  Thank you.
  

 8                 Do we have anybody else online?
  

 9                 (No response.)
  

10                 CHMN STAFFORD:  No?  All right.  Well, we
  

11   will remain here until 6:00 to see if any other members
  

12   of the public show up to make comment.  But in the
  

13   meantime, we'll go off the record and if someone shows up
  

14   to make comment, we'll go back on the record and take it.
  

15                 Let's go off the record.
  

16                 (Recessed from 5:47 p.m. until 6:00 p.m.)
  

17                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Let's go back
  

18   on the record.  There are no more members of the public
  

19   come to make comment.
  

20                 Is there anyone else online?
  

21                 AV TECHNICIAN:  No, Mr. Chairman.
  

22                 CHMN STAFFORD:  All right.  Well, thank you
  

23   all very much.  This concludes the public comment for
  

24   this evening.
  

25                 We will recess until 9:00 a.m. tomorrow, at
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 1   which time we'll come back to hear -- to resume the
  

 2   hearing.
  

 3                 We stand in recess.
  

 4                 (The hearing recessed at 6:00 p.m.)
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 1   STATE OF ARIZONA    )
   COUNTY OF MARICOPA  )

 2
  

 3
             BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were

 4   taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,
   true, and accurate record of the proceedings all done to

 5   the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings
   were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter reduced

 6   to print under my direction.
  

 7             I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of
   the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
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